# **Screening Assessment**

# Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substance Grouping

**Certain Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes** 

**Environment Canada Health Canada** 

**April 2015** 



Information contained in this publication or product may be reproduced, in part or in whole, and by any means, for personal or public non-commercial purposes, without charge or further permission, unless otherwise specified.

#### You are asked to:

- Exercise due diligence in ensuring the accuracy of the materials reproduced;
- Indicate both the complete title of the materials reproduced, as well as the author organization; and
- Indicate that the reproduction is a copy of an official work that is published by the Government of Canada and that the reproduction has not been produced in affiliation with or with the endorsement of the Government of Canada.

Commercial reproduction and distribution is prohibited except with written permission from the author. For more information, please contact Environment Canada's Inquiry Centre at 1-800-668-6767 (in Canada only) or 819-997-2800 or email to <a href="mailto:enviroinfo@ec.gc.ca">enviroinfo@ec.gc.ca</a>.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of the Environment, 2015.

Aussi disponible en français

# **Synopsis**

Pursuant to sections 68 or 74 of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (CEPA 1999), the Ministers of the Environment and of Health have conducted a screening assessment on 61 azo direct dyes and eight azo reactive dyes. These 69 substances constitute two subgroups of the Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substance Grouping being assessed as part of the Substance Groupings Initiative of the Government of Canada's Chemicals Management Plan based on structural similarity and applications. Substances in this Grouping were identified as priorities for assessment as they met categorization criteria under subsection 73(1) of CEPA 1999 and/or were considered as a priority based on other human health concerns.

The Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN)<sup>1</sup>, *Domestic Substances List* (DSL) name and Colour Index (C.I) generic name of the 69 substances are presented in the following tables, by subgroup.

Identity of the 61 Azo Direct Dyes in the Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based

**Substance Grouping** 

CAS RN	DSL name	Colour Index name
1325-37- 7 <sup>a,b</sup>	C.I. Direct Yellow 11	Direct Yellow 11
1325-54-8 <sup>a</sup>	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2-ethenediyl)bis-5-nitro-, disodium salt, reaction products with 4-[(4-aminophenyl)azo]benzenesulfonic acid, sodium salts	Direct Orange 39
2829-42-7	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[carbonylbis(imino-4,1-phenyleneazo)]bis[6-hydroxy-, disodium salt	Direct Yellow 26
2870-32-8	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2-ethenediyl)bis[5-[(4-ethoxyphenyl)azo]-, disodium salt	Direct Yellow 12
3214-47-9	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3,3'- [carbonylbis[imino(2-methyl-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	Direct Yellow 50
3626-36-6	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-(phenylazo)-, disodium salt	Direct Orange 26
3687-80-7	1-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-[[1-hydroxy-6-[[[5-hydroxy-6-[(2-methoxyphenyl)azo]-7-sulfo-2-	Direct Red 26

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN) is the property of the American Chemical Society and any use or redistribution, except as required in supporting regulatory requirements and/or for reports to the Government of Canada when the information and the reports are required by law or administrative policy, is not permitted without the prior written permission of the American Chemical Society.

CAS RN	DSL name	Colour Index name
	naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	
4399-55-7	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3-[[4-[[4-[(6-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, tetrasodium salt	Direct Blue 71
5001-72-9	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-iminobis[4-hydroxy-3-(phenylazo)-, disodium salt	Direct Red 31
5489-77-0	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 3-[[4-[(2,4-dimethyl-6-sulfophenyl)azo]-2-methoxy-5-methylphenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-7-(phenylamino)-, disodium salt	Direct Violet 51
6406-87-7	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 5-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-8-[[4-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA
6420-33-3	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3,3'- [carbonylbis[imino(5-methoxy-2-methyl-4,1- phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	Direct Yellow 34
6420-41-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-hydroxy-7-[[[5-hydroxy-6-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-[(6-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-, trisodium salt	Direct Red 4
6420-43-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-hydroxy-7-[[[[5-hydroxy-6-[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-[(2-methyl-4-sulfophenyl)azo]-, trisodium salt	Direct Red 62
6471-09-6	Benzoic acid, 5-[[4-[[4-[[4-[(4-amino-9,10-dihydro-9,10-dioxo-3-sulfo-1-anthracenyl)amino]-2-sulfophenyl]amino]-6-(phenylamino)-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl]amino]phenyl]azo]-2-hydroxy-, trisodium salt	Direct Green 28
6476-10-4	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 8-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-5-[[4-(phenylazo)-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA
10114-47-3	7-Benzothiazolesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(azodi-4,1-phenylene)bis[6-methyl-, disodium salt	Direct Yellow 28
10134-33-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 8-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-5-[[4-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	Direct Black 56
10482-42-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 5-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-8-[[4-(phenylazo)-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA
12217-64-0	1,3-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 7,7'- [carbonylbis[imino(5-methoxy-2-methyl-4,1- phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	Direct Orange 72

CAS RN	DSL name	Colour Index name
28706-21-0	1,3-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 7,7'- [iminobis[carbonyl(2-methyl-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	NA
32829-81-5	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2-ethenediyl)bis[5-[[4-[(4-sulfophenyl)azo]phenyl]azo]-, tetrasodium salt	NA
38801-08-0	Benzoic acid, 4,4'-[carbonylbis[imino(1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-6,2-naphthalenediyl)azo]]bis-, compd. with 2,2',2"-nitrilotris[ethanol] (1:4)	NA
53523-90-3	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-hydroxy-5-methyl-, tetralithium salt	NA
65150-80- 3 <sup>a</sup>	C.I. Direct Yellow 11, lithium salt	Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt
71033-21- 1 <sup>a</sup>	Benzothiazolesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(azodi-4,1-phenylene)bis[6-methyl-, disodium salt	NA
71767-19-6	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 5-[[6-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-5-[(3-sulfophenyl)azo]-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-6-methoxy-8-[[7-sulfo-4-[(3-sulfophenyl)azo]-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, pentasodium salt	NA
71873-49-9	Benzoic acid, 4,4'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)-ONN-azoxy-4,1-phenyleneazo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	NA
72139-21-0	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[(1,4-dioxo-2-butene-1,4-diyl)bis(imino-4,1-phenyleneazo)]bis[6-hydroxy-, disodium salt	NA
72152-50-2	Benzoic acid, 2-[[6-[[4-[[6-(benzoylamino)-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-3-methylbenzoyl]amino]-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA
72245-49-9	Benzoic acid, 4-[[1-hydroxy-6-[[[5-hydroxy-6-[(2-methyl-4-sulfophenyl)azo]-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, sodium salt	NA
72245-56-8	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-3-[[4-[[[4-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]phenyl]amino]carbonyl]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-6-(phenylazo)-, sodium salt	NA
72749-87-2	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-, disodium salt	NA
72749-88-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methoxyphenyl)azo]-, disodium salt	NA
72869-93-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(6-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol] (1:4)	NA
75150-14-0	1,4-Benzenedisulfonic acid, 2-[[4-[[4-[[1-hydroxy-6-	NA

CAS RN	DSL name	Colour Index name
	(phenylamino)-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-1- naphthalenyl]azo]-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, ammonium sodium salt	
75768-93-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7-(benzoylamino)-4-hydroxy-3-[[4-[(4-sulfophenyl)azo]phenyl]azo]-, compd. with 2,2',2"-nitrilotris[ethanol] (1:2)	Direct Red 81 triethanolamin e salt
83221-53-8	Benzoic acid, 5-[[4-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-2-hydroxy-, sodium salt	NA
83221-54-9	Benzoic acid, 3-[[4-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-2-hydroxy-, sodium salt	NA
83221-56-1	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-(phenylazo)-, sodium salt	NA
83221-68-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 6-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]-3-[[4-[[4-[[7-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]phenyl]amino]-3-sulfophenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, trilithium salt	NA
83221-69-6	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 6-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]-3-[[4-[[4-[[7-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]phenyl]amino]-3-sulfophenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt	NA
83221-72-1	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-3,6-bis[[4-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt	NA
83221-73-2	Benzoic acid, 4,4'-[carbonylbis[imino(1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-6,2-naphthalenediyl)azo]]bis-, sodium salt	NA
83221-74-3	Benzoic acid, 4-[[1-hydroxy-6-[[[5-hydroxy-6-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, sodium salt	NA
83232-28-4	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[3- [[4-(acetylamino)phenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, sodium salt	NA
83232-29-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 3-[[4- (acetylamino)phenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-7-[[[[5-hydroxy-6- (phenylazo)-7-sulfo-2- naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-, sodium salt	NA
83232-30-8	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	NA
83232-31-9	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'-(carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methyl-4-sulfophenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	NA
83232-32-0	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-hydroxy-7-[[[5-hydroxy-6-	NA

CAS RN	DSL name	Colour Index name
	[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-7-sulfo-2- naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-[(2-methyl-4- sulfophenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	
83783-94-2	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[5-amino-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]	NA
83783-95-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-amino-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]	NA
83783-96-4	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 5-amino-3-[[4-[2-[4-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-2-sulfophenyl]ethenyl]-3-sulfophenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]	NA
83783-99-7	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-hydroxy-5-methyl-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]	NA
84878-16-0	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6-[[4-[[4-[(2,4-dihydroxyphenyl)azo]phenyl]thio]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-3-[(4-nitrophenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	NA
84878-17-1	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6-[[4-[[4-[(2,4-dihydroxyphenyl)azo]phenyl]amino]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-3-[(4-nitrophenyl)azo]-, potassium salt	NA
85169-18-2	Glycine, <i>N</i> -[4-[[2-[4-[[1-amino-8-hydroxy-7-(phenylazo)-3,6-disulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]phenyl]-1 <i>H</i> -benzimidazol-5-yl]azo]-3-hydroxyphenyl]-, compd. with 2,2'-iminobis[ethanol] (1:3)	NA
85269-31-4	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-hydroxy-5-methyl-, potassium salt, compd. with 2,2',2"-nitrilotris[ethanol]	NA
93803-37-3	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-5-hydroxy-3-[[4-[5-[(4-hydroxyphenyl)azo]-1 <i>H</i> -benzimidazol-2-yl]phenyl]azo]-6-(phenylazo)-, disodium salt	NA
102082-94- 0	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6-[[4-[[4-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]phenyl]amino]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-3-[(4-nitrophenyl)azo]-, lithium salt	NA
110152-63- 1	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2-ethenediyl)bis[5-[(4-hydroxyphenyl)azo]-, lithium sodium salt	NA

Identity of the 8 Azo Reactive Dyes in the Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based

**Substance Grouping** 

CAS RN	DSL name	Colour Index name
17095-24-8 <sup>a</sup>	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-5-hydroxy-3,6-bis[[4-[[2-(sulfooxy)ethyl]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-, tetrasodium salt	Reactive Black 5
59641-46-2	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7-[[4-chloro-6-[(3-sulfophenyl)amino]-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl]amino]-4-hydroxy-3-[(4-methoxy-2-sulfophenyl)azo]-	NA
83399-85-3	1,4-Benzenedisulfonic acid, 2-[[4-[[4-[[(2,3-dichloro-6-quinoxalinyl)carbonyl]amino]-5-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, lithium sodium salt	NA
83400-10-6	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 2-[[8-[[(2,3-dichloro-6-quinoxalinyl) carbonyl]amino]-1-hydroxy-3,6-disulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, lithium sodium salt	NA
83400-11-7	1,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-(benzoylamino)-6- [[5-[[(5-chloro-2,6-difluoro-4- pyrimidinyl)amino]methyl]-1-sulfo-2- naphthalenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt	Reactive Black 158
83400-12-8	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 5-(benzoylamino)-3- [[5-[[(5-chloro-2,6-difluoro-4- pyrimidinyl)amino]methyl]-1-sulfo-2- naphthalenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt	NA
85586-78-3	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3-[[4-[[4-[(4-amino-6-chloro-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)amino]-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, potassium sodium salt	NA
108624-00- 6	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6-[[5-[(5-chloro-2,6-difluoro-4-pyrimidinyl)amino]-2-sulfophenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-3-[[4-[[2-(sulfooxy)ethyl]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-, lithium sodium salt	Reactive Blue 225

Azo direct dyes and azo reactive dyes are not expected to occur naturally in the environment. No manufacture of any substance above the 100 kg/year reporting threshold has been reported in Canada in response to any recent surveys under section

Abbreviation: NA, not available <sup>a</sup> This CAS RN is a UVCB (unknown or variable composition, complex reaction products, or biological materials). <sup>b</sup> This substance was not identified under subsection 73(1) of CEPA 1999 but was included in this assessment as it was considered as a priority based on other human health concerns.

Abbreviation: NA, not available <sup>a</sup> This substance was not identified under subsection 73(1) of CEPA 1999 but was included in this assessment as it was considered as a priority based on other human health concerns.

71 of CEPA 1999. Seven substances (six azo direct dyes and one azo reactive dye) have been reported as having an import quantity above the 100 kg/year survey reporting threshold. Some of these substances were also among those identified as being used in products available to consumers in the Canadian marketplace. Azo direct dyes are generally used for colouring of textile, leather and paper. Azo reactive dyes are used primarily in the textiles industry for dyeing cellulosic fibres such as cotton and rayon.

#### **Environment**

All azo direct dyes and azo reactive dyes are soluble in water, with solubilities generally well above 1 g/L. When considering potential releases to water, sediment and soil and the physical and chemical properties of these substances, it is expected that the azo direct and azo reactive dyes may remain in the water column for relatively long periods of time due to their hydrophilicity, but will ultimately partition via electrostatic interactions to suspended solids, sediments or soil particles. Available experimental and modelled data regarding the abiotic and biotic degradation of the azo direct and azo reactive dyes indicate that these substances may persist in water, sediment and soil. In anaerobic environments (e.g., anoxic layers of sediments), there is the potential for these substances to degrade to aromatic amines as a result of cleavage of the azo bond under anaerobic or reducing conditions.

Although there are limited experimental data available, information on the log octanol—water partition coefficients and fish bioconcentration factors indicates that these substances are not likely to bioconcentrate or bioaccumulate in aquatic organisms.

There is a wide range of acute toxicity data for azo direct dyes (median lethal concentrations [LC<sub>50</sub>] ranging from 75 to  $\geq$  1000 mg/L), the most sensitive being a rainbow trout 48-hour LC<sub>50</sub> of 75 mg/L. Azo reactive dyes were found to elicit effects in aquatic organisms at low concentrations. The aquatic invertebrate *Daphnia magna* was found to be more sensitive than the various fish species tested. The differences were even more pronounced when the length of exposure (up to 21 days) was increased. Daphnid reproduction was found to be the most sensitive endpoint, with a 21-day no-observed-effect concentration (NOEC) and lowest-observed-effect concentration (LOEC) of 1.25 and 2.5 mg/L, respectively. Soil and sediment toxicity data are not available for these substances.

Aquatic exposure analyses were conducted for scenarios representing potential major environmental releases due to industrial activities involving azo direct and azo reactive dyes. The likelihood of the PECs exceeding the predicted no-effect concentrations (PNECs) for azo direct dyes and azo reactive dyes was found to be low.

Considering all available lines of evidence presented in this screening assessment, there is low risk of harm to organisms and the broader integrity of the environment from azo direct and azo reactive dyes evaluated in this assessment. It is concluded that

these 61 azo direct dyes and eight azo reactive dyes do not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(a) or 64(b) of CEPA 1999, as they are not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity or that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

### **Human Health**

## **Azo Direct Dyes**

For the general population of Canada, environmental media are not considered to be a significant source of exposure to the azo direct dyes; therefore risk to human health from this source is considered to be low. Among the 61 azo direct dyes, 18 have been identified to be used in products available to consumers in the Canadian marketplace. These dyes are Direct Black 56, Direct Blue 71, Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 11, Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28, Direct Yellow 34, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1.

Margins between the exposure estimates for 14 of the azo direct dyes (Direct Black 56, Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 28, Direct Red 31, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1) used as dyes in textiles and the critical health effects levels were considered adequate to address uncertainties in the exposure and health effects databases.

Exposure to nine of the azo direct dyes (Direct Black 56, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1) used as dyes in leather products is considered to be short term and intermittent. Therefore, the margins of exposure derived for these dyes used in textiles are considered to be protective for individuals using leather products.

Seven of the azo direct dyes (Direct Blue 71, Direct Red 31, Direct Yellow 11, Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 34 and Direct Yellow 50) were identified to be used as dyes in paper products. It is recognised that young children may be occasionnally exposed to these dyes from incidental ingestion of paper products. However, available data do not indicate acute toxicity to be a health concern for the azo direct dyes, therefore, risk to young children from exposure to these dyes in paper products is considered to be low.

Exposure to Direct Blue 71 and Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt used as dyes in food packaging materials is not expected to be significant, therefore risk to human health is considered to be low for this use.

For the remaining azo direct dyes, available information did not identify sources of current exposure for the general population of Canada, therefore risk to human health is not expected for these substances.

Some of the azo direct dyes in this assessment have effects of concern based on potential carcinogenicity.

Based on the information presented in this screening assessment, it is concluded that the above azo direct dyes do not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(c) of CEPA 1999 as they are not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

## **Azo Reactive Dyes**

For the general population of Canada, environmental media are not considered to be a significant source of exposure to the azo reactive dyes; therefore risk to human health from this source is considered to be low. Use of Reactive Black 5, Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225 as covalently bound dyes in textiles is not expected to be a significant source of exposure, therefore the risk to human health is considered to be low for these substances. For the remaining five azo reactive dyes, available information did not identify sources of current exposure for the general population of Canada, therefore risk to human health is not expected for these substances.

Based on the information presented in this screening assessment, it is concluded that the azo reactive dyes evaluated in this assessment do not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(c) of CEPA 1999 as they are not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

#### **Overall Conclusion**

It is concluded that the 61 azo direct dyes and 8 azo reactive dyes evaluated in this assessment do not meet any of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA 1999.

# **Table of Contents**

Synopsis	iii
List of Tables	xiii
1. Introduction	
2. Identity of Substances	
2.1 Selection of Analogues and Use of (Q)SAR Models	12
3. Physical and Chemical Properties	14
4. Sources and Uses	17
4.1 Sources	17
4.2 Uses	
5. Environmental Fate and Behaviour	21
5.1 Releases to Water and Sediment	21
5.2 Releases to Soil	
5.3 Releases to Air	
5.4 Environmental Persistence	22
5.5 Potential for Bioaccumulation	
6. Potential to Cause Ecological Harm	28
6.1 Ecological Effects Assessment	28
6.2 Derivation of the Predicted No-Effect Concentration	
6.3 Ecological Exposure Assessment	
6.4 Characterization of Ecological Risk	
7. Potential to Cause Harm to Human Health	42
7.1 Exposure Assessment	
7.2 Health Effects Assessment	
7.3 Characterization of Risk to Human Health	61
8. Conclusion	
References	66
Appendices	
Appendix A. Supplementary Data Tables	80
Appendix B. Exposure Assessment	103
BW: Body weight = 7.5 kg for infant, 70.9 kg for adult (Health Canada 1998)	106
Appendix C. Health Effects Assessment Information	
Appendix D. Azo Direct Dyes with Effects of Concern	117

# **List of Tables**

Table 2-1.	Description and representative chemical structure of the five Monoazo Direct  Dyes
Table 2-2.	Identity of the five Monoazo Direct Dyes4
Table 2-3.	Description and representative chemical structure of the 37 Disazo Direct  Dyes
Table 2-4.	Identity of the 37 Disazo Direct Dyes5
	Description and representative chemical structure of the 19 Polyazo Direct  Dyes
Table 2-6	Identity of the 19 Polyazo Direct Dyes9
	Description and representative chemical structure of the eight Azo Reactive
Table 2-1.	Dyes
Table 2.0	
	Identity of the eight Azo Reactive Dyes
Table 3-1.	A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the
	Monoazo Direct Dyes subset14
Table 3-2.	A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the Disazo
	Direct Dyes subset
Table 3-3.	A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the Polyazo Direct Dyes subset
Table 3-4.	A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the Azo
	Reactive Dyes
Table 4-1.	Annual import quantity ranges identified in section 71 survey for the year
	2010 (Canada 2011)
Table 4-2.	List of Azo Direct Dyes and Reactive Dyes with recent commercial activity in
	Canada according to the Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organics Pigments Manufacturers (personal communication, email from ETAD to Environment Canada, dated August 2010; unreferenced)
Table 4-3.	Summary of the major uses of Reactive Black 5 and certain Azo Direct Dyes in Canada based on Consumer and Commercial Codes (indicated in parentheses) submitted in response to a section 71 survey (Canada 2011;
	Environment Canada 2012)18
Table 5-1.	Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Direct Dyes under
	aerobic conditions with bacteria and controlled environmental settings 23
Table 5-2.	Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Reactive Dyes under
	aerobic conditions with bacteria and controlled environmental settings 23
Table 5-3.	Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Direct Dyes under
	anaerobic conditions24
Table 5-4.	Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Reactive Dyes under
	anaerobic conditions24

	ed empirical data for aquatic toxicity from representative su	
for the	Azo Direct Dyes subgroup	29
Table 6-2. Select	ed empirical data for aquatic toxicity from representative su	ubstances
for the	e Azo Reactive Dyes subgroup	30
Table 6-3. Param	neter values used in aquatic PEC probabilistic distribution c	
Table 6-4 Aquati	c PECs for Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes for three key	
•	ure scenarios	
Table 7-1. Summ	ary of estimated exposures to certain Azo Direct Dyes	44
Table 7-2. Summ	ary of azo reductive cleavage testing results	47
Table 7-3. Summ	ary of available genotoxicity data for Azo Direct Dyes	48
Table 7-4. Overvi	iew of relevant critical oral health effect levels	51
Table 7-5. Overvi	iew of relevant critical dermal health effect levels	54
Table 7-6. Margin	ns of exposure for 14 Azo Direct Dyes used in textiles	61

# 1. Introduction

Pursuant to sections 68 or 74 of the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act*, 1999 (CEPA 1999) (Canada 1999), the Minister of the Environment and the Minister of Health conduct screening assessments of substances to determine whether these substances present or may present a risk to the environment or to human health.

The Substance Groupings Initiative is a key element of the Government of Canada's Chemicals Management Plan (CMP). The Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substance Grouping consists of 358 substances that were identified as priorities for assessment, as they met the categorization criteria under section 73 of CEPA 1999 and/or were considered as a priority based on human health concerns (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2007). Some substances within this Substance Grouping have been identified by other jurisdictions as a concern due to the potential cleavage of the azo bonds, which can lead to the release of aromatic amines that are known or likely to be carcinogenic.

While many of these substances have common structural features and similar functional uses as dyes or pigments in multiple sectors, diversity within the substance group has been taken into account through the establishment of subgroups. Subgrouping based on structural similarities, physical and chemical properties, and common functional uses and applications accounts for variability within this substance grouping and allows for subgroup-specific approaches in the conduct of screening assessments. This Screening Assessment considers substances that belong to the Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes subgroups. Consideration of azo bond cleavage products (aromatic amines) is a key element of human health assessment in each subgroup. Some aromatic amines, commonly referred to as EU22 aromatic amines, as well as associated azo dyes are restricted in other countries (EU 2006). Information on the subgrouping approach for the Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substance Grouping under Canada's CMP, as well as additional background information and regulatory context, is provided in a separate document prepared by the Government of Canada (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2013).

Screening assessments focus on information critical to determining whether substances meet the criteria as set out in section 64 of CEPA 1999, by examining scientific

information to develop conclusions based on a weight of evidence approach and using precaution<sup>2</sup>.

This Screening Assessment includes consideration of information on chemical properties, environmental fate, hazards, uses and exposure, including additional information submitted by stakeholders. Relevant data were identified up to August 2013. Empirical data from key studies as well as some results from models were used to reach conclusions. When available and relevant, information presented in assessments from other jurisdictions was considered.

The Screening Assessment does not represent an exhaustive or critical review of all available data. Rather, it presents the most critical studies and lines of evidence pertinent to the conclusion.

The Screening Assessment was prepared by staff in the Existing Substances Programs at Health Canada and Environment Canada and incorporates input from other programs within these departments. The ecological and human health portions of this assessment have undergone external written peer review and/or consultation. Comments on the technical portions relevant to the environment were received from Dr. Harold Freeman (North Carolina State University, USA) and Dr. Gisela Umbuzeiro (University of Campinas, Brazil). Comments on the technical portions relevant to human health were received from Dr. Harold Freeman (North Carolina State University, USA), Dr. David Josephy (University of Guelph, Canada), Dr. Michael Bird (University of Ottawa, Canada) and Dr. Kannan Krishnan (Université de Montréal, Canada). Additionally, the draft of this Screening Assessment was subject to a 60-day public comment period. While external comments were taken into consideration, the final content and outcome of the Screening Assessment remain the responsibility of Health Canada and Environment Canada.

The critical information and considerations upon which the Screening Assessment is based are given below.

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A determination of whether one or more of the criteria of section 64 are met is based upon an assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or to human health associated with exposures in the general environment. For humans, this includes, but is not limited to, exposures from ambient and indoor air, drinking water, foodstuffs, and the use of consumer products. A conclusion under CEPA 1999 is not relevant to, nor does it preclude, an assessment against the hazard criteria specified in the *Controlled Products Regulations*, which is part of the regulatory framework for the Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System for products intended for workplace use. Similarly, a conclusion based on the criteria contained in section 64 of CEPA 1999 does not preclude actions being taken under other sections of CEPA 1999 or other Acts.

# 2. Identity of Substances

This Screening Assessment focuses on 69 substances that belong to two subgroups that are part of the Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substance Grouping. These subgroups are based on structural similarity and similar applications: Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes.

The Azo Direct Dyes subgroup includes three subsets based on the number of azo functional groups: monoazo (one azo functional group), disazo (two azo functional groups) and polyazo (three or four azo functional groups, known as trisazo and tetrakisazo, respectively). For ecological purposes, monoazo, disazo and polyazo subsets from the Azo Direct Dyes subgroup are discussed independently when sufficient data are available, as there is some variation in the molecular weights, certain physical and chemical properties and ecotoxicity of substances in the three subsets. The Azo Reactive Dyes are addressed together due to similarities in their physical and chemical properties and usage.

The subsets and identities of the individual Azo Direct Dyes in each subset are presented in Tables 2-1 to 2-6. The identities of the individual Azo Reactive Dyes are shown in Tables 2-7 and 2-8. When available, a Colour Index (C.I.) name or recognized common name is used to identify the substance. If these terms are unavailable, the Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN) is used as the primary identifier. A list of additional chemical names (e.g., trade names) is available from the National Chemical Inventories (NCI 2012).

Table 2-1. Description and representative chemical structure of the five Monoazo Direct Dyes

Subset	Representative chemical structure of the subset	Group description with critical functional groups	Molar weight range (g/mol)
Azo Direct Dyes (Monoazo; <i>n</i> = 5)	C <sub>42</sub> H <sub>27</sub> N <sub>10</sub> Na <sub>3</sub> O <sub>11</sub> S <sub>2</sub> CAS RN 6471-09-6 (Direct Green 28)	Seven rings, monoazos with a sulfonate group	592– 980

**Table 2-2. Identity of the five Monoazo Direct Dyes** 

CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)
1325-37-7 <sup>a</sup>	C.I. Direct Yellow 11	Direct Yellow 11	624
6471-09-6	Benzoic acid, 5-[[4-[[4-[[4-[(4-amino-9,10-dihydro-9,10-dioxo-3-sulfo-1-anthracenyl)amino]-2-sulfophenyl]amino]-6-(phenylamino)-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl]amino]phenyl]azo]-2-hydroxy-, trisodium salt	Direct Green 28	980
10114-47-3	7-Benzothiazolesulfonic acid, 2,2'- (azodi-4,1-phenylene)bis[6-methyl- , disodium salt	Direct Yellow 28	680
65150-80-3 <sup>a</sup>	C.I. Direct Yellow 11, lithium salt	Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt	592
71033-21-1 <sup>a</sup>	Benzothiazolesulfonic acid, 2,2'- (azodi-4,1-phenylene)bis[6-methyl- , disodium salt	NA	682

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> This CAS RN is a UVCB (unknown or variable composition, complex reaction products, or biological materials).

Table 2-3. Description and representative chemical structure of the 37 Disazo Direct Dyes

Subset	Representative chemical structure of the subset	Group description with critical functional groups	Molar weight range (g/mol)
Azo Direct Dyes (Disazo; <i>n</i> = 37)	C <sub>32</sub> H <sub>21</sub> N <sub>5</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>8</sub> S <sub>2</sub> CAS RN 5001-72-9 (Direct Red 31)	Dyes with a urea bridge HN-CO-NH bridging two phenyl amines are found in this class. Co-planar molecule. Similar to the basic structure of Direct Orange 26.	584– 1397

Table 2-4. Identity of the 37 Disazo Direct Dyes

CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)
2829-42-7	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[carbonylbis(imino-4,1-phenyleneazo)]bis[6-hydroxy-, disodium salt	Direct Yellow 584 26	
2870-32-8	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2-ethenediyl)bis[5-[(4-ethoxyphenyl)azo]-, disodium salt	Direct Yellow 12	680
3214-47-9	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3,3'- [carbonylbis[imino(2-methyl-4,1- phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	Direct Yellow 50	956
3626-36-6	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3- (phenylazo)-, disodium salt	Direct Orange 26	938
3687-80-7	1-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-[[1-hydroxy-6-[[[5-hydroxy-6-[(2-methoxyphenyl)azo]-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	Direct Red 26	938
5001-72-9	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- iminobis[4-hydroxy-3-(phenylazo)-, disodium salt	Direct Red 31	713
5489-77-0	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 3-[[4-[(2,4-dimethyl-6-sulfophenyl)azo]-2-methoxy-5-methylphenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-7-(phenylamino)-, disodium salt	Direct Violet 51	719
6420-33-3	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3,3'- [carbonylbis[imino(5-methoxy-2-methyl-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	Direct Yellow 34	1016
6420-41-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-hydroxy-7- [[[[5-hydroxy-6-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-2- naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-[(6- sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-, trisodium salt	Direct Red 4	908
6420-43-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-hydroxy-7- [[[[5-hydroxy-6-[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-7- sulfo-2- naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-[(2- methyl-4-sulfophenyl)azo]-, trisodium salt	Direct Red 62	886
12217-64-0	1,3-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 7,7'- [carbonylbis[imino(5-methoxy-2-methyl-	Direct Orange 72	1016

CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)
	4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt		
28706-21-0	1,3-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 7,7'- [iminobis[carbonyl(2-methyl-4,1- phenylene)azo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	NA	956
38801-08-0	Benzoic acid, 4,4'-[carbonylbis[imino(1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-6,2-naphthalenediyl)azo]]bis-, compd. with 2,2',2"-nitrilotris[ethanol] (1:4)	NA	1397
53523-90-3	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-hydroxy-5-methyl-, tetralithium salt	NA	843
72139-21-0	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[(1,4-dioxo-2-butene-1,4-diyl)bis(imino-4,1-phenyleneazo)]bis[6-hydroxy-, disodium salt	NA	638
72152-50-2	Benzoic acid, 2-[[6-[[4-[[6-(benzoylamino)-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-3-methylbenzoyl]amino]-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA	940
72245-49-9	Benzoic acid, 4-[[1-hydroxy-6-[[[[5-hydroxy-6-[(2-methyl-4-sulfophenyl)azo]-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, sodium salt	NA	938
72749-87-2	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-, disodium salt	NA	784
72749-88-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methoxyphenyl)azo]-, disodium salt	NA	816
72869-93-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(6-sulfo- 2-naphthalenyl)azo]-, compd. with 2,2'- (methylimino)bis[ethanol] (1:4)	NA	724
75768-93-3	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7- (benzoylamino)-4-hydroxy-3-[[4-[(4-sulfophenyl)azo]phenyl]azo]-, compd. with 2,2',2"-nitrilotris[ethanol] (1:2)	Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt	813
83221-53-8	Benzoic acid, 5-[[4-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-2-hydroxy-, sodium salt	NA	601
83221-54-9	Benzoic acid, 3-[[4-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-1-	NA	601

CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)
	naphthalenyl]azo]-2-hydroxy-, sodium salt		
83221-56-1	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3- (phenylazo)-, sodium salt		736
83221-73-2	Benzoic acid, 4,4'-[carbonylbis[imino(1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-6,2-naphthalenediyl)azo]]bis-, sodium salt	NA	888
83221-74-3	Benzoic acid, 4-[[1-hydroxy-6-[[[5-hydroxy-6-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, sodium salt	NA	822
83232-28-4	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[3-[[4- (acetylamino)phenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, sodium salt	NA	850
83232-29-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 3-[[4-(acetylamino)phenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-7-[[[[5-hydroxy-6-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-, sodium salt	NA	813
83232-30-8	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	NA	NA
83232-31-9	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7,7'- (carbonyldiimino)bis[4-hydroxy-3-[(2-methyl-4-sulfophenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	NA	924
83232-32-0	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 4-hydroxy-7- [[[[5-hydroxy-6-[(2-methylphenyl)azo]-7- sulfo-2- naphthalenyl]amino]carbonyl]amino]-3-[(2- methyl-4-sulfophenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	NA	886
83783-94-2	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[5-amino-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]	NA	1249
83783-95-3 83783-96-4	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-amino-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]  2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 5-amino-	NA NA	1061
00100-30-4	2,1-14apriliaieneuisullonio aciu, 5-amino-	1 <b>1</b> 1/7	1141

CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)
	3-[[4-[2-[4-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-2-sulfophenyl]ethenyl]-3-sulfophenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]		
83783-99-7	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-hydroxy-5-methyl-, lithium sodium salt, compd. with 2,2'-(methylimino)bis[ethanol]	NA	843
85269-31-4	Benzoic acid, 3,3'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)azo]]bis[6-hydroxy-5-methyl-, potassium salt, compd. with 2,2',2"-nitrilotris[ethanol]	NA	812
110152-63-1	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2- ethenediyl)bis[5-[(4-hydroxyphenyl)azo]-, lithium sodium salt	NA	802

Table 2-5. Description and representative chemical structure of the 19 Polyazo Direct Dyes

Subset	Representative chemical structure of the subset	Group description with critical functional groups	Molar weight range (g/mol)
Azo Direct		Trisazo, non-	635– 1050
Dyes	0===0	benzidine, 3	
(Polyazo; n = 19)		sets of naphthalene	
11 – 19)	он О	rings, 7–8	
		rings in	
	M <sub>i</sub> N No	total, all -	
	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	water-	
	$C_{40}H_{23}N_7Na_4O_{13}S_4$	soluble salts	
	CAS RN 4399-55-7 (Direct Blue 71)		

Table 2-6. Identity of the 19 Polyazo Direct Dyes

Table 2-6. Identity of the 19 Polyazo Direct Dyes					
CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)		
1325- 54-8 <sup>a</sup>	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2-ethenediyl)bis-5-nitro-, disodium salt, reaction products with 4-[(4-aminophenyl)azo]benzenesulfonic acid, sodium salts	Direct Orange 39	990		
4399- 55-7	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3-[[4-[[4-[(6-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, tetrasodium salt	Direct Blue 71	1029		
6406- 87-7	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 5-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-8-[[4-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA	877		
6476- 10-4	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 8-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-5-[[4-(phenylazo)-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA	877		
10134- 33-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 8-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-5-[[4-(phenylazo)-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	Direct Black 56	877		
10482- 42-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 5-[(7-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl)azo]-8-[[4-(phenylazo)-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, trisodium salt	NA	877		
32829- 81-5	Benzenesulfonic acid, 2,2'-(1,2-ethenediyl)bis[5-[[4-[(4-sulfophenyl)azo]phenyl]azo]-, tetrasodium salt	NA	1004		
71767- 19-6	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 5-[[6-amino-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-5-[(3-sulfophenyl)azo]-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-6-methoxy-8-[[7-sulfo-4-[(3-sulfophenyl)azo]-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, pentasodium salt	NA	1050		
71873- 49-9	Benzoic acid, 4,4'-[1,2-ethenediylbis[(3-sulfo-4,1-phenylene)-ONN-azoxy-4,1-phenyleneazo]]bis-, tetrasodium salt	NA	964		
72245- 56-8	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-3-[[4-[[[4-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]phenyl]amino] carbonyl]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-6-(phenylazo)-, sodium salt	NA	824		
75150- 14-0	1,4-Benzenedisulfonic acid, 2-[[4-[[4-[[1-hydroxy-6- (phenylamino)-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-1- naphthalenyl]azo]-6-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, ammonium sodium salt	NA	1046		
83221- 68-5	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 6-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]-3-[[4-[[4-[[7-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]phenyl]amino]-3-sulfophenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, trilithium salt	NA	635		
83221-	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 6-[(2,4-	NA	1050		

CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)
69-6	diaminophenyl)azo]-3-[[4-[[4-[[7-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]-1-hydroxy-3-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]phenyl]amino]-3-sulfophenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt		
83221- 72-1	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-3,6-bis[[4-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt	NA	823
84878- 16-0	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6-[[4-[[4-[(2,4-dihydroxyphenyl)azo]phenyl]thio]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-3-[(4-nitrophenyl)azo]-, sodium salt	NA	860
84878- 17-1	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6-[[4-[[[4-[(2,4-dihydroxyphenyl)azo]phenyl]amino]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-3-[(4-nitrophenyl)azo]-, potassium salt	NA	939
85169- 18-2	Glycine, <i>N</i> -[4-[[2-[4-[[1-amino-8-hydroxy-7-(phenylazo)-3,6-disulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]phenyl]-1 <i>H</i> -benzimidazol-5-yl]azo]-3-hydroxyphenyl]-, compd. with 2,2'-iminobis[ethanol] (1:3)	NA	801
93803- 37-3	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-5-hydroxy-3- [[4-[5-[(4-hydroxyphenyl)azo]-1 <i>H</i> -benzimidazol-2- yl]phenyl]azo]-6-(phenylazo)-, disodium salt	NA	807
102082- 94-0	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6-[[4-[[4-[(2,4-diaminophenyl)azo]phenyl]amino]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-3-[(4-nitrophenyl)azo]-, lithium salt	NA	873

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> This CAS RN is a UVCB (unknown or variable composition, complex reaction products, or biological materials).

Table 2-7. Description and representative chemical structure of the eight Azo Reactive Dyes

Subgroup	Representative chemical structure of the subgroup	Group description with critical functional groups	Molar weight range (g/mol)
Azo Reactive Dyes (n = 8)	C <sub>26</sub> H <sub>21</sub> N <sub>5</sub> Na <sub>4</sub> O <sub>19</sub> S <sub>6</sub> CAS RN 17095-24-8 (Reactive Black 5)	Reactive, diazo, non- benzidine, 1 set of naphthalene rings, 4–6 rings in total, all – water- soluble salts	738– 1015

Table 2-8. Identity of the eight Azo Reactive Dyes

CAS RN	DSL name	C.I. generic name	Molar weight (g/mol)
17095-24-8	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-5-hydroxy-3,6-bis[[4-[[2-(sulfooxy)ethyl]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-, tetrasodium salt	Reactive Black   991   5	
59641-46-2	2-Naphthalenesulfonic acid, 7-[[4-chloro-6- [(3-sulfophenyl)amino]-1,3,5-triazin-2- yl]amino]-4-hydroxy-3-[(4-methoxy-2- sulfophenyl)azo]-	NA	738
83399-85-3	1,4-Benzenedisulfonic acid, 2-[[4-[[4-[[(2,3-dichloro-6-quinoxalinyl)carbonyl]amino]-5-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, lithium sodium salt	NA	1002
83400-10-6	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 2-[[8-[[(2,3-dichloro-6-quinoxalinyl) carbonyl]amino]-1-hydroxy-3,6-disulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-, lithium sodium salt	NA	914
83400-11-7	1,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4- (benzoylamino)-6-[[5-[[(5-chloro-2,6-difluoro-4-pyrimidinyl)amino]methyl]-1-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-5-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt	Reactive Black 158	885
83400-12-8	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 5- (benzoylamino)-3-[[5-[[(5-chloro-2,6-difluoro-4-pyrimidinyl)amino]methyl]-1-sulfo-2-naphthalenyl]azo]-4-hydroxy-, lithium sodium salt	NA	885
85586-78-3	1,5-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 3-[[4-[[4-[(4-amino-6-chloro-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)amino]-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-7-sulfo-1-naphthalenyl]azo]-, potassium sodium salt	NA	964
108624-00-6	2,7-Naphthalenedisulfonic acid, 4-amino-6- [[5-[(5-chloro-2,6-difluoro-4- pyrimidinyl)amino]-2-sulfophenyl]azo]-5- hydroxy-3-[[4-[[2- (sulfooxy)ethyl]sulfonyl]phenyl]azo]-, lithium sodium salt	Reactive Blue 225	1015

More detailed information regarding the identity of these substances can be found in Appendix A (Tables A1–A4).

# 2.1 Selection of Analogues and Use of (Q)SAR Models

Guidance on the use of read-across approaches has been prepared by various organizations, such as the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD 2014). It has been applied in various regulatory programs, including the European Union's (EU) Existing Substances Programme. The general method for analogue selection and the use of (quantitative) structure—activity relationship ((Q)SAR) models for the Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes is reported in Environment Canada and Health Canada (2013). For characterization of human health effects, the basis for the use of analogues and/or (Q)SAR modelling data is documented in the Health Effects Assessment section of this report.

Two analogues were used to inform the ecological assessment and were selected based on the availability of relevant empirical data pertaining to structural similarity, physical and chemical properties, and reactivity. Such data were used as read-across data for those Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes that lacked empirical data, where appropriate, or to support the weight of evidence of existing empirical information. Although analogue data are used preferentially to fill data gaps for the substances in this assessment, the applicability of (Q)SAR models to the Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes is determined on a case-by-case basis.

The two analogues used to inform this assessment are presented in Table 2-9, along with an indication of the potential read-across data available for different parameters.

Table 2-9. Identification of two analogues for Polyazo Direct Dyes and parameters to be used to inform the environmental fate and potential to cause ecological harm

CAS RN	Chemical structure, C.I. name and formula	Molar weight (g/mol)	Parameters to be used in the report	Description
37372-50-	No.	809	BCF	Bioconcentration factor
	NH <sub>2</sub> N			
	Direct Black 154 C <sub>36</sub> H <sub>29</sub> N <sub>9</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub> S <sub>2</sub>			

CAS RN	Chemical structure, C.I. name and formula	Molar weight (g/mol)	Parameters to be used in the report	Description
6459-98-9	HO-N-H-SO <sub>3</sub> N H <sub>2</sub> N SO <sub>3</sub> N H <sub>2</sub> N H <sub>2</sub> N	782	LC <sub>50</sub>	As there were no empirical data for the Polyazo Direct Dyes subset
	Direct Black 30 C <sub>36</sub> H <sub>28</sub> N <sub>9</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>8</sub> S <sub>2</sub>			

Abbreviations: BCF, bioconcentration factor; LC<sub>50</sub>, the concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 50% of the test organisms

# 3. Physical and Chemical Properties

Physical and chemical properties determine the overall characteristics of a substance and are used to determine the suitability of different substances for different applications. Such properties also play a critical role in determining the environmental fate of substances (including their potential for long-range transport), as well as their toxicity to humans and non-human organisms.

Several physical and chemical properties of Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes—namely, melting point, water solubility, size, log octanol—water partition coefficient (log  $K_{ow}$ ) and acid dissociation constant (p $K_a$ )—are important in terms of ecological and human health assessment. A summary of the experimental physical and chemical properties relevant to the environmental fate and ecotoxicity of the Monoazo, Disazo and Polyazo Direct Dyes (and the two Polyazo Direct Dye analogues) is presented in Tables 3-1, 3-2 and 3-3, respectively. A summary of the experimental physical and chemical properties relevant to the environmental fate and ecotoxicity of the Azo Reactive Dyes is presented in Table 3-4. Pivotal values, including either single mean data points (e.g., melting point and decomposition) or a range of values, have been chosen to represent the properties of each subset or subgroup. Detailed substance-specific information on these properties can be found in Tables A5 and A6 in Appendix A of this report.

The Azo Direct Dyes in this assessment have a wide range of molecular weights (584–1397 g/mol), while those of Azo Reactive Dyes are somewhat more confined (738–1015 g/mol). Most Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are complex anionic molecules that tend to dissociate at environmentally relevant pH levels and are highly soluble in water (solubilities ranging from 0.02 to 190 g/L) due to the presence of solubilizing functional groups (Hunger 2003; Tables 3-1 to 3-4). In general, molecular interactions between direct dyes and the application medium are via relatively weak van der Waals interactions, leading to poor wet fastness. In contrast, reactive dyes can chemically react with functional groups on the application medium to form a covalent bond between dye molecule and textile. As a result, reactive dyes have high wet fastness.

Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes contain functional groups, such as sulfonic and carboxylic acids, that increase their solubility. Given their hydrophilicity and ionic character, as demonstrated by low  $pK_a$  values (an indicator of acid dissociation), Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are believed to have very low (even negative) experimental log  $K_{ow}$  values.

Table 3-1. A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the Monoazo Direct Dyes subset

Property	Value(s) or range (number of data points)	Pivotal value(s) for this risk assessment
Molecular weight (g/mol) <sup>a</sup>	592–980 ( <i>n</i> = 5)	592-980 (range was used)

Property	Value(s) or range	Pivotal value(s) for this	
	(number of data points)	risk assessment	
Melting point (°C)	< -12, 390 ( <i>n</i> = 2)	< -12 -390 (range was	
		used)	
Water solubility (g/L)	0.02–190 ( <i>n</i> = 3)	0.02-190 (range was used)	
Log K <sub>ow</sub>	NA	NA	
(dimensionless)			
D <sub>min</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	0.89 (n = 1)	0.89	
D <sub>max</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	1.27 (n = 1)	1.27	
pK <sub>a</sub> (dimensionless)	$pK_{a1} = 0.2$ $pK_{a2} = -0.4$	$pK_{a1} = 0.2$ $pK_{a2} = -0.4$	
	$pK_{a2} = -0.4$	$pK_{a2} = -0.4$	

Abbreviations: D<sub>max</sub>, maximum cross-sectional diameter; D<sub>min</sub>, minimum cross-sectional diameter; K<sub>ow</sub>, octanol-water partition coefficient; pK<sub>a</sub>, acid dissociation constant <sup>a</sup> Molecular weight and cross-sectional diameter ranges are shown here for the five Monoazo Direct Dyes included in

Table 3-2. A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the **Disazo Direct Dves subset** 

Property	Value(s) or range Pivotal value(s) for this (number of data points) risk assessment	
Molecular weight (g/mol) <sup>a</sup>	582–1397 ( <i>n</i> = 37)	582–1397 (range was used)
Melting point (°C)	174 (n = 1)	174
Water solubility (g/L)	20, 30 ( <i>n</i> = 2)	20-30 (range was used)
Log K <sub>ow</sub> (dimensionless)	NA	NA
D <sub>min</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	0.94–1.02 ( <i>n</i> = 4)	0.94-1.02 (range was used)
D <sub>max</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	1.38–1.85 ( <i>n</i> = 4)	1.38–1.85 (range was used)
pK <sub>a</sub> (dimensionless)	$pK_{a1} = -1.6$	$pK_{a1} = -1.6$
	$pK_{a2} = -0.05$	$pK_{a2} = -0.05$

Abbreviations: D<sub>max</sub>, maximum cross-sectional diameter; D<sub>min</sub>, minimum cross-sectional diameter; K<sub>ow</sub>, octanol-water partition coefficient; pK<sub>a</sub>, acid dissociation constant <sup>a</sup> Molecular weight and cross-sectional diameter ranges are shown here for the 37 Disazo Direct Dyes included in this

Table 3-3. A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the Polyazo Direct Dyes subset

Property	Value(s) or range (number of data points)	Pivotal value(s) for this risk assessment	
Molecular weight (g/mol) <sup>a</sup>	635–1050 ( <i>n</i> = 19)	635–1050 (range was used)	
Melting point (°C)	175 ( <i>n</i> = 1)	175	
Water solubility (g/L)	20–100 ( <i>n</i> = 4)	20-100 (range was used)	
Log K <sub>ow</sub> (dimensionless)	NA	NA	
D <sub>min</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	1.06–1.19 ( <i>n</i> = 2)	1.06-1.19 (range was used)	

this assessment only.

assessment only.

Property	Value(s) or range	Pivotal value(s) for this	
	(number of data points)	risk assessment	
D <sub>max</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	1.64–1.77 ( <i>n</i> = 2)	1.64–1.77 (range was used)	
pK <sub>a</sub> (dimensionless)	$pK_{a1} = 1.2$	$pK_{a1} = 1.2$	
	$pK_{a2} = -0.5$	$pK_{a2} = -0.5$	

Abbreviations: D<sub>max</sub>, maximum cross-sectional diameter; D<sub>min</sub>, minimum cross-sectional diameter; K<sub>ow</sub>, octanol-water partition coefficient; pK<sub>a</sub>, acid dissociation constant

Table 3-4. A summary of experimental physical and chemical properties for the **Azo Reactive Dves** 

Property	Value(s) or range (number of data points)	Pivotal value(s) for this risk assessment	
Molecular weight (g/mol) <sup>a</sup>	738–1015 ( <i>n</i> = 8)	738–1015 (range was used)	
Melting point (°C)	180–300 ( <i>n</i> = 4)	180-300 (range was used)	
Water solubility (g/L)	40-60 ( <i>n</i> = 4)	40-60 (range was used)	
Log K <sub>ow</sub> (dimensionless)	NA	NA	
D <sub>min</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	1.00, 1.10 ( <i>n</i> = 2)	1.00-1.10 (range was used)	
D <sub>max</sub> (nm) <sup>a</sup>	1.38, 1.56 ( <i>n</i> = 2)	1.38-1.56 (range was used)	
pK <sub>a</sub> (dimensionless)	$pK_{a1} = -1.2$ $pK_{a2} = -0.5$	$pK_{a1} = -1.2$ $pK_{a2} = -0.5$	

Abbreviations: D<sub>max</sub>, maximum cross-sectional diameter; D<sub>min</sub>, minimum cross-sectional diameter; K<sub>ow</sub>, octanol-water

Azo Reactive Dyes tend to have slightly higher molecular weights and lower water solubilities than Azo Direct Dyes, but no apparent differences in physical and chemical properties. Cross-sectional diameters and lower water solubility, and are discussed further in Section 5.5.

Similar to other azo colourants, Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes may undergo tautomerization between the azo and hydrazone forms. This tautomerization is well known for the azo dyes, where a hydroxyl group and the azo bond are present in the ortho or para position. The tautomeric forms may differ in colour, performance properties, toxicological profile and tinctorial strength (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2013). However, the degree to which this affects the fate and behaviour of these substances in the environment or their toxicological properties and processes is still not fully understood.

Molecular weight and cross-sectional diameter ranges are shown here for the 19 Polyazo Direct Dyes included in this assessment only (i.e., analogue data are not included).

partition coefficient; pK<sub>a</sub>, acid dissociation constant <sup>a</sup> Molecular weight and cross-sectional diameter ranges are shown here for the eight Azo Reactive Dyes included in this assessment only.

# 4. Sources and Uses

#### 4.1 Sources

All of the Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes are anthropogenically produced and are not expected to occur naturally in the environment.

In recent years (2005 to present), all 69 substances identified in this Screening Assessment have been included in surveys issued pursuant to section 71 of CEPA 1999. These surveys aimed to collect information on manufacturing and importing activities in Canada with a reporting threshold of 100 kg/year.

No manufacturing activity in Canada was reported for these substances, but six Azo Direct Dyes and one Azo Reactive Dye were reported as being imported into Canada above the 100 kg/year threshold (Canada 2011). Import quantities for the seven substances are provided in Table 4-1.

Table 4-1. Annual import quantity ranges identified in section 71 survey for the vear 2010 (Canada 2011)

) • · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Subgroup Name		Annual import quantity ranges (kg)	
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Yellow 11	1 000 – 10 000	
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Yellow 11 lithium	10 000 – 100 000	
	salt		
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Orange 26	100 – 1 000	
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Yellow 34	100 – 1 000	
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Orange 39	100 – 1 000	
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Blue 71	1 000 – 10 000	
Azo Reactive Dyes	Reactive Black 5	10 000 – 100 000	

Fourteen substances, including four of the seven substances in Table 4-1, were identified as being used in Canada in 2010 (see Table 4-2), based on information submitted by the Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organic Pigments Manufacturers (ETAD) (personal communication, email from ETAD to Environment Canada, dated August 2010; unreferenced).

Table 4-2. List of Azo Direct Dyes and Reactive Dyes with recent commercial activity in Canada according to the Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organics Pigments Manufacturers (personal communication, email from ETAD to Environment Canada, dated August 2010; unreferenced)

Subgroup	Name
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Yellow 11
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Green 28
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Yellow 28
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Yellow 12

Subgroup	Name
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Yellow 50
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Orange 26
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Red 31
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Violet 51
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Orange 26
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Orange 39
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Blue 71
Azo Direct Dyes	Direct Black 56
Azo Reactive Dyes	Reactive Black 158

# 4.2 Uses

Azo Direct Dyes are generally used for colouring of paper, cotton, rayon, linen, jute, hemp, silk and polyamide textile materials and in batch dyeing of leather (HSDB 1983–; Ishikawa et al. 2008; Kirk-Othmer 2010; CII 2013.

Azo Reactive Dyes are used primarily in the textiles industry for dyeing cellulosic fibres such as cotton and rayon, but can also be applied to wool, silk, polyamide and leather (Ishikawa et al. 2008; Kirk-Othmer 2010).

Table 4-3 presents a summary of major uses in Canada of certain substances in this Screening Assessment based on Consumer and Commercial Codes submitted in response to a recent survey issued pursuant to section 71 of CEPA 1999 (Canada 2011; Environment Canada 2012).

Table 4-3. Summary of the major uses of Reactive Black 5 and certain Azo Direct Dyes in Canada based on Consumer and Commercial Codes (indicated in parentheses) submitted in response to a section 71 survey (Canada 2011; Environment Canada 2012)

Substance	Ink, Toner and Colourants (C306)	Fabric, Textile and Leather Articles (C104)	Paper Products, Mixtures or Manufactured Items (C302)	Apparel and Footwear Care (C110)
Direct Blue 71	Yes	No	No	No
Direct Orange 26	Yes	No	No	No
Direct Orange 39	No	Yes	No	No
Direct Yellow 11	No	Yes	No	No
Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt	No	No	Yes	No
Direct Yellow 34	No	No	Yes	No
Reactive Black 5	Yes	Yes	No	Yes

In Canada, food colouring agents are regulated as food additives under the *Food and Drug Regulations* (Canada [1978]). Colours that are permitted for use in food are included in the *List of Permitted Colouring Agents*, incorporated by reference in the *Marketing Authorization for Food Additives that May be Used As Colouring Agents*, issued under the authority of the *Food and Drugs Act* (Canada 1985). None of the 69 substances identified in this Screening Assessment are included on the *List of Permitted Colouring Agents* as a permitted food colourant.

Two Azo Direct Dyes were identified for use in food packaging applications in Canada. Direct Blue 71 was identified as a component of inks and dyes for food packaging materials. Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt was identified as a component of a colourant that may be used in paperboard material to package food (personal communications, emails from the Food Directorate [Health Canada] to the Risk Management Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced).

Colouring agents permitted to be used in drugs in Canada are regulated under Part C, Division 1, of the *Food and Drug Regulations* (Canada [1978]). None of the substances in this Screening Assessment are listed as a permitted colouring agent in drugs, nor have any been identified to be present in pharmaceuticals, veterinary drugs or biologics in Canada (personal communication, email from the Therapeutic Products Directorate [Health Canada] to the Risk Management Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced; personal communication, email from the Veterinary Drugs Directorate [Health Canada] to the Risk Management Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced; personal communication, email from the Biologics and Genetic Therapies Directorate [Health Canada] to the Risk Management Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced).

None of the Azo Direct Dyes or Azo Reactive Dyes are listed in the Natural Health Products Ingredients Database (NHPID) as ingredients for use in natural health products and are not listed in the Licensed Natural Health Products Database to be present in currently licensed natural health products (NHPID, 2011; LNHPD, 2011).

Based on notifications submitted under the *Cosmetic Regulations* to Health Canada, none of the substances in this Screening Assessment are used in certain cosmetic products in Canada (personal communication, email from the Consumer Product Safety Directorate [Health Canada] to the Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced). These substances are not included on the List of Prohibited and Restricted Cosmetic Ingredients (more commonly referred to as the Cosmetic Ingredient Hotlist or simply the Hotlist), an administrative tool that Health Canada uses to communicate to manufacturers and others that certain substances, when present in a cosmetic, may contravene the general prohibition found in section 16 of the *Food and Drugs Act* or a provision of the *Cosmetic Regulations* (Health Canada 2011b).

None of the Azo Direct Dyes or Azo Reactive Dyes was identified for use as a formulant in pest control products registered in Canada (personal communication, email from the Pest Management Regulatory Agency [Health Canada] to the Risk Management Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced).

In addition, no uses of substances in this Screening Assessment for military applications in Canada were identified (personal communication, email from the Department of National Defence to the Risk Management Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced).

# 5. Environmental Fate and Behaviour

The environmental fate of chemicals describes the processes by which the chemicals become distributed and are transformed in the environment. In this section, some general characteristics of the substances considered in this screening assessment are discussed with respect to their environmental fate in different compartments in an effort to understand how organisms come into contact with the substances in a particular medium, the persistence of the substances in environmental compartments, and their degradation, distribution among media, migration in groundwater, removal from effluents by standard wastewater treatment methods and bioaccumulation in organisms.

As explained in Environment Canada and Health Canada (2013), mass balance fate models, such as the Equilibrium Criterion model (New EQC 2011), are not applicable for strongly ionic azo (e.g., direct and reactive) dyes, and their use with these substances would not conform to good modelling practice for multimedia models (Buser et al. 2012). Therefore, the environmental fate and compartmentalization of these substances are discussed qualitatively using information on their physical and chemical properties.

## 5.1 Releases to Water and Sediment

Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes are highly water soluble and have an inherently high affinity for cellulosic substrates, which results in high fixation rates (ETAD 1995; Environment Canada and Health Canada 2013). Given a continuous steady-state emission to water, a large proportion of ionic dyes will reside in the water column due to their high water solubility. Over time, Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes could bind to suspended organic matter via electrostatic interactions and eventually settle out to bed sediments or wastewater sludge (ETAD 1995).

Other factors, such as increasing molecular size, water hardness and salinity as well as decreasing pH, are thought to support some sorption of azo dyes to suspended solids (HSDB 1983–; Øllgaard et al. 1998). It has been stated generally that, due to the recalcitrant nature of azo dyes in aerobic environments, they eventually end up in anaerobic sediments, shallow aquifers and groundwater (Razo-Flores et al. 1997). After partitioning to sediment or wastewater sludge, some azo dyes may bind reversibly and become resuspended, while others will bind irreversibly and remain buried.

# 5.2 Releases to Soil

Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes may be released indirectly to soil via the application of biosolids to agricultural land. Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes have an inherently high affinity for positively charged substrates, with relatively high polarity and high recalcitrance. Recalcitrance is difficult to evaluate because of the dependence of degradation on highly variable boundary conditions (e.g., pH) (Zaharia and Suteu 2012).

### 5.3 Releases to Air

Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are not expected to be released to air and consequently are not expected to partition to this compartment due to their very low vapour pressures, high water solubilities and low Henry's Law constants (HSDB 1983–; Øllgaard et al. 1998). Water-soluble dyes such as Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are intended for use in water-based treatments, which also limits their release, as they are hydrophilic. While premixed dyes in their solid states may have some limited capacity for dispersal into the air as large particles, air is not considered to be a carrying medium for dyes, as these substances exhibit low or negligible volatility (ETAD 1995; Øllgaard et al. 1998).

Given low levels of volatility and physicochemical preference for partitioning to other media, it is also not expected that azo dyes will be subject to long-range atmospheric transport.

#### 5.4 Environmental Persistence

To characterize the environmental persistence of Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes, empirical and modelled data for these substances under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions were considered.

# **5.4.1 Empirical Data for Persistence**

Empirical biodegradation data related to the persistence of Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are limited.

#### 5.4.1.1 Aerobic Biodegradation

Limited experimental data for degradation under aerobic conditions in the absence of microorganisms were found for substances in the Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dye grouping (Tables 5-1 and 5-2). The majority of the experimental data shown in these tables were obtained either in the presence of bacteria or under a modified OECD protocol. The modified protocol makes it difficult to compare the results with those of standard OECD Test Guideline 301C tests, since sludge was acclimated to the dyes, and longer test periods were used. Also, it is unclear whether commercial formulations were used in some of these tests instead of high-purity dyes.

Senan and Abraham (2004) observed that an aerobic bacterial consortium consisting of two isolated strains (BF1, BF2) and a strain of *Pseudomonas putida* (MTCC1194) could effectively break down a mixture of azo dyes in very limited quantities (under laboratory conditions).

Table 5-1. Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Direct Dyes under aerobic conditions with bacteria and controlled environmental settings

Substance (CAS RN)	Method	Degradation value (%, except where noted) <sup>a</sup>	Degradation endpoint	Test duration (d)	Reference
Direct Orange 39 (1325-54-8)	Neelambari et al. 2013	< 75	Half-life	92	Neelambari et al. 2013
Direct Yellow 12 (2870-32-8)	Modified OECD 301E biodegradatio n test	< 25	DOC degradation	28	Brown and Hamburger 1987
Direct Blue 71 (4399-55-7)	Modified OECD 301E biodegradatio n test	25–75	DOC degradation	42	Pagga and Brown 1986

Abbreviations:; DOC, dissolved organic carbon; OECD, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Percent biodegradation at a given concentration of the test substance.

Table 5-2. Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Reactive Dyes under aerobic conditions with bacteria and controlled environmental settings

Substance (CAS RN)	Method	Degradation value (%, except where noted) <sup>a</sup>	Degradation endpoint	Test duration (d)	Reference
Reactive Black 5 (17095-24-8)	Modified OECD 301E biodegrada tion test	100	DOC degradation	28	Pagga and Brown 1986
Reactive Black 5 (17095-24-8)	Modified OECD 301E biodegrada tion test	75–100	DOC degradation	28	Øllgaard et al. 1998

Abbreviations: DOC, dissolved organic carbon; OECD, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development <sup>a</sup>Percent biodegradation at a given concentration of the test substance.

#### **5.4.1.2** Anaerobic Biodegradation

Under anaerobic or reducing conditions, biotic degradation of dyes may take place relatively rapidly (Yen et al. 1991; Baughman and Weber 1994; ETAD 1995; Øllgaard et al. 1998; Isik and Sponza 2004). Dyes have a high tendency to cleave at the azo bond, with the formation of aromatic amines (Øllgaard et al. 1998; Hunger 2005). Select experimental data (Tables 5-3 and 5-4) under anaerobic conditions showed significant degradation. Differences observed in degradation value percentages are due to the different bacterial strains and laboratory parameters (i.e., pH, salinity and temperature).

Table 5-3. Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Direct Dyes under anaerobic conditions

Substance (CAS RN)	Method	Degradation value (%) <sup>a</sup>	Degradation endpoint	Test duration (d)	Reference
Direct Orange 39 (1325-54-8)	Brown and Laboureur 1983	90–95	Colour removal	3	ETAD 2008
Direct Orange 39 (1325-54-8)	Brown and Laboureur 1983	95	Colour removal	7	ETAD 2008
Direct Yellow 12 (2870-32-8)	Brown and Laboureur 1983	100	Colour removal	7	Brown and Laboureur 1983

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Percent biodegradation at a given concentration of the test substance.

Table 5-4. Selected experimental data for biodegradation of Azo Reactive Dyes under anaerobic conditions

Substance (CAS RN)	Method	Degradation value (%) <sup>a</sup>	Degradatio n endpoint	Test duration (d)	Reference
Reactive Black 5	Carliell et al. 1994	80–85	Colour removal	4	Carliell et al. 1994
(17095-24-8)					
Reactive	Brown and	60	Colour	28	Pagga and
Black 5 (17095-24-8)	Laboureur 1983		removal		Brown 1986
Reactive	NA	72	Colour	28	ETAD 2008
Black 5			removal		
(17095-24-8)					

# 5.4.2 Modelling of Persistence

In addition to the experimental data, a (Q)SAR-based weight of evidence approach (Environment Canada 2007) was applied using biodegradation models. These models are considered acceptable for use, as they are based on chemical structure, and the azo structure is represented in the training sets of all the BIOWIN (2010) models used, thereby increasing the reliability of the predictions. Given the ecological relevance of the water compartment, the fact that most of the available models apply to water and the fact that Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are expected to be released to this compartment, aerobic biodegradation in water was primarily examined.

Tables A7–A10 in Appendix A summarize the results of available (Q)SAR models for degradation in various environmental media. Aquatic degradation models used in this analysis were HYDROWIN (2010), BIOWIN Sub-models 3–6 (BIOWIN 2010), DS TOPKAT (©2005–2009) and CATALOGIC (2012).

All of the model outputs for Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes (other than a few substances using BIOWIN Sub-models 3 and 4) consistently predicted that these substances would biodegrade very slowly in water under aerobic conditions (Appendix A, Tables A7–A10). These results are consistent with information included in Environment Canada and Health Canada (2013), which outlines the general persistence of azo dyes in aerobic environments.

# 5.4.3 Hydrolysis

The majority of the Azo Direct Dyes do not contain functional groups expected to undergo hydrolysis. The substances in the assessment have non-benzidine presence; some substances have one or two naphthalene rings, with the majority containing highly soluble terminal salt groups. This is consistent with published studies that note hydrolysis as being an insignificant factor in the cleavage of azo compounds (Baughman and Perenich 1988).

Only one of the eight Azo Reactive Dyes appears to have hydrolysis potential (Reactive Black 5). Reactive dyes form covalent bonds with the textile; therefore, the fixation competes with the reaction of the leaving group of the reactive dye with water (hydrolysis).

# 5.4.4 Summary of Persistence

On the basis of the slow degradation and lack of hydrolysis of Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes in aerobic environments in combination with their high water solubility, it is expected that these substances will have relatively long residence times in water. As these substances are predicted to stay in the water for long periods of time, they may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Percent biodegradation at a given concentration of the test substance.

be dispersed in the aquatic environment. In sediment and soil, biodegradation is also expected to be slow under aerobic conditions and relatively fast under anaerobic conditions. Air is not considered to be a medium of concern due to a lack of releases and partitioning to air; furthermore, these substances are not expected to undergo long-range atmospheric transportation.

#### 5.5 Potential for Bioaccumulation

In this assessment, a variety of lines of evidence have been used to determine the bioaccumulation potential of Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes. Experimental data for traditional bioaccumulation metrics such as bioconcentration factor (BCF) are minimal and restricted to the water compartment for these substances. In addition, the use of (Q)SAR bioaccumulation modelling was not pursued for Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes, since these substances are outside the model domains of applicability.

#### 5.5.1 Octanol-Water Partition Coefficient

As indicated in Tables 3-1 to 3-4, Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes as subgroups have relatively high water solubility (0.02–190 g/L Azo Direct; 40–200 g/L Azo Reactive). No experimental log  $K_{ow}$  was found for either subgroup. Available literature for these substances suggests that they would have very low log  $K_{ow}$  values (ETAD 1995), which would also suggest a very low bioaccumulation potential, according to equilibrium partitioning theory.

# 5.5.2 Aquatic Bioconcentration Factors

Empirical BCFs were determined to be < 10 for Reactive Black 5 (Anliker et al. 1981), indicating that Azo Reactive Dyes are not likely to bioconcentrate in aquatic organisms. No experimental data were found for the Azo Direct Dyes subgroup.

# 5.5.3 Other Factors for Assessing Bioaccumulation Potential

As outlined in the "Potential for Bioaccumulation" section of Environment Canada and Health Canada (2013), due to the lack of empirical bioaccumulation data available for Azo Direct Dyes and the very limited data available for Azo Reactive Dyes, available data on water solubility, molecular weight and cross-sectional diameter are considered in order to determine bioaccumulation potential. Given their relatively high water solubility, ionic nature and high degree of dissociation under typical environmental conditions, the lipid partitioning tendency of these substances is expected to be limited. Also, bioaccumulation data from exposures of organisms to these substances in soil and sediment are limited, mostly due to their high water solubility (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2013).

In general, Azo Direct Dyes are relatively hydrophilic, large molecules with high molecular weights (most above 500 g/mol). The minimum and maximum cross-sectional

diameters for Azo Direct Dyes range from 0.89 nm ( $D_{min}$ ) to 1.85 nm ( $D_{max}$ ) (Tables 3-1 to 3-3). The small cross-sectional diameters of these substances would likely not be a factor in restricting their rate of uptake when crossing cell membranes; however, their high molecular weights may slow their uptake into biological organisms. The minimum and maximum cross-sectional diameters for Azo Reactive Dyes range from 1.00 nm ( $D_{min}$ ) to 1.56 nm ( $D_{max}$ ) (Table 3-4). The small to moderate cross-sectional diameters of these substances would likely not be a factor in restricting their rate of uptake when crossing cell membranes.

Results of mechanistic profiling for binding using version 3.1 of the OECD QSAR Toolbox (2012) suggest that some of these structures (e.g., those with non-hindered nitro or amine groups or benzyl halides) can potentially undergo covalent interactions with biological substrates (nucleophilic substitution reactions, Michael-type addition reactions, acylation, etc.) and bind with deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and proteins. In fact, some ionic dyes have been shown to have moderate to high levels of bioaccumulation and toxicity potential in soil organisms from protein binding to dermal surfaces of earthworms causing respiratory failure due to similar mechanistic reactions identified above (Princz et al. 2013). Biota—soil accumulation factors have been found to be > 10 in some cases, with little or no depuration of the bound chemical from the organism (Princz et al. 2013). Since no empirical bioaccumulation data for sediment or soil organisms are available for the dyes assessed here, the potential bioaccumulation from binding mechanisms in soil or sediment biota cannot be addressed in this assessment. Potential for adverse effects on organisms is discussed further in Section 6.

# 5.5.4 Summary of Bioaccumulation Potential

Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are expected to have a low bioaccumulation potential in aquatic organisms due primarily to lack of partitioning from water into aquatic organisms. This is supported by and consistent with their physical and chemical properties (i.e., low log  $K_{ow}$ , ionized at relevant environmental pH and high water solubility).

# 6. Potential to Cause Ecological Harm

# **6.1 Ecological Effects Assessment**

Only empirical data on specific substances within the subgroups have been considered for the assessment of the ecological effects potential of Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes given the high level of uncertainty associated with modelling the ecotoxicity of these substances.

# 6.1.1 Empirical Studies for the Aquatic Compartment

Available experimental data from aquatic toxicity studies for certain Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are presented in Tables 6-1 and 6-2, respectively. Most of the studies were acute toxicity studies addressing lethality. For most substances, there were few empirical data, whereas for other substances, such as Reactive Black 5, there were multiple aquatic toxicity studies. Regardless, sufficient toxicity data were available to consider three subsets (Monoazo, Disazo and Polyazo) for the Azo Direct Dyes subgroup and one subgroup representing the eight Azo Reactive Dyes.

Several key data points originated from an empirical toxicity study on the acute toxicity of 46 dyes to fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*), which is described in two scientific articles: first in Little and Lamb (1973), and then summarized in Little et al. (1974). While this publication is not recent, the study was carried out according to published standard methods, including pertinent information on the test organisms, dilution water and test conditions. The experiment was designed to estimate the threshold concentration at which 50% of the experimental animals survived after 96 hours. This was originally reported in the two studies as a median tolerance limit ( $TL_{50}$ ), but may also be interpreted as a median lethal concentration ( $LC_{50}$ ).

Two experimental toxicity studies were found in the literature representing the Monoazo Direct Dye subset (Table 6-1). One study was an acute (48-hour) exposure where an LC<sub>50</sub> of 180 mg/L was calculated for fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) exposed to Direct Yellow 11 (Little et al. 1974). The other study involved 48-h exposure of Daphnia magna to Direct Yellow lithium salt (LC<sub>50</sub> > 100). For the Disazo Direct Dyes, more toxicity data were available. Data were found for multiple fish species. Acute toxicity studies reported LC<sub>50</sub> and LC<sub>100</sub> values ranging from 125 to 1700 mg/L. Only one study was available for the Polyazo Direct Dye subset, in the form of a 48-hour LC<sub>50</sub> of 75 mg/L using rainbow trout (*Onchorynchus mykiss*) exposed to the analogue, Direct Black 30 (Study Submission 2007).

Five fish toxicity studies were found for the Azo Reactive Dye subgrouping. Acute values (48- and 96-hour  $LC_{50}$ s) varied from > 100 to 1000 mg/L when fish species were exposed to Reactive Black 5. One chronic study (14 days) exposing *Oryzias latipes* to Reactive Black 5 was found (Table 6-2).

While the sensitivity of daphnids to Azo Direct Dyes was similar to that of various fish species, daphnids exposed to Azo Reactive Dyes were found to be more sensitive than fish. Daphnid reproduction was found to be the most sensitive endpoint, with a 21-day no-observed-effect concentration (NOEC) and lowest-observed-effect concentration (LOEC) of 1.25 and 2.5 mg/L, respectively, when exposed to Reactive Black 5 (ECHA 2013).

Table 6-1. Selected empirical data for aquatic toxicity from representative

substances for the Azo Direct Dyes subgroup.

Subgroup (subset)	Test organism	Type of test	Endpoi nt	Value (mg/L) (substance)	Reference
(Subset)	Organism	(duration)	111	(Substance)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	180 <sup>a</sup>	Little et al.
Dyes	Pimephales	, ,		(Direct	1974
(Monoazo)	promelas			Yellow 11)	
Azo Direct	Daphnid	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100	BASF 2004
Dyes	Daphnia			(Direct	
(Monoazo)	magna			Yellow 11	
				lithium salt)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	550	Personal
Dyes	Oncorhynch			(Direct	communication
(Disazo)	us mykiss			Yellow 34)	email from
					Clariant, 2006
					(unreferenced)
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (24 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	180	Little et al.
Dyes	Pimephales			(Direct	1974
(Disazo)	promelas			Yellow 12)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	130	Little et al.
Dyes	Pimephales			(Direct	1974
(Disazo)	promelas	(2.2.1.)		Yellow 12)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	125 <sup>a</sup>	Little and
Dyes	Pimephales			(Direct	Lamb 1973
(Disazo)	promelas	. (221)		Yellow 12)	011010 00000
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	600	CHRIP ©2008
Dyes	Oryzias			(Direct	
(Disazo)	latipes		1.0	Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>100</sub>	1400	Hamburger
Dyes	Leuciscus			(Direct	et al. 1977
(Disazo)	idus	A ( (40 L )	1.0	Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>100</sub>	> 500	Hamburger
Dyes	Oncorhynch			(Direct	et al. 1977
(Disazo)	us mykiss	A . (. (40 l )	1.0	Yellow 50)	11
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 1000	Hamburger
Dyes	Oncorhynch			(Direct	et al. 1977
(Disazo)	us mykiss			Yellow 50)	

Subgroup	Test	Type of	Endpoi	Value (mg/L)	Reference
(subset)	organism	test	nt	(substance)	
		(duration)			
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 1400	Hamburger
Dyes	Oncorhynch			(Direct	et al. 1977
(Disazo)	us mykiss			Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	125	Little and
Dyes	Leuciscus			(Direct	Lamb 1972
(Disazo)	idus			Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 1000	CHRIP ©2008
Dyes	Phoxinus			(Direct	
(Disazo)	phoxinus			Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	1700	CHRIP ©2008
Dyes	Phoxinus			(Direct	
(Disazo)	phoxinus			Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 180	Little et al.
Dyes	Pimephales			(Direct	1974
(Disazo)	promelas			Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (24 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 180	Little et al.
Dyes	Pimephales			(Direct	1974
(Disazo)	promelas			Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 180	Little and
Dyes	Pimephales			(Direct	Lamb 1973
(Disazo)	promelas			Yellow 50)	
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	180	Personal
Dyes	Oncorhynch			(Direct	communication
(Disazo)	us mykiss			Yellow 50)	email from
					Clariant, 2006
					(unreferenced)
Azo Direct	Fish	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	75 <sup>a</sup>	Study
Dyes	Oncorhynch			(Direct Black	Submission
(Polyazo)	us mykiss			30)	2007

(Polyazo) us mykiss 300 2007 Abbreviations:  $LC_{50}$ , the concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 50% of the test organisms;  $LC_{100}$ , the concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 100% of the test organisms

Table 6-2. Selected empirical data for aquatic toxicity from representative substances for the Azo Reactive Dves subgroup.

Subgroup	Test organism	Type of test (duration)	Endpoint	Value (mg/L) (substance)	Reference
Azo Reactive Dyes	Waterflea Moina macrocopa	Acute	EC <sub>50</sub>	18.2 (Reactive Red 141)	Vinitnantharat et al. 2008
Azo	Algae	Acute	IC <sub>50</sub>	95.5	Vinitnantharat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Selected critical toxicity value.

Subgroup	Test organism	Type of test (duration)	Endpoint	Value (mg/L) (substance)	Reference
Reactive Dyes	Chlorella sp.			(Reactive Red 141)	et al. 2008
Azo Reactive Dyes	Fish Oryzias latipes	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Fish Leuciscus idus melanotus	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Fish Leuciscus idus melanotus	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 500 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Fish Brachydanio rerio	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 500 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Fish Brachydanio rerio	Chronic (28 d)	LC <sub>10</sub>	100 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub> mobility	748 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub> mobility	72.9 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub> mobility	> 800 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub> mobility	750 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub> mobility	> 128 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>100</sub> mobility	> 128 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub> reproductio n	> 20 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013
Azo Reactive Dyes	Daphnia Daphnia magna	Chronic (21 d)	LOEC reproductio n	2.5 (Reactive Black 5)	ECHA 2013

Subgroup	Test organism	Type of test (duration)	Endpoint	Value (mg/L) (substance)	Reference
Azo	Fish	Acute (48	LC <sub>50</sub>	1000	MITI 1992
Reactive	Oryzias latipes	h)		(Reactive Black	
Dyes				5)	
Azo	Fish	Acute (96	LC <sub>50</sub>	500	ETAD 2008
Reactive	Danio rerio	h)		(Reactive Black	
Dyes				5)	
Azo	Fish	Acute (96	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100	CHRIP ©2008
Reactive	Oryzias latipes	h)		(Reactive Black	
Dyes				5)	
Azo	Fish	Chronic (14	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100	CHRIP ©2008
Reactive	Oryzias latipes	d)		(Reactive Black	
Dyes				5)	
Azo	Fish	Acute (48	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100	CHRIP ©2008
Reactive	Oryzias latipes	h)		(Reactive Black	
Dyes				5)	
Azo	Fish	Acute (48	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100	CHRIP ©2008
Reactive	Oryzias latipes	h)		(Reactive Black	
Dyes				5)	
Azo	Algae	Acute	IC <sub>50</sub>	20.5	Visani de
Reactive	Pseudokirchneri			(Reactive Black	Luna 2012
Dyes	ella subcapitata			5)	
Azo	Daphnid	Acute	EC <sub>50</sub>	37.5	Visani de
Reactive	Daphnia similis			(Reactive Black	Luna 2012
Dyes				5)	
Azo	Daphnid	Chronic	IC <sub>50</sub>	24.6	Visani de
Reactive	Ceriodaphnia	reproductio		(Reactive Black	Luna 2012
Dyes	dubia	n		5)	
Azo	Daphnid	Chronic	NOEC	10	Visani de
Reactive	Ceriodaphnia	reproductio		(Reactive Black	Luna 2012
Dyes	dubia	n		5)	

Abbreviations: EC<sub>50</sub>, effective concentration for 50% of test organisms; EC<sub>100</sub>, effective concentration for 100% of test organisms; IC<sub>50</sub>, median inhibitory concentration; LC<sub>10</sub>, lethal concentration for 10% of test organisms; LC<sub>50</sub>, lethal concentration for 50% of test organisms; LOEC, lowest-observed-effect concentration; NOEC, no-observed-effect concentration

# **6.1.2 Empirical Studies for Other Environmental Compartments**

No ecotoxicological data for sediment- or soil-dwelling organisms were found for the Azo Direct or Azo Reactive Dye subgroups.

#### 6.2 Derivation of the Predicted No-Effect Concentration

# 6.2.1 Derivation of the Aquatic Predicted No-Effect Concentration

A grouping (read-across) approach was used in the development of an aquatic predicted no-effect concentration (PNEC) for each of the Azo Direct Dye and Azo Reactive Dye subgroups. No distinction was made for each of the Azo Direct Dye subsets (Monoazo, Disazo and Polyazo), given the similar ranges in aquatic toxicity among the three subsets.

The lowest endpoint value available from the most sensitive organism identified for each subgroup was selected as the critical toxicity value (CTV) representing the subgroup. From this the lowest of the three CTVs was chosen to represent the subgroup. For the Azo Direct Dyes, the aquatic CTV selected was a 48-hour  $LC_{50}$  of 75 mg/L obtained for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) exposed to the Polyazo analogue, Direct Black 30 (Study Submission 2007). The aquatic PNEC was then derived by dividing this value by an assessment factor of 100 (to account for differences in interspecies and intraspecies variability and to estimate a long-term no-effect concentration from a short-term  $LC_{50}$ ). Therefore, a PNEC of 0.75 mg/L was calculated for the Azo Direct Dyes.

For the Azo Reactive Dyes, the aquatic CTV selected was a chronic 21-day LOEC for reproduction of 2.5 mg/L for *Daphnia magna* (ECHA 2013). This was the most sensitive valid experimental value. The aquatic PNEC was then derived by dividing this value by an assessment factor of 10 (to account for differences in interspecies and intraspecies variability). Therefore, a PNEC of 0.25 mg/L was calculated for the Azo Reactive Dyes.

# 6.2.2 Ecological Effects Summary

Based on lines of evidence involving empirical and read-across aquatic ecotoxicity data, it may be concluded that some Monoazo, Disazo and Polyazo Direct Dyes may cause harm to aquatic organisms at moderate concentrations (i.e.,  $LC_{50}$ s are < 100 mg/L). In addition, it is expected that Azo Reactive Dyes may cause harm to aquatic organisms at low concentrations (i.e., 21-day NOEC and LOEC of 1.25 and 2.5 mg/L, respectively).

# **6.3 Ecological Exposure Assessment**

#### 6.3.1 Releases to the Environment

No measured environmental concentrations (in air, water, soil or sediment) of Azo Direct or Azo Reactive Dyes in Canada have been identified. Environmental concentrations have therefore been estimated from available information.

Anthropogenic releases of a substance to the environment depend upon various losses that occur during the manufacture, industrial, consumer or commercial<sup>3</sup> use and disposal of the substance. In order to estimate releases to the environment occurring at different stages of the life cycle of the Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes, Environment Canada compiled information on the relevant sectors and product lines as well as emission factors<sup>4</sup> to wastewater, land and air at different life cycle stages in order to identify the life cycle stages that are the largest contributors to environmental concentrations. Recycling activities and transfer to waste disposal sites (landfill, incineration) were also considered. However, releases to the environment from disposal were not quantitatively accounted for unless reliable specific information on the rate of (or potential for) release from landfills and incinerators was available.

In general, wastewater is a common point of entry of a substance into water through publically owned wastewater treatment system effluent and a potential point of entry into soil through the subsequent land application of biosolids. This information is used to further develop exposure scenarios to estimate resulting environmental concentrations.

# 6.3.2 Identification of Important Ecological Exposure Scenarios

Factors relevant to the life cycle stages of these substances have been considered, uncertainties have been recognized and assumptions have been made, subject to the availability of information. Exposure scenarios for the uses or media of concern have been developed, including the determination of applicable predicted environmental concentrations (PECs).

Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are not manufactured in Canada, according to the data collected from a 2011 regulatory survey for aromatic azo and benzidine-based substances (Canada 2011).

For reporting year 2010, six Azo Direct Dyes were imported in a combined total quantity between 10 000 kg and 100 000 kg, and one Azo Reactive Dye was imported within the same quantity range, according to the survey data. Some of these dyes were

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Commercial use is the use of a chemical substance, or the use of a mixture, product or manufactured item containing a chemical substance, in a commercial enterprise providing saleable goods or services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> An emission factor is generally expressed as the fraction of a substance released to a given medium, such as wastewater, land or air, during a life cycle stage, such as manufacture, processing, industrial application or commercial/consumer use. Sources of emission factors include emission scenario documents developed under the auspices of the OECD, data reported to Environment Canada's National Pollutant Release Inventory, industry-generated data and monitoring data.

formulated before being distributed to their end users. Azo Direct Dyes were used primarily for paper dyeing (98.7%). The use of the Azo Direct Dyes for textile dyeing and cleaning products was very limited (1.1% and 0.3%, respectively). The in-commerce Azo Reactive Dye was used exclusively for textile dyeing.

Based on the above use patterns, the following three scenarios are identified as the major potential sources of environmental releases:

- 1. Chemical formulation (involving both Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes)
- 2. Paper dyeing (involving Azo Direct Dyes only)
- 3. Textile dyeing (involving Azo Reactive Dyes only)

Deinking is not considered to be a major potential source of environmental releases. Although paper products dyed with the Azo Direct Dyes can be recycled at deinking mills, the dyes are destroyed during bleaching operations (Hannuksela and Rosencrance 2008; Huber and Carré 2012). Thus, the environmental releases of dyes from deinking are expected to be negligible.

The consumer and/or commercial uses of textile products are a potential source of environmental releases. Since the uses of these products are more dispersive than textile dyeing, their environmental concentrations are expected to be lower than those from industrial operations, and therefore no quantitative exposure assessment was conducted.

#### 6.3.3 Estimates for Predicted Environmental Concentrations

The water column is considered to be an important environmental compartment for the presence of the direct and reactive dyes. These dyes enter the environment primarily via aqueous discharges from publically owned wastewater treatment systems to surface water. They have high water solubilities (in the range of 0.02–190 g/L) and are therefore expected to remain in significant quantities in the aqueous phase during wastewater treatment as well as in the water column upon release to surface water. Although these dyes are completely ionized in water and have the potential of being sorbed to wastewater sludge and sediment via electrostatic binding, the extent of this sorption cannot be quantified due to the lack of reliable estimation methods. As a result, the PEC calculations are limited to the aquatic compartment based on conservative estimates for wastewater treatment removal. PECs in soil resulting from land application of biosolids and those in sediment resulting from water to sediment partitioning were not calculated.

Each of the three scenarios is generic in nature and consists of multiple facilities located across various sites. These facilities are identified as the industrial users of dyes from various sources, including survey data. They include facilities involved with the direct and/or reactive dyes as well as facilities involved with other dyes. The inclusion of the latter in each scenario is intended to account for the variability in the overall sector (not only for the period for which survey data were obtained), the uncertainty associated with

incomplete data and the likelihood of a switch-over from other dyes to the direct and/or reactive dyes.

The aquatic PECs for the three scenarios or sectors are estimated for receiving water near discharge points. The PECs are calculated using a probabilistic estimation method that relies on information compiled for each sector as a whole and integrates different possible values for the selected parameters (e.g., those that are known to vary or fall within a certain range). As a result of this method, the aquatic PECs are derived as a probabilistic distribution for a sector/scenario.

For chemical formulation and textile dyeing, the equation used for the aquatic PEC calculations is given as:

$$PEC = (Q \times E(1-R) \times 10^{9})/V$$

where:

PEC: aguatic predicted environmental concentration (µg/L)

Q: daily use quantity of direct and/or reactive dyes at a facility (kg/d)

E: emission factor of direct or reactive dyes to process wastewater prior to any wastewater treatment (%)

R: removal of direct or reactive dyes by industrial and/or publically-owned wastewater treatment systems (%)

V: daily dilution water volume near the discharge point of an industrial or publicaly-owned wastewater treatment system (L/d)

10<sup>9</sup>: conversion factor from kg to μg

For paper dyeing, the following equation is used:

$$PEC = (q \times E(1-R) \times 10^{9})/V$$

where:

PEC: aquatic predicted environmental concentration (µg/L)

q: use rate of direct dyes (kg of dyes per tonne of paper produced, or kg/t)

E: emission factor of direct dyes to process wastewater prior to any wastewater treatment (%)

- R: removal of direct dyes by industrial and/or publicaly-owned wastewater treatment systems (%)
- v: per tonne dilution water volume near the discharge point of an industrial or publically-owned wastewater treatment system (L per tonne of paper produced, or L/t)
- 109: conversion factor from kg to μg

For a given sector/scenario, the daily use quantity (Q) or use rate (q) and emission factor (E) are each determined to be in a certain range that is intended to be applicable to all facilities within the sector as well as to all possible operating conditions at a single facility. The removal by wastewater treatment systems (R) is a result of pollution mitigation on-site, off-site or both before the treated wastewater is released to the aquatic environment. This removal is determined as a range for the direct dyes under secondary or lagoon treatment due to a wide range of biodegradation data found in the literature. In contrast, the removal is determined as a single value for the direct dyes under primary treatment as well as for the reactive dyes under primary, secondary or lagoon treatment. The daily dilution water volume (V) or the per tonne dilution water volume (v) is derived based on several parameters, including daily or per tonne wastewater volume from an industrial facility, wastewater flow from a publically-owned wastewater treatment system and the dilution factor of the receiving water near the discharge point of an industrial or publically-owned wastewater treatment system.

The removal by wastewater treatment (R) and the daily or per tonne dilution water volume (V or v) are characteristic of a site. In general, a sector/scenario consists of multiple sites, and the removal and the daily or per tonne dilution water volume are determined as discrete distributions (sets of data points). In some cases, only one site is identified for a sector/scenario, so a discrete distribution is reduced to a single data point.

Table 6-3 provides a summary of the ranges of parameter values determined for each of the three sectors/scenarios identified. Note that a proper range was not found for the use rate of direct dyes applicable to paper dyeing, and only a single value was used in the calculations.

Table 6-3. Parameter values used in aquatic PEC probabilistic distribution calculations

Sector/scenario	Chemical formulation	Paper dyeing	Textile dyeing
Number of sites	3	15	24
Number of facilities	3	17	42
Dye daily use quantity (kg/d)	150–500	N/A	9.1–36.3
Dye use rate (kg/t)	N/A	0.1	N/A
Emission factor to wastewater (%)	0.5–1.4	2–21	3–40

Removal by wastewater treatment (%)	29.4-80.5	29.6–96.2	0.5-80.5
Daily dilution water volume (million L/d)	298–4970	N/A	7.4–3934
Per tonne dilution water volume (million	N/A	0.06–64	N/A
L/t)			

Crystal Ball, a commercial software program, was used to derive an aquatic PEC probabilistic distribution from the equation and the range of values determined for each parameter. A vast number of PECs were calculated by varying each parameter within the determined range (20 000 – 100 000 data points used for each range). These PECs represent different levels of exposure resulting from different conditions across all sites within a sector/scenario, and these different conditions are characterized by daily use quantity, emission factor, removal by wastewater treatment and daily or per tonne dilution water volume. The PECs derived were then sorted by their magnitudes and plotted as a function of the cumulative percentage or probability of occurrence. Such a plot is referred to as a cumulative probabilistic distribution. The three probabilistic distributions are presented in Table 6-4.

Table 6-4. Aquatic PECs for Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes for three key industrial exposure scenarios

Percentile	Chemical formulation	Paper dyeing	Textile dyeing
	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)
0th	0.0	0.2	0.1
5th	0.1	1.2	0.4
10th	0.2	1.9	0.6
25th	0.4	3.8	1.2
50th	2.4	8.0	3.4
75th	4.4	15.8	8.3
90th	6.7	28.6	19.9
95th	7.9	54.1	40.3
100th	15.8	194.2	189.2

The lower PEC values in Table 6-4 correspond to lower values for daily use quantity or use rate and emission factor and higher values for removal and daily or per tonne dilution water volume. The conditions that result in higher PEC values are the reverse.

# 6.4 Characterization of Ecological Risk

The approach taken in this ecological screening assessment was to examine various supporting information and develop conclusions based on a weight of evidence approach and using precaution, as required under CEPA 1999. Lines of evidence considered include information on physical and chemical properties, environmental fate, ecotoxicity and sources of the substances, as well as results from risk analyses, which are outlined below.

# 6.4.1 Aquatic Probabilistic Risk Analysis

Risk analyses compare the PECs with the appropriate PNEC values in order to evaluate potential risks.

For the aquatic environment, a PNEC of 750  $\mu$ g/L derived for Azo Direct Dyes (see Section 6.1) was compared with the PECs outlined in Section 6.3.3 (see Table 6-4) for sites using Azo Direct Dyes for paper dyeing. The probability of the PECs falling below the PNEC is 100% for the paper dyeing scenario. This high probability indicates that the chance of exceeding the PNEC is very low when the conditions of facilities and their related sites fall within the ranges given in Table 6-3.

The lower aquatic PNEC of 250  $\mu$ g/L derived for Azo Reactive Dyes (see Section 6.1) was compared with the aquatic PECs outlined in Section 6.3.3 (see Table 6-4) for sites using Azo Reactive Dyes for textile dyeing. The probability of the PECs falling below the PNEC is 100% for this textile dyeing scenario. This high probability indicates that the chance of exceeding the PNEC is very low when the conditions of facilities and their related sites fall within the ranges given in Table 6-3.

Furthermore, the probability of the chemical formulation scenario PECs falling below the PNEC for Azo Direct or Azo Reactive Dyes is 100%.

# 6.4.2 Soil Risk Quotient Analysis

No risk analysis was performed for other compartments, because data were insufficient for determining a soil or sediment PNEC. Also, no PEC was determined, as no monitoring data were available, and the substances are not within the domain of applicability of the exposure model for equilibrium partitioning.

# 6.4.3 Discussion of Weight of Evidence and Conclusion of Ecological Risk Characterization

Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are not expected to occur naturally in the environment. No data concerning concentrations of these substances in the Canadian environment have been identified. Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are complex anionic molecules that generally have relatively high water solubilities (0.02 - 190 g/L) and are expected to dissociate at environmentally relevant pH levels. Since there is a relative paucity of data, Mono, Disazo and Polyazo Direct Dyes were examined as subsets with respect to their physical and chemical properties. The same grouping/read-across principles were applied for the eight substances in the Azo Reactive Dye subgroup. All Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes were grouped according to their environmental fate based on their similar physical and chemical properties as well as relatively similar chemical structures (e.g., sharing common functional groups, but varying in number). Due to their high water solubility and affinity for oppositely charged organic particles, Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are expected to be found in water

and may eventually settle out in sediment and soil. Given their very low expected vapour pressures and Henry's Law constants, they are unlikely to stay in air if released to this compartment. Therefore, long-range atmospheric transport is not anticipated to be of concern.

Estimated and experimental log  $K_{ow}$  values were compared with experimental BCFs for fish for a number of dyes (Anliker et al. 1981; Øllgaard et al. 1998; ETAD 1995). Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are not expected to bioconcentrate due to their very high molecular weights (> 500 g/mol) and relatively large minimum and maximum effective cross-sectional diameters, which suggest slow uptake potential. According to empirical and modelled data, Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes are expected to biodegrade very slowly in aerobic environments and are therefore considered to be persistent in water, sediment and soil. However, Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes may degrade and transform to certain aromatic amines if they reach anaerobic environments or via metabolic pathways if transferred from the diet into organisms.

Based on empirical aquatic ecotoxicity data, it is expected that Monoazo, Disazo and Polyazo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes may cause harm to aquatic organisms at moderate to low concentrations ( $LC_{50}$ : 75 to > 1000 mg/L). Aquatic invertebrates (daphnids) were more sensitive than other organisms to Azo Reactive Dyes (NOEC for reproduction 1.25 mg/L). No toxicity data were available for terrestrial or sediment-dwelling organisms.

A conservative exposure analysis of the chemical formulation, paper dyeing and textile dyeing processes was done because those sectors were anticipated to present the highest potential ecological risk related to industrial releases to the environment for these substances. Using a probabilistic approach, the PECs were compared with the PNECs for water. The probability that the PECs of Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes exceeded the PNECs was very low.

# **6.4.4 Uncertainties in Ecological Assessment**

Many specific substances addressed in this report are data limited. This introduces some uncertainties, as there are still some degrees of structural variation between the substances assessed in the different groupings.

Long-term (chronic) toxicity data would be beneficial in evaluating these substances due to the fact that they are predicted to be persistent in the environment, but available documentation is scarce. The use of assessment factors in determining a PNEC is intended to address this uncertainty. While water was found to be the key medium of interest, soil and sediment also hold some importance due to potential adsorption and electrostatic interactions. Therefore, the lack of available effects and bioaccumulation data for Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes in soil and sediment is a source of uncertainty.

The lack of measured environmental concentrations of these substances (e.g., monitoring data) in Canada resulted in the need to evaluate risk based on predicted concentrations in water near industrial point sources. Conservative assumptions were made when using models to estimate concentrations in receiving water bodies.

Given the use of some of these substances in other countries, it is possible that they may enter the Canadian market as components of manufactured items and/or consumer products. However, it is anticipated that the proportions of these substances released to the various environmental media would not be significantly different from those estimated here, given the conservative assumptions used in the exposure analyses.

# 7. Potential to Cause Harm to Human Health

The human health assessment for Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes focuses on 21 substances that are in commerce above the section 71 reporting threshold or for which available information indicates potential exposure to the general population of Canada. These substances are 18 of the 61 Azo Direct Dyes (Direct Black 56, Direct Blue 71, Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 11, Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28, Direct Yellow 34, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1) and 3 of the 8 Azo Reactive Dyes (Reactive Black 5, Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225).

# 7.1 Exposure Assessment

#### 7.1.1 Environmental Media and Food

Measured concentrations of Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes in environmental media in Canada or elsewhere were not identified. Based on the uses and physical and chemical properties of the six Azo Direct Dyes and one Azo Reactive Dye that were imported into Canada, these substances are expected to partition into water rather than other environmental media. In one study, the presence of Reactive Black 5 was confirmed (not quantified) in raw textile wastewater from a textile dye house in Berlin by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometric detection (Storm et al. 2000). After anaerobic and aerobic treatment of the raw textile wastewater, analysis showed that Reactive Black 5 was no longer present. As discussed previously in Section 5.4.3, some portion of Reactive Black 5 is expected to be in the hydrolysed form if released to the environment. Overall, due to the very low volatility of these substances, their limited commercial quantities in Canada, their dispersive nature after release and expected removal by drinking water treatment, environmental media are not considered to be a significant source of exposure.

The Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) monitors the presence of certain colourants in foods, including five substances within these two subgroups: Direct Blue 71, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 50 and Reactive Black 5. From 2009 to 2011, CFIA analyzed a total of 1646 samples of domestic and imported foods (including spices) in targeted food surveys. Samples were selected for their high likelihood of containing food colouring agents. None of the five substances listed above was detected in the two targeted food surveys at the level of detection of the monitoring system (CFIA 2010, 2011).

Although Direct Blue 71 and Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt are used in food packaging materials, the potential for these substances to migrate to food is anticipated to be minimal, and therefore exposure for the general population in Canada to these substances from food packaging materials is not expected to be significant (personal

communications, emails from Food Directorate [Health Canada] to Risk Management Bureau [Health Canada], dated 2011; unreferenced).

#### 7.1.2 Consumer Products

A variety of exposure scenarios are considered to be relevant to general population exposure in Canada, including use of textiles and leather products. Where substance-specific information was available, exposure estimates were derived for each substance. Otherwise, default parameters were applied (refer to Appendix B for details). Details of exposure estimates for all identified uses are provided in Appendix B.

Direct dyes may migrate from textile materials (BfR 2007). As such, there is potential exposure to 14 Azo Direct Dyes— Direct Black 56, Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1—that are used as dyes in textiles. Estimated daily exposures of the general population to these substances via the dermal route from direct contact with textiles are presented in Table 7-1. Assumptions and default parameters for these scenarios are outlined in Appendix B1. Estimates of oral exposure as a result of mouthing of textiles by infants are included in Table 7-1.

In addition to being used as textile dyes, nine Azo Direct Dyes—Direct Black 56, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1—are also commonly used as dyes for leather, according to the Colour Index International database that is published jointly by the Society of Dyers and Colourists and the American Association of Textile Chemists and Colorists (CII 2013). Estimated exposures from direct skin contact with leather products are included in Table 7-1 (refer to Appendix B2 for more details).

Direct Blue 71, Direct Red 31, Direct Yellow 11, Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 34 and Direct Yellow 50 are used to dye paper (CII 2013; Environment Canada 2012). Although toddlers may have infrequent incidental oral exposure resulting from mouthing of paper, there is uncertainty regarding the actual amount ingested and the dye fastness to the paper following oral ingestion. Inhalation and dermal exposures to these dyes from paper products are unlikely due to the physical and chemical properties of these substances as well as the impregnation of the colourants in the paper.

Table 7-1. Summary of estimated exposures to certain Azo Direct Dyes

Substance	Adult - Daily exposure from textiles: personal apparel (dermal, mg/kg-bw per day)	Infant - Daily exposure from textiles: baby sleeper (dermal, mg/kg-bw per day)	Infant - Daily exposure from mouthing of textile objects (oral, mg/kg-bw per day)	Adult - Per event exposure from leather products (dermal, mg/kg-bw)	Infant - Per event exposure from toys of leather material (dermal, mg/kg- bw)
Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 28	0.0026	0.004	2.7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	N/A	N/A
Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 50, Direct Black 56, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1, CAS RN 84878-17-1	0.0026	0.004	2.7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.0021- 0.077	0.04

Abbreviations: kg-bw, kilograms of body weight; N/A, not applicable

In contrast to the direct dyes, reactive dyes generally have very good wet fastness. These dyes are covalently bonded to textile fibres and are not expected to migrate substantially from the material during use and wear (BfR 2007). One study demonstrated the extraction of reactive dyes from three cotton textile samples, using a perspiration (sweat) simulant, at levels up to 158  $\mu$ g/500 cm² (ETAD 1983). However, these extraction experiments, conducted under severe conditions, including high humidity and pressure, are not representative of actual exposure scenarios. If the dyeing and after-treatment procedures have been properly performed, consumer exposure to Reactive Black 5, Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225 from textile materials is not expected to be significant.

# 7.1.3 Uncertainties in Human Exposure Assessment

There is uncertainty regarding the exposure characterization from environmental media due to the lack of data. Environmental analysis of sulfonated dyes, including Azo Direct Dyes, is particularly difficult and requires extensive data libraries and a series of

chromatographic separation methods (Rehorek and Plum 2007). As such, the absence of literature data may be due to the challenge in quantitative analysis.

In 2010, six Azo Direct Dyes (Direct Black 56, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1) as well as two Azo Reactive Dyes (Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225) were identified as being used in Canada based on information submitted by ETAD (personal communication, email from ETAD to Environment Canada, dated 2010; unreferenced); however, the actual uses for these substances were not indicated. It is assumed, based on the information concerning the general uses of direct dyes, that these six Azo Direct Dyes are used as dyes for textiles, leather and paper. Similarly, it was also assumed that Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225 are used in textile dyeing, based on the literature indicating general uses of reactive dyes.

There is uncertainty regarding the presence in Canada of any of the 61 Azo Direct Dyes and 8 Azo Reactive Dyes in products imported into Canada due to the limited Canadian information available on imported products in general.

There is uncertainty with respect to the estimated exposures from use of textile and leather products dyed using azo dyes. These estimates are based on generic assumptions for concentration of dye in these products and are not specific to Azo Direct Dyes. Consequently, general population exposure estimates are based on conservative assumptions and are likely overestimates. In the absence of dermal absorption data, the dermal absorption of these substances was conservatively assumed to be 100%. Although the dermal uptake of these substances is likely less than 100%, potentially there could be substantial absorption if skin bacteria cleaved azo bonds, thereby releasing aromatic amines, which could then be more readily absorbed.

It is not expected that a given Azo Direct Dye would be present in 100% of consumer products made of textiles in Canada. Therefore based on professional judgment, general population exposures were estimated assuming that there is a 10% probability that an individual Azo Direct Dye is used in dyeing products made of textile in Canada. This adjustment factor, while considered conservative, is similar to the 8% used in the Danish assessment in estimating exposures to aromatic amines and azo dyes from textile garments in the Dutch market (Zeilmaker et al. 1999). See Appendix B1 for further explanation.

# 7.2 Health Effects Assessment

In general, carcinogenicity and genotoxicity are the critical health effects of potential concern for Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substances. Reductive cleavage of the azo bond is considered to be an important metabolic reaction for these substances to exert their toxicity, as it releases some free aromatic amines that are further converted to reactive electrophilic intermediates through metabolic activation (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2013).

Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes are large water-soluble substances with sulfonic acid substituent(s) (SO³-) and/or other ionized functional group(s) at one or more positions (refer to Section 3). Such characteristics limit the penetration of the intact dye molecule through skin or gastrointestinal tract, but make them more susceptible to skin or gut bacteria-mediated azo bond reduction as observed in the *in vitro* tests for some of the Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes in this assessment (refer to Section 7.2.1 and 7.2.2). *In vivo* studies on Reactive Black 5 (Section 7.2.2) and other sulfonated azo dyes, such as Amaranth and New Coccine, also showed that these dyes were reduced following oral administration and the released aromatic amines were absorbed into systemic circulation (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2014a). Bioabsorption of the relatively smaller aromatic amine metabolites is expected to dominate over absorption of the intact parent dyes. Azo bond reductive cleavage is thus considered to be the main bioactivation pathway for the Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes.

Only limited health effects data have been identified for the 69 substances (61 Azo Direct Dyes and 8 Reactive Dyes) (Appendix C). The focus of this assessment is on the 21 substances (18 Azo Direct Dyes and 3 Azo Reactive Dyes) for which potential exposure has been identified (refer to Section 7.1). As available data for these 21 substances are limited, health information on their component aromatic amines was considered to inform the hazard potential for these substances. Similarly, data on other structurally similar substances outside these subgroups were also considered.

Direct Orange 26 and CAS RN 83221-56-1 are considered to be toxicologically equivalent, as the two substances contain the same organic moiety and sodium ion. Similarly, empirical data on Direct Yellow 11 and Direct Red 81 are considered applicable to their salts (lithium and triethanolamine salts, respectively). The potential health effects of lithium ion and triethanolamine were not considered relevant to the health effects assessment of these dyes because these small, highly water-soluble molecules will be washed off during dyeing and washing processes, and therefore are not present in the finshed products (personal communication, email from Dr. H. Freeman, North Carolina State University, dated 2013; unreferenced).

In the following sections, the azo bond reductive cleavage potential and critical health effects, including carcinogenicity, genotoxicity and other health effects, are evaluated for the Azo Direct Dyes and Azo Reactive Dyes, respectively.

# 7.2.1 Azo Direct Dyes

#### 7.2.1.1 The 18 Azo Direct Dyes with Potential Exposure

Direct Black 56, Direct Blue 71, Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 11, Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28, Direct Yellow 34, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS

RN 84878-17-1 have been identified as being used in products available to consumers in the Canadian marketplace and therefore general population exposure to these substances may occur (refer to Section 7.1).

# 7.2.1.1.1 Azo Bond Cleavage Potential

Azo bond reductive cleavage was tested *in vitro* for some of the Azo Direct Dyes under anaerobic conditions with human fecal bacterial cultures and/or under aerobic conditions with the culture of human skin bacteria, *Staphylococcus epidermidis* or *Micrococcus luteus*, for 24 hours (BRI 2012, 2013a, b). The results are summarised in Table 7-2. Overall, all tested Azo Direct Dyes underwent azo bond reductive cleavage under both conditions, but to varying degrees of completion.

Table 7-2. Summary of azo reductive cleavage testing results

Azo Direct Dye	Anaerobic <sup>a</sup> with Human fecal bacteria culture	Aerobic <sup>b</sup> with Staphylococcus epidermidis	Aerobic with Micrococcus luteus
Direct Blue 71	Fast	NT	NT
Direct Green 28	Moderate	Fast	Fast
Direct Orange 26	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Direct Orange 39	Slow	Slow	Slow
Direct Red 31	Fast	NT	NT
Direct Yellow 11	Slow	Moderate	Moderate
Direct Yellow 12	Moderate	Fast	Fast
Direct Yellow 50	Fast	NT	NT
Direct Violet 51	Fast	Negative <sup>c</sup>	Positive <sup>c</sup>

Abbreviation: NT, not tested

In addition, other studies also reported biodegradation of Direct Blue 71 (Abadulla et al. 2000; Tauber et al. 2008; Hsu et al. 2012), Direct Orange 39 (Jadhav et al. 2010) and Direct Violet 51 (Enayatzamir et al. 2009; Corso et al. 2012) by bacteria *Pseudomonas* or fungi.

Based on the available information, it is considered that all 18 Azo Direct Dyes have the potential to be severed at the azo bond following contact with either skin or gut microflora.

#### 7.2.1.1.2 Carcinogenicity and Genotoxicity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a.</sup> Under anaerobic conditions, the relative azo bond reduction rates were ranked as "fast" (the azo bond reduction was completed over 24 hours), "moderate" (gradually occurred over 24 hours) or "slow" (only minimal azo bond reduction was observed over 24 hours).

b. Under aerobic testing conditions, the relative azo bond reduction rates were ranked as "fast" (the azo bond reduction was completed within 6 hours), "moderate" (the azo bond reduction was completed over 24 hours) or "slow" (the azo bond reduction occurred slowly and was not completed over 24 hours) (BRI 2013a, b).

This substance was tested in a different experiment and its azo bond reduction rate was not compared with the other substances (BRI 2012).

The carcinogenic and genotoxic potential of the 18 Azo Direct Dyes were evaluated based on available empirical data on the dyes and their postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products (i.e., aromatic amines) and structurally similar substances within and/or outside this subgroup.

No cancer bioassay data for the 18 Azo Direct Dyes were identified. Limited genotoxicity data have been identified for eight of the Azo Direct Dyes as summarized in Table 7-3.

Table 7-3. Summary of available genotoxicity data for Azo Direct Dyes

Azo Direct Dye	<i>În viv</i> o MN	In vivo DL	In vitro reAmes	In vitro stdAmes	In vitro UDS	In vitro CA	In vitro ML	In vitro SOS
Direct Blue 71	_	_	Р	Р	_	_	_	_
Direct Green 28	_	_	N	N	_	_	_	_
Direct Orange	_	_	_	N	_	N	N	N
39								
Direct Red 31	_	_	-	_	_	_	_	N
Direct Red 81 <sup>a</sup>	Р	N	-	N	N	_	_	_
Direct Yellow 11	_	_	-	N	_	_	_	_
Direct Yellow 12	Р	_	Р	N	_	_	_	N
Direct Yellow 50	_	_	Р	Р	_	_	_	_

Abbreviations: -, no data identified; CA, chromosomal aberration in mammalian cells; DL, dominant lethal mutation; ML, gene mutation test in mouse lymphoma; MN, micronucleus induction; N, negative; P, positive; reAmes, reductive Ames test; SOS, SOS response/umu tests in bacteria; stdAmes, standard Ames test; UDS, unscheduled DNA synthesis in mammalian cells <sup>a</sup> Data for Direct Red 81 are presented to inform the genetoxicity potential of Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt.

In vivo, Direct Red 81 (data applicable to Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt) and Direct Yellow 12 significantly induced micronucleus formation in mouse bone marrow following intraperitoneal injection; the two substances also caused mouse bone marrow erythrocyte cytotoxicity (Przybojewska et al. 1988, 1989). Direct Red 81 did not induce dominant lethal mutations in male mice following intraperitoneal injection (Przybojewska et al. 1988).

In vitro, Ames tests were conducted under both standard and reductive conditions (with and without flavin mononucleotide [FMN]) for four Azo Direct Dyes in Salmonella typhimurium strains TA98 and TA100 with metabolic activation (ILS 2011). Direct Blue 71 was positive in both strains with and without FMN; Direct Yellow 12 was positive in both strains with FMN, but negative without FMN; Direct Yellow 50 was positive in TA98 with and without FMN, positive in TA100 with FMN and negative in TA100 without FMN; and Direct Green 28 was negative in both strains with and without FMN. In the standard Ames tests, Direct Yellow 11 was negative in strains TA98, TA100, TA1535 and TA1537, and Direct Orange 39 was negative in strains TA97, TA98, TA100, TA102, TA1535 and TA1537, with and without metabolic activation (Zeiger et al. 1987; ETAD 1988; REACH 2013a). Direct Red 81 and Direct Yellow 12 were negative in strains

TA97, TA98, TA1535, TA1537 and TA1538 with and without metabolic activation (Przybojewska et al. 1988). Direct Orange 39 was negative in chromosomal aberration tests in V79 cells and gene mutation tests in mouse lymphoma cells, with and without metabolic activation (REACH 2013a). *In vitro*, Direct Red 81 did not induce DNA damage and repair (unscheduled DNA synthesis) in primary rat hepatocytes (Palus et al. 1995). Additionally, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 31 and Direct Yellow 12 did not induce SOS response (umu test) in bacteria (Nakamura et al. 1993).

Overall, available genotoxicity data indicate that of the eight Azo Direct Dyes, only Direct Yellow 12 tested positive *in vivo* and *in vitro*; although Direct Red 81 caused some clastogenicity and cytotoxicity *in vivo*, it did not exhibit mutagenicity *in vivo* or *in vitro*. Direct Blue 71 and Direct Yellow 50 were mutagenic in bacteria in one study.

#### 7.2.1.1.2.1 Health Information on Structurally Similar Substances

Due to the lack of carcinogenicity data on the Azo Direct Dyes in this assessment, searches for additional structurally similar substances outside this subgroup with cancer bioassay data were conducted using the OECD QSAR Toolbox (2013), Health Canada internal databases, ChemIDplus (1993-) and toxicological literature (Toxnet and SciFinder). The search criteria included dye application class, structural features (absence of benzidine moiety, presence of benzene and/or naphthalene ring(s), number of azo bond(s) and presence of sulfonic acid substituent(s)), physical and chemical properties (molecular size and solubility) and mode of action (potential to release the same aromatic amines via azo bond reductive cleavage). No cancer bioassay data for azo direct dyes were identified. However, three azo acid dyes (Amaranth, New Coccine and Acid Red 1) were identified. The health effects of Amaranth and New Coccine have been assessed along with Certain Azo Acid Dyes in a separate Screening Assessment under the Chemicals Management Plan (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2014a). The health effects of Acid Red 1 have been reviewed by the Joint Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)/World Health Organization (WHO) Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) (WHO 1981). None of these three substances exhibited evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals.

#### 7.2.1.1.2.2 Postulated Azo Bond Reductive Cleavage Products

Available data indicate that sulfonated aromatic amines generally have low carcinogenic and genotoxic potential owing to their high electronegativity and water solubility (Marchisio et al. 1976; Lin and Solodar 1988; Jung et al. 1992; OECD QSAR Toolbox 2013). As not all of the component aromatic amines of the 18 Azo Direct Dyes contain a sulfonic acid moeity, the carcinogenic and genotoxic potential of the postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products that are unsulfonated were considered to inform the health effects of their parent dyes.

Empirical cancer and genotoxicity bioassay data have been identified for some of the postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products of the 18 Azo Direct Dyes. These data

as well as the sulfonation status of these postulated products (i.e., aromatic amines) are presented and summarized in Appendix C.

Among the six aromatic amines (4-Nitroaniline, p-Phenylenediamine, Aniline, 4,4'-Diamino-2,2'-stilbenedisulfonic acid, Amido-G-Acid, Mesalamine) that have cancer bioassay data available, aniline is the only substance that has exihibited clear carcinogenic evidence in male rats. Aniline-based dyes, i.e., Direct Black 56, Direct Orange 26, Direct Red 31 and CAS RN 83221-56-1, may have similar health effects if a substantial amount of aniline is released by azo cleavage. However, it is unknown to what extent the azo bond reduction of these dyes occurs in vivo to release aniline. Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 81 (equivalent to Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt in the finished products), Direct Yellow 11 and its lithium salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28 and CAS RN 71033-21-1 are considered to have low carcinogenic potential based on information on the postulated azo bond cleavage products (lack of carcinogenicity evidence in experimental animal studies and/or the presence of sulfonic acid substituents). The carcinogenic potential of Direct Blue 71, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 34, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0 and CAS RN 84878-17-1 can not be conclusively determined owing to the lack of empirical data for their unsulfonated component aromatic amine(s).

With respect to genotoxicity, available data indicate that aniline and *p*-phenetidine exhibited some genotoxic potential *in vivo* and *in vitro*, suggesting that Direct Black 56, Direct Orange 26, Direct Red 31, Direct Yellow 12 and CAS RN 83221-56-1 may also have similar genotoxic effects. Again, it is unknown to what extents aniline and *p*-phenetidine are released from these dyes *in vivo*. For Direct Yellow 12, the results are consistent between the parent dye (Direct Yellow 12) and its metabolite (*p*-phenetidine). Although *p*-phenylenediamine showed some genotoxic effects *in vitro*, the *in vivo* test results were negative. 4-nitroaniline is considered to have weak genotoxic potential. Mesalamine is not genotoxic.

Based on the available information, Direct Black 56, Direct Orange 26, Direct Red 31, Direct Yellow 12 and CAS RN 83221-56-1 are considered to have genotoxic potential. Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 81 (equivalent to Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt in the finished products), Direct Yellow 11 and its lithium salt, Direct Yellow 28 and CAS RN 71033-21-1 are considered to have low genotoxic potential based on information on the postulated azo bond cleavage products (lack of genotoxicity evidence in experimental studies and/or the presence of sulfonic acid substituents). The genotoxic potential of Direct Blue 71, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 34, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0 and CAS RN 84878-17-1 can not be conclusively determined owing to the lack of empirical data for their unsulfonated component aromatic amine(s).

#### 7.2.1.1.3 Other Health Effects

#### 7.2.1.1.3.1 Repeated-Dose Toxicity

Among the 18 dyes, repeated-dose toxicity data were identified only for Direct Orange 39 in a REACH dossier (one study) (REACH 2013a). Searches for structurally similar susbtances outside this subgroup that have repeated-dose toxicity data available was conducted using the same approach as described above. Six additional substances were identified: Direct Black 19 was identified in the OECD QSAR Toolbox (2013) and in the public domain (REACH 2013b); Acid Black 210 was identified as an analogue of Direct Black 19 (REACH 2013b); an azo direct dye, NSN, was identified in an internal database [Health Canada]; Amaranth, New Coccine and Acid Red 1 were identified in ChemIDplus (1993-). Data for Amaranth, New Coccine and Acid Red 1 were available on potential health effects following subchronic and chronic exposure, while Direct Orange 39, Direct Black 19 and Acid Black 210 only have toxicological data for shortterm exposure. Among the six additional substances identified, health effects information for Acid Red 1 is of particular significance as this dye releases aniline through azo bond reductive cleavage and elicits health effects similar to aniline. Aniline is the only postulated azo bond reductive product potentially released from the 18 Azo Direct Dyes that has an indication of carcinogenicity (see above). Based on available data in the OECD QSAR Toolbox (2013), aniline is also one of the most potent nonbenzidine aromatic amines in terms of chronic toxicity. Effect levels for Acid Red 1 thus represent the lower bound of the range of potential health effect levels for the 18 Azo Direct Dyes. However, owing to structural diversity, the health information on the six additional substances does not necessarily encompass the general health effects of the 18 Azo Direct Dyes; rather it provides a range of no observed adverse effect levels (NOAELs) below which health effects are not expected.

Tables 7-4 and 7-5 present available critical effect levels for these substances via oral and dermal routes of exposure, respectively. Health effects data for Direct Orange 39, Direct Black 19, Acid Black 210 and Acid Red 1 are summarized below. Amaranth and New Coccine were evaluated along with Certain Azo Acid Dyes in a separate Screening Assessmnet, in which detailed summaries of their health effects were presented (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2014a). A range of NOAELs, 26–300 mg/kg body weight (kg-bw) per day, was identified from oral repeated-dose toxicity studies for Direct Orange 39 and the six additional substances. Data from the dermal route were limited; only a single test dose level was used in each of the available short-term and chronic dermal toxicity studies.

Table 7-4. Overview of relevant critical oral health effect levels

Test substance (reference)	Short-term toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Subchro nic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Chronic toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Reproduct ive toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Development al toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)
Direct Orange 39 (REACH	NOEL = 30  NOAEL1 = 300	No data	No data	NOEL = 750 No effects	NOEL = 750 No effects (42- day study in

Test substance (reference)	Short-term toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Subchro nic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Chronic toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Reproduct ive toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Development al toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)
2013a)	LOAEL = 750 Hematological effects, reductions in body weight and feed intake, increases in liver and kidney weights (42- day study in rats via gavage)			(42-day study in rats via gavage)	rats via gavage)
Direct Black 19 (REACH 2013b)	NOAEL <sup>1</sup> = 80 LOAEL = 320 Lesions in myocardium, larynx and skeletal muscle and pigment accumulation in these organs (42- day study in rats via gavage)	No data	No data	NOAEL = 80 LOAEL = 320 Decrease in the number of females bearing live pups and mean number of pups per litter (42-day study in rats via gavage)	NOAEL = 80 LOAEL = 320 Pup mortality, increased preimplantatio n loss, decreased mean litter weight and mean pup weight at postnatal day 4 (42-day study in rats via gavage)
Acid Black 210 (REACH 2013b)	NOAEL <sup>1</sup> = 150 LOAEL = 450 Clinical chemistry and hematological parameter changes, in	No data	No data	NOEL = 150 LOAEL = 450 Slightly slower sperm motility,	NOEL = 150 LOAEL = 450 Decreased total number of live pups and uterine implantation (42-day study

Test substance (reference)	Short-term toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Subchro nic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Chronic toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Reproduct ive toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Development al toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)
	splenic hematopoiesi s, lymphoid enlargement, multiple organ weights and colour changes (42- day study in rats via gavage)			slightly decreased number of females achieving pregnancy and number of corpora lutea (42- day study in rats via gavage)	in rats via gavage)
Amaranth (Environme nt Canada and Health Canada 2014a)	No data [see Development al toxicity data]	LOAEL = 80 Kidney calcificati on (90-day study in rats via diet)	LOAEL <sup>1</sup> = 50 Kidney calcification (2- year study in rats via diet)	NOAEL ≥ 1250 No effects (two- and three- generation studies in rats via diet)	NOAEL ≥ 15 No effects (multiple studies in rats, rabbits and dogs via diet or gavage)
New Coccine (Environme nt Canada and Health Canada 2014a)	No data [see Development al toxicity data]	No data	NOAEL <sup>1</sup> = 65 LOAEL = 325 Glomerulonep hrosis and mild anemia (80- week study in mice via diet)	NOAEL = 1250 No effects (three- generation study in rats via diet)	NOAEL > 100 No effects (three- generation study in rats via diet and multiple developmental toxicity studies in mice and rats via diet or gavage)
Acid Red 1 (WHO 1981)	[Multiple studies available, blood and spleen effects	[Multiple studies available, blood and spleen	NOAEL <sup>1</sup> = 26– 43 LOAEL = 130– 215 Splenic	NOAEL = 187.5 No effects (two- generation	NOAEL = 187.5 No effects (exposure during

Test substance (reference)	Short-term toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Subchro nic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Chronic toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Reproduct ive toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Development al toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)
	observed]	effects observed]	erythropoiesis, hemosiderin in spleen and kidney (80-week study in mice via diet)  NOAEL = 8 LOAEL = 32 Splenic erythropoiesis, hemosiderin in liver, spleen and kidney, splenomegaly (2-year study in rats via diet)	study in rats via diet)	gestation days 0–19 in rats via diet)

Abbreviations: kg-bw, kilogram of body weight; LOAEL, lowest-observed-adverse-effect level; NOAEL, no-observed-adverse-effect level; NOEL, no-observed-effect level

1 Critical health effect level of the substance.

Table 7-5. Overview of relevant critical dermal health effect levels

Test substance (reference)	Short-term toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Subchron ic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Chronic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Reproducti ve toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Developme ntal toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)
NSN (Health Canada internal database)	LOAEL > 500 Local effects (28-day study in rats, single dose level)	No data	No data	No data	No data
Amaranth (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2013c)	No data	No data	NOEL = 5  No effects (single dose level, once a	No data	No data

Test substance (reference)	Short-term toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Subchron ic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Chronic toxicity (mg/kg- bw per day)	Reproducti ve toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)	Developme ntal toxicity (mg/kg-bw per day)
			week dermal applicatio n in mice for 19.5 months)		

Abbreviations: kg-bw, kilogram of body weight; LOAEL, lowest-observed-adverse-effect level; NOEL, no-observed-effect level

#### Direct Orange 39

Toxicity data for Direct Orange 39 were reported in a REACH dossier (REACH 2013a). In a combined repeated-dose toxicity study with the reproduction/developmental toxicity screening test conducted according to OECD Test Guideline 422, Wistar rats were administered Direct Orange 39 at a dose level of 0, 30, 300 or 750 mg/kg-bw per day by gavage for 15 days prior to mating until 4 days postpartum for females or for a total of 42 days for males. The NOAEL of this study was 300 mg/kg-bw per day and the LOAEL was 750 mg/kg-bw per day based on systemic toxicity, including reduction in hemoglobin, erythrocyte and hematocrit counts with increased mean red blood cell volume and mean red blood cell hemoglobin in the treated males, reduction of body weight gain (males), body weight loss (females), reduced feed intake (both sexes), increased water intake (both sexes), and increased liver and kidney weights (both sexes), along with maternal toxicity-caused reproductive and developmental effects, such as slightly increased gestation lengths, smaller litter sizes, lower body weights of offspring, lower numbers of corpora lutea and implantation sites and higher pre- and post-implantation losses.

#### Direct Black 19 (Additional substance, CAS RN 6428-31-5)

Direct Black 19 was the only azo direct dye outside this subgroup that has available empirical data in the open literature, which were reported in another REACH dossier (REACH 2013b). In a combined repeated-dose toxicity study with the reproduction/developmental toxicity screening test conducted according to OECD Test Guideline 422, Wistar rats were administered Direct Black 19 at a dose level of 0, 20, 80 or 320 mg/kg-bw per day by gavage for 14 days prior to mating until 4 days postpartum for females or for a total of 42 days for males. Additional male and female rats in the satellite group were administered the highest dose level for 42 days and observed for another 2 weeks. The NOAEL for this study was 80 mg/kg-bw per day and the LOAEL was 320 mg/kg-bw per day for systemic, reproductive and developmental toxicity, based on fibrosis and pigment accumulation in myocardium, larynx muscle and skeletal

muscle (more severe in females than in males) and atrophic changes in thymus of females present after 2 weeks of recovery, as well as decreased number of live pups, increased preimplantation losses, decreased mean litter weights and decreased mean pup weights, which were attributed to maternal toxicity. Accumulation of pigment in other tissues (brain, spleen, thyroid gland and kidneys), reduction in body weight gains, some clinical chemistry and urinary measurements, hematological changes (platelet and leucocyte counts and prothrombin and partial thromboplastin times) and organ (thymus, heart and spleen) weight changes were also observed (REACH 2013b).

#### Acid Black 210 (Additional substance)

The REACH dossier for Direct Black 19 also includes data for Acid Black 210 as supporting health information (REACH 2013b). In a combined repeated-dose toxicity study with the reproduction/developmental toxicity screening test conducted according to OECD Test Guideline 422, Wistar rats were administered Acid Black 210 at a dose level of 50, 150 or 450 mg/kg-bw per day by gavage for 14 days prior to mating until day 4 postpartum for females or for a total of 42 days for males. Additional male and female rats in the satellite group were administered the highest dose level for 42 days and observed for an additional 2 weeks. The NOAEL for systemic effects was established to be 150 mg/kg-bw per day, based on mild spleen enlargement and colour changes (both sexes), mild spenic hematopoiesis (males), enlarged lymphoid sheaths (males) and glaringly yellow colour and presence of leucocytes in the urine (males); the LOAEL was considered to be 450 mg/kg-bw per day, based on significant clinical chemistry and hematological parameter changes, multiple organ weights and colour changes, extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen and enlargement of the lymphoid. The noobserved-effect level (NOEL) for reproductive and developmental toxicity was established to be 150 mg/kg-bw per day and the LOAEL to be 450 mg/kg-bw per day, based on decreased total number of live pups and average number of pups per litter, slightly slower sperm motility, slightly decreased number of females achieving pregnancy and decreased number of corpora lutea and uterine implantations (REACH 2013b).

## Acid Red 1 (Additional substance, CAS RN 3734-67-6)

The molecular structure of Acid Red 1 contains 1-hydroxyl, 2-phenylazo and 3-naphthalenesulfonic acid moieties, similar to the chemical structures of Direct Orange 26, Direct Red 31 and CAS RN 83221-56-1. This suggests a comparable potential and rate of azo bond reductive cleavage to release aniline, leading to a similar health outcome for these substances. In the animal studies (including short-term, subchronic, chronic, two-generation reproductive and developmental toxicity studies) reviewed by JECFA (WHO 1981), following oral administration (gavage or diet) of Acid Red 1 in rats and rabbits, aniline and aniline metabolites (about half of the administered dose) were detected in the urine of treated animals. Typical aniline-induced health effects, such as methemoglobinemia, Heinz bodies, reticulocytosis, decreased hemoglobin, packed cell volume and blood cell counts and increased spleen weight and erythropoiesis in the

liver, spleen and bone marrow, were observed in orally administered rats and mice in repeated-dose toxicity studies. Evidence of carcinogenicity was not observed in the treated rodents up to the highest doses tested (mice, up to 0.625% in diet [812.5 mg/kg-bw per day] for 80 weeks; rats, up to 0.16% in diet [80 mg/kg-bw per day] for 2 years). JECFA considered the NOAEL for mouse to be 0.025% in the diet for 80 weeks (equivalent to 26–43 mg/kg-bw per day) and the NOAEL for rat to be 0.016% in the diet for 2 years (equivalent to 8 mg/kg-bw per day; LOAEL = 32 mg/kg-bw per day based on splenic enlargement, hemosiderin and necrosis) (WHO 1981).

Considering aniline was the proximate toxicant for Acid Red 1, available data for aniline (Health Canada 2011a) were considered in the determination of the point of departure (POD) for oral repeated-dose toxicity of Acid Red 1. In oral chronic studies, the lowest LOAEL for aniline was 7.2 mg/kg-bw per day in treated CD-F male rats, whereas in treated CD-F female rats, the NOAEL and LOAEL were 7.2 and 21.6 mg/kg-bw per day, respectively. In aniline-treated male Wistar rats, male and female Fischer 344 rats and B6C3F1 mice, the reported LOAELs were all at higher dose levels. The NOAELs observed in Acid Red 1–treated rats and mice were 8 and 26 mg/kg-bw per day, respectively, equivalent to 1.5–4.8 mg/kg-bw per day of aniline assuming complete release of anilinefrom Acid Red 1. As these calculated NOAELs are all below the lowest LOAEL for aniline (7.2 mg/kg-bw per day), the higher NOAEL of 26 mg/kg-bw per day was considered to be the POD for Acid Red 1.

## **7.2.1.1.3.2 Acute Toxicity**

Oral acute toxicity data reported in REACH dossiers (REACH 2013a, b) for Direct Orange 39 (purity 27%) and Direct Black 19 (additional substance) indicated that no deaths or adverse effects were observed in Direct Orange 39— or Direct Black 19—treated rats at 2000 mg/kg-bw via gavage. Dermal acute toxicity data reported in REACH (2013a) for Direct Orange 39 also indicated that no animal deaths or adverse effects were observed at 2000 mg/kg-bw in rats and rabbits. In the absence of acute toxicity data for other Azo Direct Dyes, these substances are considered to have generally low oral and dermal acute toxicity based on the available data on Direct Orange 39 and Direct Black 19 as well as data on Certain Azo Acid Dyes (Environment Canada and Health Canada 2014a).

#### 7.2.1.1.3.3 Sensitization and Irritation

Some Azo Direct Dyes were notified by stakeholders in the EU to be classified for their sensitization or irritation: Direct Orange 39 and Direct Yellow 11 to be in Skin Sensitization category 1; Direct Blue 71, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 81, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1 to be in Eye Irritation category 2; Direct Orange 26, Direct Red 81 and CAS RN 83221-56-1 to be in Skin Irritation category 2; and Direct Orange 39 to be in Specific target organ toxicity single exposure category 3 (ECHA 2013).

Some sensitization and irritation testing data for Direct Orange 39 were reported in the REACH (2013a) dossier. Inconsistent sensitization test results in guinea pigs and negative results in the human patch test were observed. Direct Orange 39 induced moderate skin irritation and slight eye irritation in rabbits.

# 7.2.1.2 The Remaining Azo Direct Dyes

No empirical health effects data were identified for the remaining 43 Azo Direct Dyes for which potential exposure has not been identified (Appendix C). Among these substances, seven Azo Direct Dyes can potentially release EU22 aromatic amines via azo bond reductive cleavage: Direct Red 62, CAS RN 72749-87-2, CAS RN 83232-30-8 and CAS RN 83232-32-0 can release *o*-toluidine (CAS RN 95-53-4); Direct Red 26 and CAS 72749-88-3 can release *o*-anisidine (CAS RN 90-04-0); and CAS RN 84878-16-0 can release 4,4'-thiobisbenzenamine (CAS RN 139-65-1).

# 7.2.2 Azo Reactive Dyes

#### 7.2.2.1 Three Azo Reactive Dyes with Potential Exposure

Reactive Black 5, Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225 have been identified as being used in products available to consumers in the Canadian marketplace and therefore general population exposure to these substances may occur (refer to Section 7.1).

#### 7.2.2.1.1 Azo Bond Cleavage Potential

Azo bond reductive cleavage of Reactive Black 5 was tested under anaerobic and aerobic conditions (BRI 2013a, b). Reactive Black 5 was cleaved under both conditions: gradual and incomplete azo bond reduction occurred over 24 hours with human fecal bacterial cultures and complete azo bond reduction within 1 hour occurred with the culture of human skin bacteria, *Staphylococcus epidermidis* or *Micrococcus luteus* (BRI 2013a, b). In addition, biodegradation by fungi or fungal enzymes *in vitro* has been reported for Reactive Black 5 and other azo reactive dyes (i.e., Reactive Black 19 and Reactive Black 221) (Abadulla et al. 2000; Tauber et al. 2008).

Data from rat *in vivo* studies in which a single Reactive Black 5 dose was administered by gavage showed that Reactive Black 5 was absorbed and excreted mainly in feces and to a lesser extent in urine. The main metabolite identified resulted from azo bond reductive cleavage (REACH dossier 2013c).

Based on read-across from Reactive Black 5, Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225 are also considered to have potential to undergo azo bond reductive cleavage since no empirical data for these two Azo Reactive Dyes were identified.

#### 7.2.2.1.2 Carcinogenicity and Genotoxicity

Adequate cancer bioassay data for the three Azo Reactive Dyes were not identified. One older study examined the carcinogenicity of Reactive Black 5 in rats and mice via oral administration, however, no concurrent control animals were used; hence, an evaluation of dose-related effects was not possible (REACH 2013c).

In vivo and in vitro genotoxicity data for Reactive Black 5 were reported in the REACH dossier (2013c). Reactive Black 5 did not induce chromosomal aberration in Chinese hamsters or micronucleus formation in mice following single oral gavage administration. It did not induce gene mutation in bacteria (Ames test) with or without metabolic activation. In addition, a postulated azo bond reductive cleavage product of Reactive Black 5 and Reactive Blue 225, 4-((2-sulfatoethyl)sulfonyl)aniline (CAS RN 2494-89-5), did not induce chromosomal aberration in mammalian cells or gene mutation in bacteria (Ames test) in vitro with or without metabolic activation (REACH 2013d). Although genotoxicity testing data for Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225 have not been identified, all of their component aromatic amines are sulfonated (Appendix C) and are therefore expected to have low genotoxic potential.

Overall, the three Azo Reactive Dyes are considered to have low carcinogenic and genotoxic potential.

#### 7.2.2.1.3 Other Health Effects

## **Repeated-Dose Toxicity**

Repeated-dose toxicity data were identified only for Reactive Black 5. Two oral studies for Reactive Black 5 were reported in the REACH dossier (2013c). In the short-term study (21 days), albino rats were given Reactive Black 5 by gavage at 500 mg/kg-bw per day, 5 days/week, for 3 weeks (14 treatments in total), followed by an additional 3 days of observation. No treatment-related health effects were observed as evaluated by clinical signs, body weights, urinalysis, hematological analysis and macroscopic and microscopic examination. In the developmental toxicity study, pregnant Wistar rats were administered Reactive Black 5 at 1000 mg/kg-bw per day by gavage during gestation days 7–16. No treatment-related health effects on the dams or developmental effects on the fetuses were observed (black discoloration of feces and blue discoloration of urine due to excretion of the dye were observed in dams). Health information provided by the two studies is limited as only a single dose level was tested in each.

## **Acute Toxicity**

Acute toxicity data for Reactive Black 5 were reported in the REACH dossier (2013c). Reactive Black 5 did not cause animal deaths or adverse effects in acute oral toxicity tests in rats at 5000 mg/kg-bw via gavage (slight bluish discoloration of the upper layers of the skin (cutis and subcutis) and purple discoloured kidneys were observed).

## **Sensitization and Irritation**

Reactive Blue 225 has been classified as a Skin Sensitization Category 1 substance (ECHA 2013). Reactive Black 5 was notified by stakeholders in the EU to be classified in Respiratory Sensitization category 1, Eye Damage category 1, Skin Irritation category 2, Eye Irritation category 2 and Specific target organ toxicity single exposure category 3 (ECHA 2013).

In addition, it was reported that Reactive Black 5 induced asthma, rhinitis and positive skin patch tests in some patients (Estlander 1988; Nilsson et al. 1993; Pérez-Crespo et al. 2009; REACH 2013c). Most of the patients had occupational exposures to reactive dyes.

In experimental animals, Reactive Black 5 did not cause skin irritation or eye irritation in rabbits or skin sensitization in guinea pigs. Reactive Black 5 did not cause respiratory sensitization in guinea pigs, although immunoglobulin G and allergic antibodies were induced in some of the studies without altering general pulmonary function of the guinea pigs (REACH 2013c).

## 7.2.2.2 The Remaining Five Azo Reactive Dyes

Empirical health effects data for the remaining five Azo Reactive Dyes have not been identified (Appendix C). Since these Azo Reactive Dyes and their component aromatic amines are all sulfonated, they are considered to have low carcinogenic and genotoxic potential.

#### 7.2.3 Uncertainties in Human Health Effects Assessment

## **Azo Direct Dyes**

Although evidence for azo bond reductive cleavage is available for some of the Azo Direct Dyes, there is uncertainty with respect to the rate and extent of azo bond reduction and the stability of the azo bond reductive cleavage products, which would influence their associated health effects. For example, Acid Red 1 was not carcinogenic in experimental animals, although one of its postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products is aniline, which has induced carcinogenic effects in male rats. There is also uncertainty with respect to the azo bond reductive cleavage products whose health effects have not been investigated or well characterized.

There is high uncertainty with respect to the actual health effects of the Azo Direct Dyes as most of them have not been tested and given the structural diversity, the identified additional substances can not be viewed as toxicologically equivalent to these dyes.

There is also uncertainty with respect to potential health effects of trace level of impurities or minor components of unknown or variable compositions in the dyes

## **Azo Reactive Dyes**

For the Azo Reactive Dyes, empirical health effects data were identified only for Reactive Black 5. There is uncertainty in applying read-across approach for azo bond reductive cleavage for the substances that do not have empirical data. Also, there is high uncertainty with respect to the actual health effects of those no data substances. However, as these dyes and their postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products (aromatic amines) are all sulfonated, they are generally considered to be of low hazard potential.

### 7.3 Characterization of Risk to Human Health

## 7.3.1 Azo Direct Dyes

For the general population of Canada, environmental media are not considered to be a significant source of exposure to the Azo Direct Dyes; therefore risk to human health from these sources is considered to be low.

Fourteen of the Azo Direct Dyes (Direct Black 56, Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1) were identified to be used as dyes in textiles. Daily exposures to the 14 dyes as a result of direct and prolonged dermal contact were estimated to be 0.0026–0.004 mg/kg-bw per day. Daily exposure to these dyes as a result of mouthing of textiles by infants was estimated to be 2.7×10<sup>-5</sup> mg/kg-bw per day.

A range of NOAELs of 26–300 mg/kg-bw per day based on oral repeated-dose toxicity studies for Direct Orange 39 and six additional related substances was used as a POD to characterize the risk to human health from exposure to the 14 dyes via contact with textiles. Oral data were used in the absence of adequate dermal toxicological data. Comparison of the estimates for dermal exposure to the 14 dyes via textile clothing with the POD results in margins of exposure (MOEs) ranging from 6500 to 115 000. Comparison of the estimates for oral exposure to the 14 dyes via textile mouthing with the POD results in MOEs of  $\geq$  963 000. These MOEs are considered adequate to address uncertainties in the exposure and health effects databases (Table 7-6). Therefore, further refinements of the exposure estimate and POD are not warranted.

Table 7-6. Margins of exposure for 14 Azo Direct Dyes used in textiles

Exposure duration and route	Consumer products	Daily exposure (mg/kg-bw per day)	POD (mg/kg- bw per day)	MOEs
Daily oral	Textile objects (infants)	2.7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	26–300	≥ 963 000
Daily dermal	Textiles (personal apparel: adult)	0.0026	26–300	10000–115 000
Daily dermal	Textiles (baby	0.004	26–300	6500-75000

Exposure duration and route	Consumer products	Daily exposure (mg/kg-bw per day)	POD (mg/kg- bw per day)	MOEs
	sleeper: infant)			

Abbreviations: MOE, margin of exposure; POD, point of departure

Nine of the Azo Direct Dyes (Direct Black 56, Direct Red 31, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 50, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1) were identified to be used as dyes in leather products. Exposure to these dyes in leather products is considered to be short term and intermittent. Therefore, the margins of exposure derived for these dyes used in textiles are considered to be protective for individuals using leather products.

Seven of the Azo Direct Dyes (Direct Blue 71, Direct Red 31, Direct Yellow 11, Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 34 and Direct Yellow 50) were identified to be used as dyes in paper products. It is recognised that young children (predominately 0.5 – 4 years of age) may be infrequently exposed to these dyes from incidental ingestion of paper products. However, available data do not indicate acute toxicity to be of health concern for the Azo Direct Dyes, therefore, risk to young children from exposure to these dyes in paper products is considered to be low.

Two Azo Direct Dyes (Direct Blue 71 and Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt) were identified as having colourant uses in food packaging materials. As exposure to these dyes from direct food contact is not expected to be significant, risk to human health is considered to be low for this use.

Exposure to the remaining 43 Azo Direct Dyes has not been identified; accordingly, risk to human health from exposure to these dyes is not expected.

## 7.3.2 Azo Reactive Dyes

For the general population of Canada, environmental media are not considered to be a significant source of exposure to the Azo Reactive Dyes; therefore risk to human health from this source is considered to be low. Use of Reactive Black 5, Reactive Black 158 and Reactive Blue 225 as covalently bound dyes in textiles is not expected to be a significant source of exposure, therefore the risk to human health is considered to be low for these substances. For the remaining five Azo Reactive Dyes, available information did not identify sources of current exposure for the general population of Canada, therefore risk to human health is not expected for these substances.

#### 7.3.3 Uncertainties in Characterization of Risk to Human Health

#### **Azo Direct Dyes**

Direct and prolonged dermal and oral exposure may occur to 14 Azo Direct Dyes via contact with textiles. There is uncertainty associated with the POD as it was used to characterize the risks for both high potency substances (such as aniline-based dyes) and low potency substances (such as sulfonated aromatic amine-based dyes). The relative absorption for the oral and dermal routes of exposure was also not distinguished. However, this risk characterization approach is considered reasonably conservative as the POD range covers the most potent substances among these dyes by including data for Acid Red 1. In comparison to the 14 dyes, Acid Red 1 is smaller, suggesting it may have higher bioavailability and hence higher toxic potential. Also, because the 14 dyes are water soluble, ionized substances, it is unlikely that they would have higher absorption via the dermal route relative to the oral route.

Some of these dyes contain unsulfonated aromatic amines whose health effects are unknown. 4-amino-1,3-Benzenediol contains two hydroxyl- groups, similar to a metabolite of aniline; this aromatic amine is unlikely to be more potent than aniline. 1,3bis(4-amino-3-methylphenyl)urea, 1,3-bis(4-amino-2-methoxy-5-methylphenyl)urea and 4-amino-N-(4-aminophenyl)benzenesulfonamide have molecular weights two fold or more greater than that of aniline, whereas 1,4-Naphthalenediamine and 4-Amino-2methoxy-5-methylaniline are relatively smaller molecules, only slightly larger than aniline. Although the toxicological potencies of these aromatic amines relative to aniline remain unknown, based on available data it is expected that their potential critical effect levels would be within the range of those for aniline, as the lowest LOEL identified in the OECD QSAR Toolbox (2013) for non-benzidine aromatic amines was 6 mg/kg-bw per day, whereas the LOAEL for aniline was 7.2 mg/kg-bw per day. In addition, anilinebased disazo dyes in this subgroup could potentially release aniline at a 1:2 ratio, and some polyazo dyes could release three unsulfonated aromatic amines. Although in vivo azo bond reductive cleavage efficiency for these disazo and polyazo dyes is unknown, even if it occurs rapidly and completely, it would result in potential critical effect levels within two to three folds of those for Acid Red 1. As the MOEs for the 14 dyes were sufficiently large to address these uncertainties, further refinement (such as refining dermal absorption and the point of departure for risk characterization) was not considered necessary.

It is recognized that Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt may have additional health effects that could be solely attributed to triethanolamine. This could be relevant to individuals occupationally exposed to Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt; however, the focus of this assessment is on the general population who may be exposed to finished dyed textile materials or leather products and are therefore not expected to be exposed to triethanolamine.

#### **Azo Reactive Dyes**

It is recognized that some of the Azo Reactive Dyes may have sensitization potential for individuals directly exposed to the concentrated dyes; however the focus of this assessment is on the general population who may be exposed to finished dyed

materials and are therefore not expected to be exposed directly to concentrated azo reactive dyes.

## 7.3.4 Azo Direct Dyes with Effects of Concern

Overall, human health risk from the substances in this assessment is low based on the current levels of exposure. However as indicated above, some of the Azo Direct Dyes in this assessment have effects of concern based on potential carcinogenicity. A list of these substances is shown in Appendix D.

## 8. Conclusion

Considering all available lines of evidence presented in this Screening Assessment, there is low risk of harm to organisms and the broader integrity of the environment from Azo Direct and Azo Reactive Dyes evaluated in this assessment. It is concluded that the 61 Azo Direct Dyes and the eight Azo Reactive Dyes do not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(a) or 64(b) of CEPA 1999, as they are not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity or that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

Based on the information presented in this Screening Assessment, it is concluded that the 61 Azo Direct Dyes and the 8 Azo Reactive Dyes do not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(c) of CEPA 1999 as they are not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

It is concluded that the 61 Azo Direct Dyes and 8 Azo Reactive Dyes do not meet any of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA 1999.

## References

Abadulla E, Tzanov T, Costa S, Robra K, Cavaco-Paulo A, Gubitz GM. 2000. Decolorization and detoxification of textile dyes with a laccase from *Trametes hirsuta*. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(8):3357–3362.

Acros Organics. 1997. Material Safety Data Sheet: Direct Blue 71 [Internet]. Fair Lawn (NJ): Acros Organics. [cited 2013 Aug 20]. Available from: www.msdsonline.com [restricted access]

Andersson B, Nordenskjöld M, Rahimtula A, Moldéus P. 1982. Prostaglandin synthetase-catalyzed activation of phenacetin metabolites to genotoxic products. Mol Pharmacol 22(2):479-85.

Anliker R, Clarke EA, Moser P. 1981. Use of the partition coefficient as an indicator of bioaccumulation tendency of dyestuffs in fish. Chemosphere 10(3):263–274.

[AOPWIN] Atmospheric Oxidation Program for Windows [Estimation Model]. 2010. Version 1.92a. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. Available from: www.epa.gov/oppt/exposure/pubs/episuite.htm

BASF. 2004. Material Safety Data Sheet: C.I. Direct Yellow 11 (dye) C.I. 40000. Reference: 0059777.

Baughman GL, Perenich TA. 1988. Fate of dyes in aquatic systems: I. Solubility and partitioning of some hydrophobic dyes and related compounds. Environ Toxicol Chem 7(3):183–199.

Baughman GL, Weber EJ. 1994. Transformation of dyes and related compounds in anoxic sediment: kinetics and products. Environ Sci Technol 28(2):267–276.

Ben Mansour H, Barillier D, Corroler D, Ghedira K, Chekir-Ghedira L, Mosrati R. 2009. *In vitro* study of DNA damage induced by Acid Orange 52 and its biodegradation derivatives. Environ Toxicol Chem 28(3):489–495.

[BfR] Federal Institute for Risk Assessment. 2007. Introduction to the problems surrounding garment textiles. BfR Information No. 018/2007, 1 June 2007. Available from upon request.

[BIOWIN] Biodegradation Probability Program for Windows [Estimation Model]. 2010. Version 4.10. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. Available from: www.epa.gov/oppt/exposure/pubs/episuite.htm

[BRI] Biopharmaceutical Research Inc. 2012. Testing the metabolism potential of selected aromatic azo and benzidine dyes *in vitro* in two representative human skin bacterial cultures under aerobic conditions. Unpublished report prepared for Health Canada. Vancouver (BC): BRI. Study No. HEA-2011-002.

[BRI] Biopharmaceutical Research Inc. 2013a. Determination of the metabolic reduction potential of selected aromatic azo- and benzidine-based substances: *in vitro* anaerobic fecal bacterial cultures of the human gastrointestinal tract. Unpublished report prepared for Health Canada. Vancouver (BC): BRI. Study Nos. HEA-2012-001 and HEA-2012-002.

[BRI] Biopharmaceutical Research Inc. 2013b. Identification of azo reductive cleavage products in metabolic reaction of azo dyes by *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Micrococcus luteus* under aerobic conditions. Unpublished report prepared for Health Canada. Vancouver (BC): BRI. Study No. HEA-2013-001.

Brown D, Laboureur P. 1983. The aerobic biodegradability of primary aromatic amines. Chemosphere 12(3):405–414.

Buser AM, MacLeod M, Scheringer M, Mackay D, Bonnell M, Russell MH, DePinto JV, Hungerbühler K. 2012. Good modeling practice guidelines for applying multimedia models in chemical assessments. Integr Environ Assess Manag 8(4):703–708.

Canada. [1978]. *Food and Drug Regulations*, C.R.C., c. 870. Available from: www.canlii.org/en/ca/laws/regu/crc-c-870/latest/crc-c-870.html

Canada. 1985. *Food and Drugs Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. F-27. Available from: www.canlii.org/ca/sta/f-27/whole.html

Canada. 1994. Aniline [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Environment Canada, Health Canada. (Priority substances list assessment report). Available from: hc-sc.gc.ca/ewh-semt/alt\_formats/hecs-sesc/pdf/pubs/contaminants/psl1-lsp1/aniline/aniline-eng.pdf

Canada. 1999. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999. S.C., 1999, c. 33. Canada Gazette, Part III, vol. 22, no. 3. Available from: www.gazette.gc.ca/archives/p3/1999/g3-02203.pdf

Canada, Dept. of the Environment. 2011. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999: Notice with respect to certain aromatic amines and aromatic azo- and benzidine-based substances. Canada Gazette, Part I, vol. 145, no. 51, Supplement to the Canada Gazette. Available from: www.gazette.gc.ca/rp-pr/p1/2011/index-eng.html

Carliell CM, Barclay SJ, Naidoo N, Buckley CA, Mulholland DA, Senior E. 1994. Anaerobic decolorisation of reactive dyes in conventional sewage treatment processes. Water SA 20(4):341–344.

CATALOGIC [Computer Model]. 2012. Version 5.11.6. Bourgas (BG): Bourgas Prof. Assen Zlatarov University, Laboratory of Mathematical Chemistry. Available from: www.oasis-lmc.org/?section=software&swid=1

[CFIA] Canadian Food Inspection Agency. 2010. Food Safety Action Plan report. 2009–2010 targeted surveys chemistry. Food colours used in the production of manufactured foods. Ottawa (ON): CFIA. Report No.: TS-CHEM-09/10-05.

[CFIA] Canadian Food Inspection Agency. 2011. Food Safety Action Plan report. 2010–2011 targeted surveys chemistry. Food colours used in the production of manufactured foods. Ottawa (ON): CFIA. Report No.: TS-CHEM-10/11.

ChemIDplus [Internet chemicals search system]. 1993—. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US). [cited 2013 Jun]. Available from: www.chem.sis.nlm.nih.gov/chemidplus/

Chompuchan C, Satapanajaru T, Suntornchot P, Pengthamkeerati P. 2010. Decolorization of Reactive Black 5 and Reactive Red 198 using nanoscale zerovalent iron. Int J Civil Environ Eng 2:3.

[CHRIP] Chemical Risk Information Platform [database on the Internet]. ©2008. Tokyo (JP): National Institute of Technology and Evaluation, Chemical Management Centre (CMC). [cited 2011 Jan; 2013 Aug 10]. Available from: www.safe.nite.go.jp/english/db.html

[CII] Colour Index International [datbase on the Internet]. 2013. 4th ed. On-line [Internet]. Research Triangle Park (NC): Society of Dyers and Colourists and American Association of Textile Chemists and Colourists. [cited 2013 Aug]. Available from: http://www.colour-index.com/

Corso CR, Almeida EJ, Santos GC, Morão LG, Fabris GS, Mitter EK. 2012. Bioremediation of direct dyes in simulated textile effluents by a paramorphogenic form of Aspergillus oryzae. Water Sci Technol 65(8):1490–1495.

[Danish EPA] Danish Environmental Protection Agency. 2012. The Danish EPA's risk assessment of hazardous substances in tattoo inks based on the project, "Chemical substances in tattoo ink". [Internet]. Danish Environmental Protection Agency. Available from: http://www.mst.dk/NR/rdonlyres/10A88C86-7653-4383-840B-F50FD38363C9/0/TheDanishEPARAoftatooinks.pdf

Dojcinovic BP, Roglic GM, Obradovic BM, Kuraica MM, Tosti TB, Markovic MD, Manojlovic DD. 2012. Decolorization of Reactive Black 5 using a dielectric barrier discharge in the presence of inorganic salts. J Serb Chem Soc 77(4):535–548.

[DS TOPKAT] Discovery Studio TOxicity Prediction by Komputer Assisted Technology [Prediction Module]. ©2005–2009. Version 2.5.0.9164. San Diego (CA): Accelrys Software Inc. Available from: www.accelrys.com/products/

[ECHA] European Chemicals Agency. 2013. Classification & Labelling Inventory database. [cited 2013 Aug]. Available from: echa.europa.eu/information-on-chemicals/cl-inventory

Enayatzamir K, Tabandeh F, Yakhchali B, Alikhani HA, Rodríguez Couto S. 2009. Assessment of the joint effect of laccase and cellobiose dehydrogenase on the decolouration of different synthetic dyes. J Hazard Mater 169(1–3):176–181.

Environment Canada. 2007. Guidance for conducting ecological assessments under CEPA, 1999. Science Resource Technical Series—Technical guidance module: QSARs. Reviewed draft working document. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Ecological Assessment Division. Available upon request.

Environment Canada. 2012. Data for Certain aromatic amines and aromatic azo- and benzidine-based substances collected under the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, section 71: Notice with respect to certain aromatic amines and aromatic azo- and benzidine-based substances. Data compiled by: Environment Canada, Program Development and Engagement Division.

Environment Canada, Health Canada. 2007. Chemical substances: Categorization [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada. [updated 2007 April 20; cited 2014 June 10]. Available from: <a href="http://www.chemicalsubstanceschimiques.gc.ca/approach-approche/categor-eng.php">http://www.chemicalsubstanceschimiques.gc.ca/approach-approche/categor-eng.php</a>

Environment Canada, Health Canada. 2013. The Chemicals Management Plan Substance Grouping Initiative. Subgrouping Approach and Background Information for the Screening Assessment of Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-Based Substances. May 2013. Environment Canada, Health Canada. Available upon request.

Environment Canada, Health Canada. 2014a. Draft Screening Assessment: Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substance Grouping. Certain Azo Acid Dyes. Ottawa (ON): Environment Canada, Health Canada.

Environment Canada, Health Canada. 2014b. Draft Screening Assessment: Aromatic Azo and Benzidine-based Substance Grouping. Certain Aromatic Amines. Ottawa (ON): Environment Canada, Health Canada.

Environment Canada, Health Canada. 2014c. Rapid Screening of Substances from Phase One of the Domestic Substances List Inventory Update. March 2014. Environment Canada, Health Canada. Available from: http://www.ec.gc.ca/ese-ees/7340E1B7-1809-4564-8C49-F05875D511CB/FSAR\_RSII\_EN.pdf

[EPI Suite] Estimation Programs Interface Suite for Microsoft Windows [Estimation Model]. 2012. Version 4.11. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. Available from: www.epa.gov/oppt/exposure/pubs/episuite.htm

Estlander T. 1988. Allergic dermatitis and respiratory diseases from reactive dyes. Contact Dermatitis 18:290–297.

[ETAD] Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organic Pigments Manufacturers. 1983. Final report on extractability of dyestuffs from textiles. Basel (CH): ETAD. Project No. A 4007.

[ETAD] Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organic Pigments Manufacturers. 1988. Executive summary on the ETAD Project T 2015. Toxicological testing of major colorants, with attachments and cover letter dated 06/03/88. Basel (CH): ETAD. TSCA OTS0000621, Doc #FYI-AX-0688-0621.

[ETAD] Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organic Pigments Manufacturers. 1991. Environmental assessment of dyestuffs. Basel (CH): ETAD. ETAD Project E3018.

[ETAD] Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organic Pigments Manufacturers. 1995. Health and environmental information on dyes used in Canada. An overview to assist in the implementation of the *New Substances Notification Regulation* under the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act*. Basel (CH): ETAD.

[ETAD] Ecological and Toxicological Association of Dyes and Organic Pigments Manufacturers. 2008. Environmental assessment of dyestuffs. Basel (CH): ETAD. ETAD Project E3020.

European Commission. ©2000. IUCLID Dataset, Sulphanilic acid, CAS No. 121-57-3 [Internet]. Year 2000 CD-ROM edition. [place unknown]: European Chemicals Agency, European Commission. [created 2000 Feb 18; cited 2013 Aug]. Available from: esis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/doc/IUCLID/data\_sheets/121573.pdf

European Commission. 2008. Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures, amending and repealing Directives 67/548/EEC and 1999/45/EC, and amending Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006. Official Journal of the European Union L 353:1–1355. Available from: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:353:0001:1355:en:PDF

[EU] European Union. 2006. Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), establishing a European

Chemical Agency, amending Directive 1999/45/EC and repealing Council Regulation (EEC) No 793/93 and Commission Regulation (EC) No 1488/94 as well as Council Directive 76/769/EEC and Commission Directives 91/155/EEC, 93/67/EEC, 93/105/EC and 2000/21/EC [Internet]. Off J Eur Union L 396:1–849. Available from: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=oj:l:2006:396:0001:0849:en:pdf

Franciscon E, Grossman MJ, Rizzato-Paschoal JA, Reyes-Reyes FG, Durrant LR. 2012. Decolorization and biodegradation of reactive sulfonated azo dyes by a newly isolated *Brevibacterium* sp. strain VN-15. **Springerplus** 1(1):37.

Ghaedi M, Sadeghian B, Pebdani AA, Sahraei R, Daneshfar A, Duran C. 2012. Kinetics, thermodynamics and equilibrium evaluation of Direct Yellow 12 removal by adsorption onto silver nanoparticles loaded activated carbon. Chem Eng J 187(1):133–141.

Ghaedi M, Sadeghian B, Kokhdan SN, Pebdani SA, Sahraei R, Daneshfar A, Mihandoost A. 2013. Study of removal of Direct Yellow 12 by cadmium oxide nanowires loaded on activated carbon. Mater Sci Eng C 33(4):2258–2265.

Green FJ. 1990. The Sigma-Aldrich handbook of stains, dyes, and indicators. 2nd ed. Milwaukee (WI): Aldrich Chemical Co.

GuideChem. 2013. C.I. Direct Yellow 11 (CAS No. 1325-37-7) [Internet]. [cited 2013 Oct 11]. Available from: www.guidechem.com/trade/pdetail2423054.html

Hamburger B, Haberling H, Hitz HR. 1977. [Comparative tests on toxicity to fish using minnows, trout, golden orfe]. Arch Fischereiwiss 28(1):45–55. [in German]. Available from: cfpub.epa.gov/ecotox/

Hannuksela T, Rosencrance S. 2008. Deinking chemistry. Kemira Chemicals Inc. Available from: http://cost-e46.eu.org/files/Deinking%20primer/Deinking%20Chemistry-FINAL.pdf

Health Canada. 1998. Exposure factors for assessing total daily intake of priority substances by the general population of Canada. Unpublished report. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada, Environmental Health Directorate.

Health Canada. 2011a. Follow-up report on a PSL substance for aniline (CASRN 62-53-3). Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. Available from: www.ec.gc.ca/ese-ees/CCDA73CC-13BC-4835-AA8D-966C159B56F2/Aniline\_Follow-up\_EN.pdf

Health Canada. 2011b. The Cosmetic Ingredient Hotlist March 2011 [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada, Consumer Product Safety. [cited 2011 Aug]. Available from: www.hc-sc.gc.ca/cps-spc/cosmet-person/indust/hot-list-critique/hotlist-liste-eng.php

[HSDB] Hazardous Substances Data Bank [database on the Internet]. 1983—. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US). [revised 2006 Dec 20; cited 2013 Aug 20]. Available from: www.toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/htmlgen?HSDB

Hsu CA, Wen TN, Su YC, Jiang ZB, Chen CW, Shyur LF. 2012. Biological degradation of anthroquinone and azo dyes by a novel laccase from *Lentinus* sp. Environ Sci Technol 46(9):5109–5117.

Huber P, Carré B. 2012. Decolorization of process waters in deinking mills and similar applications: a review. BioResources 7(1):1366–1382. Available from: www.ncsu.edu/bioresources/BioRes\_07/BioRes\_07\_1\_1366\_Huber\_Carre\_Decolor\_W ater\_Deinking\_Review\_Technol\_2439.pdf

Hunger K. 2003. Industrial dyes: chemistry, properties, applications. Weinheim (DE): Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KgaA.

Hunger K. 2005. Toxicology and toxicological testing of colorants. Rev Prog Coloration 35(1):76–89.

[HYDROWIN] Hydrolysis Rates Program for Microsoft Windows [Estimation Model]. 2010. Version 2.00. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. Available from: www.epa.gov/oppt/exposure/pubs/episuite.htm

[IARC] IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. 1987. Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: an updating of IARC Monographs Volumes 1 to 42. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum Suppl 7. Available from: monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/suppl7/index.php

[ILS] Integrated Laboratory Systems, Inc. 2011. Assessment of the mutagenicity of twenty aromatic azo substances in the Ames mutagenicity assay using the Prival modification with and without FMN. Unpublished report. Research Triangle Park (NC): ILS. ILS Project Study No. C191-006.

Ishikawa Y, Galuser J, Janshekar H. 2008. CEH marketing research report: dyes. Menlo Park (CA): SRI Consulting. Available upon request.

Isik M, Sponza DT. 2004. Monitoring of toxicity and intermediates of C.I. Direct Black 38 azo dye through decolourization in an anaerobic/aerobic sequential reactor system. J Hazard Mater B114:29–39.

Jadhav JP, Phugare SS, Dhanve RS, Jadhav SB. 2010. Rapid biodegradation and decolorization of Direct Orange 39 (Orange TGLL) by an isolated bacterium *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain BCH. Biodegradation 21(3):453–463.

Japan MHLW. JECDB for 156-43-4 [Internet]. (accessed Jnue 21, 2012)(study abstract). Available from:http://dra4.nihs.go.jp/mhlw\_data/home/file/file156-43-4.html.

Jung R, Steinle D, Anliker R. 1992. A compilation of genotoxicity and carcinogenicity data on aromatic aminosulphonic acids. Food Chem Toxicol 30(7):635–660.

Khaled A, El-Nemr A, El-Sikaily A, Abdelwahab O. 2009. Treatment of artificial textile dye effluent containing Direct Yellow 12 by orange peel carbon. Desalination 238 (1–3):210–232.

[Kirk-Othmer] Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology. 2010. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Online ISBN: 9780471238966. DOI 10.1002/0471238961. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/book/10.1002/0471238961/

Kumar SR, Kumar RD, Kumar JR. 2012. Decolorization of Reactive Black HFGR by *Aspergillus sulphureus*. ISCA J Biol Sci 1(1):55–61. Available from: isca.in/IJBS/Archive/v1i1/8.ISCA-JBS-2012-020.pdf

Little LD, Lamb JC III. 1972. Acute toxicity of 46 selected dyes to the fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas*. Chapel Hill (NC): University of North Carolina; 126 p.

Little LW, Lamb JC III. 1973. Acute toxicity of 46 selected dyes to the fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas*. In: Dyes and the environment—Reports on selected dyes and their effects. Vol. 1. American Dye Manufacturers Institute, Inc.; 130 p.

Little LW, Lamb JC, Chillingworth MA, Durkin WB. 1974. Acute toxicity of selected commercial dyes to the fathead minnow and evaluation of biological treatment for reduction of toxicity. Proceedings of the 29th Industrial Waste Conference, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN; p. 524–534. Engineering Extensions Series No.145. Engineering Technical Reports Collection.

[LNHPD] Licensed Natural Health Products Database [database on the Internet]. 2008. Version 1.0. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [cited 2011 Oct]. Available from: webprod3.hc-sc.gc.ca/lnhpd-bdpsnh/index-eng.jsp

Loveday KS, Anderson BE, Resnick MA, Zeiger E. 1990. Chromosome aberration and sister chromatid exchange tests in Chinese hamster ovary cells *in vitro*. V: Results with 46 chemicals. Environ Mol Mutagen 16(4):272–303.

[MITI] Ministry of International Trade & Industry (JP), Basic Industries Bureau, Chemical Products Safety Division. 1992. Biodegradation and bioaccumulation data of existing chemicals based on the CSCL Japan. Tokyo (JP): Japan Chemical Industry Ecology-Toxicology & Information Center.

Mortelmans K, Haworth S, Lawlor T, Speck W, Tainer B, Zeiger E. 1986. *Salmonella* mutagenicity tests: II. Results from the testing of 270 chemicals. Environ Mutagen 8(Suppl 7):1–119.

MP Biomedicals Inc. 2006. Material Safety Data Sheet: Reactive Black 5 [Internet]. Solon (OH): MP Biomedicals Inc. [cited 2013 Aug 20]. Available from: www.msdsonline.com [restricted access]

Nakamura S, Kosaka H, Ugawa M. 1993. [Genotoxicity of chemical synthetic dyes. Results of umu test using *Salmonella typhimurium* TA1535/pSK1002]. Hen'igensei Shiken 2(3):162–174. [in Japanese, with English abstract].

[NCI] National Chemical Inventories [database on a CD-ROM]. 2012. Issue 2. Columbus (OH): American Chemical Society, Chemical Abstracts Service. [cited 2013 Aug]. Available from: www.cas.org/products/other-cas-products/nci-on-cd

Neelambari V, Maharani V, Vijayalakshmi S, Balasubramanian T. 2013. Degradation and detoxification of reactive azo dyes by native bacterial communities. Afr J Microbiol Res 7(20):2274–2282.

[New EQC] New Equilibrium Criterion Model. 2011. Version 1.0 (Beta). Peterborough (ON): Trent University, Canadian Centre for Environmental Modelling and Chemistry. Available from: www.trentu.ca/academic/aminss/envmodel/models/NewEQCv100.html

[NHPID] Natural Health Products Ingredients Database [database on the Internet]. 2011. Version 2.1. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [cited 2011 Oct]. Available from: webprod.hc-sc.gc.ca/nhpid-bdipsn/search-rechercheReq.do

Nilsson R, Nordlinder R, Wass U, Meding B, Belin L. 1993. Asthma, rhinitis, and dermatitis in workers exposed to reactive dyes. Br J Ind Med 50(1):65–70.

Nordenskjöld M, Moldéus P. 1983. Induction of DNA-strand breaks in cultured human fibroblasts by reactive metabolites. Ann N Y Acad Sci 407(1):460–462.

[NTP] National Toxicology Program (US). 1978. Bioassay of *p*-anisidine hydrochloride for possible carcinogenicity (CAS No. 20265-97-8). Research Triangle Park (NC): US Department of Health and Human Services, National Toxicology Program. Technical Report Series No. 116.

[NTP] National Toxicology Program (US). 1992. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of 4,4'-diamino-2,2'-stilbenedisulfonic acid, disodium salt (CAS No. 7336-20-1) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (feed studies). Research Triangle Park (NC): US Department of Health and Human Services, National Toxicology Program. Technical Report Series No. 412.

[OECD] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2002. SIDS Final Assessment Report for: *p*-Phenetidine; CAS RN 156-43-4. Available from: webnet.oecd.org/Hpv/UI/handler.axd?id=bc1f4c84-04bb-4bf6-b74b-a45419deebbf

[OECD] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2004 SIDS Final Assessment Report for: 2,2'-Diamino-4,4'-stilbenedisulfonic acid; CAS RN 81-11-8. Available from: <a href="http://webnet.oecd.org/Hpv/UI/SIDS">http://webnet.oecd.org/Hpv/UI/SIDS</a> Details.aspx?id=4E4F9E2A-B0E4-421A-941C-4F426E64AA8D

[OECD] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2014. Guidance on Grouping of Chemicals. Second Edition. Series on Testing & Assessment No. 194. Available at:

http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mono(2 014)4&doclanguage=en

OECD QSAR Toolbox [Read-across tool]. 2013. Version 3.1. Paris (FR): Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Environment Directorate. Available from: www.oecd.org/document/23/0,3343,en\_2649\_34379\_33957015\_1\_1\_1\_1\_0.0.html

Øllgaard H, Frost L, Galster J, Hansen OC. 1998. Survey of azo-colorants in Denmark: consumption, use, health and environmental aspects. (Miljøprojekt No. 509). Copenhagen (DK): Danish Ministry of Environment and Energy, Environmental Protection Agency.

Oranusi NA, Ogugbue JC. 2002. Toxic response of *Nitrobacter* to Orange II and Direct Blue 71. J Appl Sci Environ Manag 6(1):87–90.

Pagga U, Brown D. 1986. The degradation of dyestuffs: Part II—Behavior of dyestuffs in aerobic biodegradation tests. Chemosphere 15(4):479–491.

Palus J, Schwarz L, Frank C, Andrae U. 1995. DNA repair synthesis induced by azo dyes in primary rat hepatocyte cultures using the bromodeoxyuridine density-shift method. Int J Occup Med Environ Health 8(2):123–130.

Patierno SR, Lehman NL, Henderson BE, Landolph JR. 1989. Study of the ability of phenacetin, acetaminophen, and aspirin to induce cytotoxicity, mutation, and morphological transformation in C3H/10T1/2 clone 8 mouse embryo cells. Cancer Res 49(4):1038–1044.

Pérez-Crespo M, Silvestre JF, Lucas A, Ballester I. 2009. Co-sensitivity to disperse and reactive dyes. Contact Dermatitis 60:223–225.

Princz, Juliska, Mark Bonnell, Ellyn Ritchie, Jessica Velicogna, Pierre-Yves Robidoux, Rick Scroggins. 2014. Estimation of the bioaccumulation potential of a nonchlorinated bisphenol and an ionogenic xanthene dye to Eisenia andrei in field-collected soils, in

conjunction with predictive in silico profiling. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 33(2): 308-316.

Przybojewska B, Barański B, Spiechowicz E, Sitarek K. 1988. Mutagenic activity of some textile dyes in different test systems. Toxicol Lett 40(2):183–192.

Przybojewska B, Barański B, Spiechowicz E, Szymczak W. 1989. Mutagenic and genotoxic activity of chosen dyes and surface active compounds used in the textile industry. Pol J Occup Med 2(2):171–185.

Razo-Flores E, Luijten M, Donlon B, Lettinga G, Field J. 1997. Biodegradation of selected azo dyes under methanogenic conditions. Water Sci Technol 36(6–7):65–72.

[REACH] Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals. 2013a. A registration dossier for Azo Direct Orange 39 [CAS RN 1325-54-8] submitted to REACH. [cited 2013 Aug]. Available from: apps.echa.europa.eu/registered/data/dossiers/DISS-dffb4072-e307-47ae-e044-00144f67d031/DISS-dffb4072-e307-47ae-e044-00144f67d031\_DISS-dffb4072-e307-47ae-e044-00144f67d031.html

[REACH] Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals. 2013b. A registration dossier for Azo Direct Black 19 [CAS RN 6428-31-5] submitted to REACH. [cited 2013 Aug]. Available from: apps.echa.europa.eu/registered/data/dossiers/DISS-db9a1d95-5e48-2fdc-e044-00144f67d031/DISS-db9a1d95-5e48-2fdc-e044-00144f67d031.html

[REACH] Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals. 2013c. A registration dossier for Azo Reactive Black 5 [CAS RN 17095-24-8] submitted to REACH. [cited 2013 Aug]. Available from:

apps.echa.europa.eu/registered/data/dossiers/DISS-9eae4ab4-0f17-4c9e-e044-00144f67d031/DISS-9eae4ab4-0f17-4c9e-e044-00144f67d031\_DISS-9eae4ab4-0f17-4c9e-e044-00144f67d031.html

[REACH] Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals. 2013d. A registration dossier for 4-((2-sulfatoethyl)sulfonyl)aniline [CAS RN 2494-89-5] submitted to REACH. [cited 2013 Aug]. Available from:

apps.echa.europa.eu/registered/data/dossiers/DISS-9e9c47fa-e32e-253c-e044-00144f67d031/DISS-9e9c47fa-e32e-253c-e044-00144f67d031\_DISS-9e9c47fa-e32e-253c-e044-00144f67d031.html

[REACH] Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals. 2013e. A registration dossier for 2-(4-aminophenyl)-6-methylbenzothiazole-7-sulphonic acid [CAS RN 130-17-6] submitted to REACH. [cited 2013 Oct]. Available from: apps.echa.europa.eu/registered/data/dossiers/DISS-d6b1fe08-00c3-0ce0-e044-

00144f67d031/DISS-d6b1fe08-00c3-0ce0-e044-00144f67d031\_DISS-d6b1fe08-00c3-0ce0-e044-00144f67d031.html

Rehorek A, Plum A. 2007. Characterization of sulfonated azo dyes and aromatic amines by pyrolysis gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 388:1653–1662.

Rohilla SK, Salar RK, Kumar J. 2012. Optimization of physiochemical parameters for decolorization of Reactive Black HFGR using soil fungus, *Aspergillus allhabadii* MTCC 9988. J Bioremed Biodeg 3:153.

[SCCP] Scientific Committee on Consumer Products. 2006. Opinion on *p*-phenylenediamine. COLIPA No. A7. European Commission, Health & Consumer Protection Directorate-General. Report No.: SCCP/0989/06. Available from: ec.europa.eu/health/ph\_risk/committees/04\_sccp/docs/sccp\_o\_069.pdf

Senan RC, Abraham TE. 2004. Bioremediation of textile azo dyes by aerobic bacterial consortium. Aerobic degradation of selected azo dyes by bacterial consortium. Biodegradation 15(4):275–280.

Shahin MM. 1994. Structure–activity relationships within various series of *p*-phenylenediamine derivatives. Mutat Res 307(1):83–93.

Shen Z, Wang W, Jia J, Ye J, Feng X, Peng A. 2001. Degradation of dye solution by an activated carbon fiber electrode electrolysis system. J Hazard Mater 84(1):107–116.

Storm T, Reemtsma T, Jekel M. 2000. Aromatic sulfonates in a textile waste water - analysis by high performance liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry. Vom Wasser 94: 161-175.

Study Submission. 2007. Unpublished study submitted to Environment Canada under the Chemicals Management Plan Challenge initiative. Gatineau (QC): Environment Canada, Program Development and Engagement Division

Tauber MM, Gübitz GM, Rehorek A. 2008. Degradation of azo dyes by oxidative processes—laccase and ultrasound treatment. Bioresour Technol 99(10):4213–4220.

Technology Supplies Ltd. 2012. Material Safety Data Sheet: DYLON PURE COLOUR 2 ORANGE, 3 SCARLET, 7 NAVY & 8 BLACK. MSDS No.: 0402B. Shrewsbury (GB): Technology Supplies Ltd. Available from: www.technologysupplies.co.uk

Theiss JC, Shimkihn MB, Weisburger EK. 1981. Pulmonary adenoma response of strain A mice to sulfonic acid derivatives of 1- and 2-naphthylamines. J Natl Cancer Inst 67:1299–1302.

Therapeutic Guidelines Ltd. 2008. Lund and Browder chart for calculating the percentage of total body surface area burnt (Fig 14.19). Published in eTG complete, March 2008. [Internet]. Available from: www.tg.org.au/etg\_demo/etg-lund-and-browder.pdf

US EPA 2012. Standard Operating Procedures for Residential Exposure Assessments. Health Effects Division, Office of Pesticide Programs, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/opp00001/science/USEPA-OPP-HED\_Residential%20SOPs\_Oct2012.pdf

[US FDA] US Food and Drug Administration. 2008. Pharmacology review(s). Application number 22-301. [cited 2013 Jun]. US Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Available from: http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2008/022301s000\_PharmR.pdf

Vinitnantharat S, Chartthe W, Pinisaku A. 2008. Toxicity of Reactive Red 141 and Basic Red 14 to algae and waterfleas. Water Sci Technol 58:1193–1198.

Visani de Luna LA. 2012. Ecotoxicity of dyes and their products generated by advance oxidative treatment. [MSc thesis]. Campinas (BR): Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Facultad de Tecnologia; p. 58.

Vujevic D, Koprivanac N, Loncaric Bozic A, Locke BR. 2004. The removal of Direct Orange 39 by pulsed corona discharge from model wastewater. Environ Technol 25(7):791–800.

Wang XZ, Cheng X, Zheng H, Sun DZ. 2008. [Stimulation of biodecolorization of Direct Yellow 11 by decolorization products of Reactive Black 5]. Huan Jing Ke Xue 29(11):3194–3199. [in Chinese].

[WHO] World Health Organization. 1981. Red 2G. In: Toxicological evaluation of certain food additives. Geneva (CH): WHO (WHO Food Additives Series, No. 16). Available from: <a href="http:///www.inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jecmono/v16je20.htm">http:///www.inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jecmono/v16je20.htm</a>

Yen CC, Perenich TA, Baughman GL. 1991. Fate of commercial disperse dyes in sediments. Environ Toxicol Chem 10:1009–1017.

Zaharia C, Suteu D. 2012. Textile organic dyes—Characteristics, polluting effects and separation/elimination procedures from industrial effluents—A critical overview. Chapter 3 in: Puzyn T, Mostrag-Szlichtyng A, editors. Organic pollutants ten years after the Stockholm Convention—Environmental and analytical update. InTech.

Zeiger E, Anderson B, Haworth S. 1987. *Salmonella* mutagenicity tests: III. Results from the testing of 255 chemicals. Environ Mutagen 9(Suppl 9):1–110.

Zeiger E, Anderson B, Haworth S, Lawlor T, Mortelmans K. 1992. *Salmonella* mutagenicity tests: V. Results from the testing of 311 chemicals. Environ Mol Mutagen 19(Suppl 21):2–141.

Zeilmaker MJ, Kroese ED, van Haperen P, van Veen MP, Bremmer HJ, van Kranen HJ, Wouters MFA, Janus JA. 1999. Cancer risk assessment of azo dyes and aromatic amines from garment and footwear. [Internet]. Bilthoven (NL): Rijkinstituut voor Volkgezondheid en Milieu [National Institute of Public Health and the Environment]. RIVM Report No.: 601503 014. Available from: www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/601503014.html

Zeilmaker MJ, van Kranen HJ, van Veen MP, Janus JA. 2000. Cancer risk assessment of azo dyes and aromatic amines from tattoo bands, folders of paper, toys, bed clothes, watch straps and ink. RIVM report 601503 019. Published: Feb 2000. [Internet]. Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu (National Institute of Public Health and the Environment). 45 p. Available from:

http://www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/601503019.html

# **Appendices**

## **Appendix A. Supplementary Data Tables**

Table A-1. Structural identity information for the five Monoazo Direct Dves

1325-37-7 Direct Yell 6471-09-6 Direct Green 10114-47-3 Direct Yell	Table A-1. Structural identity information for the five Monoazo Direct Dyes				
6471-09-6 Direct Gre  10114-47-3 Direct Yell  65150-80-3 Direct Yell	or common	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)		
10114-47-3 Direct Yell 65150-80-3 Direct Yell	low 11	SO <sub>3</sub> H SO <sub>3</sub> H NO <sub>2</sub> HO <sub>3</sub> S HO <sub>3</sub> S	624		
10114-47-3 Direct Yell 65150-80-3 Direct Yell		$C_{24}H_{10}N_4Na_2O_6S_4$ (estimate)			
65150-80-3 Direct Yell	en 28		980		
65150-80-3 Direct Yell		$C_{42}H_{27}N_{10}Na_3O_{11}S_2$			
	low 28		680		
	low 11 lithium	$C_{28}H_{18}N_4Na_2O_6S_4$	592		

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
71033-21-1	NA	0 = S = 0 OH	682
		$C_{28}H_{20}N_4Na_2O_6S_4$	

Table A-2. Structural identity information for the 37 Disazo Direct Dyes

2829-42-7	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical	Molar weight
2829-42-7		formula	(g/mol)
	Direct Yellow 26	C <sub>27</sub> H <sub>18</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub>	584
2870-32-8	Direct Yellow 12		680
2244 47 2		$C_{30}H_{26}N_4Na_2O_8S_2$	
3214-47-9	Direct Yellow 50	O S S O Na <sup>+</sup> Na  C  C	956
3626-36-6	Direct Orange 26	$_{35}H_{24}N_6Na_4O_{13}S_4$	756

Direct Red 26		<b>(g/mol)</b> 938
	C <sub>38</sub> H <sub>25</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>3</sub> O <sub>13</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	930
Direct Red 31	Na OH OH OH NA	713
Direct Violet 54	$C_{32}H_{21}N_5Na_2O_8S_2$	719
Direct violet 51	CasHazNeNasOsSa	719
Direct Yellow 34		1016
	Direct Violet 51	$C_{32}H_{21}N_5Na_2O_8S_2$ Direct Violet 51 $C_{32}H_{27}N_5Na_2O_8S_2$

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
6420-41-3	Direct Red 4		908
6420-43-5	Direct Red 62	$C_{37}H_{23}N_6Na_3O_{12}S_3$	886
0420-43-3	Direct Red 62		800
		$C_{35}H_{25}N_6Na_3O_{12}S_3$	
12217-64-0	Direct Orange 72		1016
28706-21-0	NA	C <sub>37</sub> H <sub>28</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>4</sub> O <sub>15</sub> S <sub>4</sub> C <sub>35</sub> H <sub>24</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>4</sub> O <sub>13</sub> S <sub>4</sub>	956
38801-08-0	NA	0351 1241 N61 Na4 O13 O4	1397
33301 00 0		HO OH OH OH	1007
		$C_{35}H_{24}N_6O_{13}S_2$	

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
53523-90-3	NA	HO OH OH OH	720
72139-21-0	NA	C <sub>30</sub> H <sub>20</sub> Li <sub>4</sub> N <sub>4</sub> O <sub>12</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	638
72100 21 0			
72152-50-2	NA	C <sub>30</sub> H <sub>20</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>8</sub>	940
		$C_{42}H_{27}N_6Na_3O_{12}S_2$	
72245-49-9	NA	HO OH OH OH	938
		C <sub>35</sub> H <sub>26</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>14</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	
72749-87-2	NA	OH O	784
		$C_{35}H_{28}N_6Na_2O_9S_2$	

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
72749-88-3	NA	C. H. N. No. O. S.	816
72869-93-3	NA	C <sub>35</sub> H <sub>26</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>11</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	724
75768-93-3	Direct Red 81	C <sub>35</sub> H <sub>28</sub> N <sub>10</sub> O <sub>23</sub> S <sub>4</sub>	813
	triethanolamine salt	$C_{29}H_{21}N_5O_8S_2\cdot 2C_6H_{15}NO$	
83221-53-8	NA	H <sub>2</sub> N N N O S	601
83221-54-9	NA	$C_{27}H_{17}N_5Na_2O_7S_2$	601

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
83221-56-1	NA	NE OH OH OH OH	736
20004 70 0	NA A	$C_{33}H_{24}N_6NaO_9S_2$	200
83221-73-2	NA		888
83221-74-3	NA	$C_{33}H_{24}N_6NaO_{13}S_2$	822
03221-14-3	INA	C <sub>33</sub> H <sub>24</sub> N <sub>6</sub> NaO <sub>11</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	022
83232-28-4	NA	333 1241 101 100 11102	850
83232-29-5	NA	C <sub>37</sub> H <sub>30</sub> N <sub>8</sub> NaO <sub>11</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	813
00202-23-0	IVA		013
		$C_{35}H_{25}N_7Na_2O_{10}S_2$	
83232-30-8	NA	OH OH OH NAME OF THE PROPERTY	786
		$C_{35}H_{28}N_6Na_2O_9S_2$	

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
83232-31-9	NA		924
		C <sub>35</sub> H <sub>28</sub> N <sub>6</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>15</sub> S <sub>4</sub>	
83232-32-0	NA		886
		$C_{35}H_{28}N_6NaO_{15}S_3$	
83783-94-2	NA	HO OH O	1249
		$C_{39}H_{33}Li_2N_7Na_4O_{22}S_6$	
83783-95-3	NA	HO JOH NO	1061
	1	$C_{39}H_{35}LiN_7Na_3O_{16}S_4$	
83783-96-4	NA	C <sub>39</sub> H <sub>34</sub> Li <sub>2</sub> N <sub>7</sub> Na <sub>3</sub> O <sub>19</sub> S <sub>5</sub>	1147

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
83783-99-7	NA	HO NO	843
		$C_{35}H_{35}LiN_5NaO_{14}S_2$	
85269-31-4	NA	HO NOW NOW NOW NOW NOW NOW NOW NOW NOW NO	812
		$C_{30}H_{24}N_4O_{12}S_2 \cdot xC_6H_{15}NO_3$	
110152-63-1	NA	NO N	802
		C <sub>26</sub> H <sub>20</sub> N <sub>4</sub> O <sub>8</sub> S <sub>2</sub> ⋅xLi⋅xNa	

Table A-3. Structural identity information for the 19 individual Polyazo Direct Dyes

CAS RN	C.I. name or common	Chemical structure and chemical	Molar weight
	name	formula	(g/mol)
1325-54-8	Direct Orange 39		990
		$C_{32}H_{24}N_6O_{10}S_2\cdot Li\cdot Na$	
4399-55-7	Direct Blue 71		1029
		$C_{40}H_{23}N_7Na_4O_{13}S_4$	

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
6406-87-7	NA	H <sub>1</sub> N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	877
6476-10-4	NA	$C_{36}H_{22}N_7Na_3O_{10}S_3$	877
04/0-10-4	INA	Na O	877
		$C_{36}H_{22}N_7Na_3O_{10}S_3$	
10134-33-5	Direct Black 56	C <sub>36</sub> H <sub>22</sub> N <sub>7</sub> Na <sub>3</sub> O <sub>10</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	877
10482-42-5	NA	H <sub>N</sub> N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	877
32829-81-5	NA	C <sub>36</sub> H <sub>22</sub> N <sub>7</sub> Na <sub>3</sub> O <sub>10</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	1004
		C <sub>38</sub> H <sub>24</sub> N <sub>8</sub> Na <sub>4</sub> O <sub>12</sub> S <sub>4</sub>	-

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
71767-19-6	NA		1050
		$C_{43}H_{26}N_9Na_5O_{17}S_5$	
71873-49-9	NA		964
		C <sub>40</sub> H <sub>24</sub> N <sub>8</sub> Na <sub>4</sub> O <sub>12</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	
72245-56-8	NA	$_{35}H_{26}N_{10}Na_2O_8S_2$	824
75150-14-0	NA	C <sub>42</sub> H <sub>33</sub> N <sub>9</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>13</sub> S <sub>4</sub>	1046

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
83221-68-5	NA		635
83221-69-6	NA	C <sub>44</sub> H <sub>32</sub> Li <sub>3</sub> N <sub>13</sub> O <sub>11</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	1050
83221-72-1	NA	C <sub>44</sub> H <sub>35</sub> Li <sub>2</sub> N <sub>13</sub> NaO <sub>11</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	823
84878-16-0	NA	C <sub>34</sub> H <sub>27</sub> LiN <sub>13</sub> NaO <sub>7</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	860

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
84878-17-1	NA	NO OH NAPE OF REAL PROPERTY OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPER	(g/mol) 939
85169-18-2	NA	C <sub>34</sub> H <sub>23</sub> K <sub>2</sub> N <sub>9</sub> O <sub>13</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	801
93803-37-3	NA	C <sub>37</sub> H <sub>28</sub> N <sub>10</sub> O <sub>10</sub> S <sub>2</sub> ·3C <sub>4</sub> H <sub>11</sub> NO	807
102082-94-0	NA	C <sub>34</sub> H <sub>27</sub> N <sub>11</sub> O <sub>11</sub> S <sub>3</sub> Li	873

Table A-4. Structural identity information for the eight Azo Reactive Dyes

I UDIO / L TI O	naotaiai laoninty illion	mation for the eight /tee measure b	, 00	
CAS RN	C.I. name or common	Chemical structure and chemical	Molar weight	ì
	name	formula	(g/mol)	i

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
17095-24-8	Reactive Black 5		991
		C <sub>26</sub> H <sub>21</sub> N <sub>5</sub> Na <sub>4</sub> O <sub>19</sub> S <sub>6</sub>	
59641-46-2	NA	02611211V51V44O19O6	738
		$C_{26}H_{20}CIN_7O_{11}S_3$	
83399-85-3	NA		1002
		$C_{35}H_{17}CI_2Li_2N_7Na_2O_{13}S$	
83400-10-6	NA	HO JOH OH OH OH	914
		$C_{29}H_{13}C_{l2}Li_2N_5Na_2O_{14}S_4$	

CAS RN	C.I. name or common name	Chemical structure and chemical formula	Molar weight (g/mol)
83400-11-7	Reactive Black 158		885
83400-12-8	NA	$C_{32}H_{18}CIF_{2}LiN_{6}Na_{2}O_{11}S_{3}$	885
85586-78-3	NA		964
108624-00-6	Reactive Blue 225	C <sub>33</sub> H <sub>18</sub> CIK <sub>2</sub> N <sub>9</sub> Na <sub>2</sub> O <sub>12</sub> S <sub>4</sub>	1015

Table A-5. Available experimental data for physical and chemical properties of individual Azo Direct Dyes

C.I. name or	C.I. name or Property Value Reference					
common name (CAS	Property	value	Reference			
RN)	Material Lite	000 m m/L (DT)	Managa et al. 2000			
Direct Yellow 11	Water solubility	200 mg/L (RT)	Wang et al. 2008			
(1325-37-7)						
Direct Yellow 11	Melting/decomposition point	Decomposes without melting when heated to 390°C	GuideChem 2013			
(1325-37-7)						
Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt	Melting/decomposition point	< -12°C	BASF 2004			
(65150-80-3)						
Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt	Water solubility	Miscible	BASF 2004			
(65150-80-3)						
Direct Yellow 12	Water solubility	25 mg/L	Ghaedi et al. 2012			
(2870-32-8)						
Direct Yellow 12	Water solubility	25–125 mg/L (27°C)	Khaled et al. 2009			
(2870-32-8)						
Direct Yellow 12	Water solubility	25–40 mg/L (27°C)	Ghaedi et al. 2013			
(2870-32-8)	Material Lite	20	Characted 2004			
Direct Orange 26	Water solubility	30 mg/mL	Shen et al. 2001			
(3626-36-6)						
Direct Violet 51	Water solubility	20 mg/mL	Green 1990			
(5489-77-0)						
Direct Orange 39	Water solubility	20 mg/mL	Vujevic et al. 2004			
(1325-54-8)						
Direct Blue 71	Water solubility	100 mg/mL	Oranusi and Ogugbue 2002			
(4399-55-7)						
Direct Blue 71	Water solubility	40 mg/mL	Green 1990			
(4399-55-7)	M. 4. 1.199					
Direct Blue 71	Water solubility	60 mg/mL	Franciscon et al. 2012			
(4399-55-7)						
Direct Blue 71	Melting/decomposition point	175°C	Acros Organics 1997			
(4399-55-7)						

Table A-6. Available experimental data for physical and chemical properties of

individual Azo Reactive Dyes

C.I. name or	Property	Value	Reference
common name (CAS RN)			
Reactive Black 5	Water solubility	> 2000 mg/L	ETAD 2008
(17095-24-8)			
Reactive Black 5	Water solubility	100 mg/L	Chompuchan et al. 2010
(17095-24-8)			
Reactive Black 5	Water solubility	40 mg/L	Dojcinovic et al. 2012
(17095-24-8)			
Reactive Black 5	Water solubility	200 mg/L	Kumar et al. 2012
(17095-24-8)			
Reactive Black 5	Water solubility	200 mg/L	Green 1990
(17095-24-8)			
Reactive Black 5	Water solubility	60 mg/mL	Franciscon et al. 2012
(17095-24-8)			
Reactive Black 5	Melting/decomposition point	> 300°C	Rohilla et al. 2012
(17095-24-8)			
Reactive Blue 225	Water solubility	Very soluble (> 15%)	Technology Supplies Ltd. 2012
(108624-00-6)			

Table A-7. Summary of modelled data relevant to the persistence of Monoazo Direct Dyes<sup>a</sup>

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
Air	Atmospheric oxidation	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	$t_{1/2} = 0.053-1.184 d$	< 2
Air	Ozone reaction	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A
Water	Hydrolysis	HYDROWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	Not in training set	N/A
Water	Primary biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup> Sub-model 4: Expert survey  (qualitative results)	1.926–2.782 <sup>d</sup> (biodegrades slowly)	≥ 182
Water	Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup> Sub-model 3: Expert	0.362–1.626 <sup>d</sup> (biodegrades slowly)	≥ 182

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
		survey		
		(qualitative results)		
Water	Biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	−ITI linear prob <sup>e</sup>	≥ 182
		Sub-model 5:	(biodegrades slowly)	
		MITI linear probability		
Water	Biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	0 <sup>e</sup>	≥ 182
		Sub-model 6:	(biodegrades very slowly)	
		MITI non-linear		
		probability		
Water	Biodegradation (aerobic)	DS TOPKAT ©2005- 2009	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>
		Probability		
Water	Biodegradation (aerobic)	CATALOGIC 2012	% BOD = 0-20	≥ 182
		% BOD	(biodegrades slowly)	

Abbreviations: BOD, biological oxygen demand; MITI, Ministry of International Trade and Industry (Japan); N/A, not

Table A-8. Summary of modelled data relevant to the persistence of Disazo Direct Dyes<sup>a</sup>

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
Air	Atmospheric oxidation	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	$t_{1/2} = 0.056 - 0.632 d$	< 2
Air	Ozone reaction	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A
Water	Hydrolysis	HYDROWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	Not in training set	N/A
Water	Primary biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 4: Expert survey	2.505–3.390 <sup>d</sup> (biodegrades slowly)	≥ 182
Water	Ultimate	(qualitative results) BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	0.690-1.650 <sup>d</sup>	≥ 182
	biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 3: Expert survey	(biodegrades slowly)	

applicable;  $t_{2}$ , half-life a Substances used in this summary include the following CAS RNs: 1325-37-7, 6471-09-6, 10114-47-3, 65150-80-3, 71033-21-1.

bEPI Suite (2012).

Model does not provide an estimate for this type of structure.

dOutput is a numerical score from 0 to 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup>Output is a probability score.

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
		(qualitative results)		
Water	Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	-0.043 to -1.644 <sup>e</sup>	≥ 182
	(aerobic)	Sub-model 5:  MITI linear probability	(biodegrades slowly)	
Water	Ultimate	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	O <sub>e</sub>	≥ 182
Water	biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 6:	(biodegrades very slowly)	2 102
		MITI non-linear probability	5.5 m, y,	
Water	Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	DS TOPKAT ©2005– 2009	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>
		Probability		
Water	Ultimate biodegradation	CATALOGIC 2012	% BOD = 0-20	≥ 182
	(aerobic)	% BOD	(biodegrades slowly)	

Abbreviations: BOD, biological oxygen demand; MITI, Ministry of International Trade and Industry (Japan); N/A, not

Table A-9. Summary of modelled data relevant to the persistence of Polyazo **Direct Dyes**<sup>a</sup>

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
Air	Atmospheric oxidation	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	$t_{1/2} = 0.030-1.007 d$	< 2
Air	Ozone reaction	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A
Water	Hydrolysis	HYDROWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	Not in training set	N/A
Water	Primary	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	1.648-2.953 <sup>d</sup>	≥ 182
	biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 4: Expert survey	(biodegrades slowly)	
		(qualitative results)		
Water	Ultimate biodegradation	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	−0.449 to 1.120 <sup>d</sup>	≥ 182
	(aerobic)	Sub-model 3: Expert survey	(biodegrades slowly)	

applicable;  $t_{2}$ , half-life a Substances used in this summary include the following CAS RNs: 2829-42-7, 2870-32-8, 3214-47-9, 3626-36-6, 3687-80-7, 5001-72-9, 5489-77-0, 6420-33-3, 6420-41-3, 6420-43-5, 12217-64-0, 28706-21-0, 38801-08-0, 53523-90-3, 72139-21-0, 72152-50-2, 72245-49-9, 72749-87-2, 72749-88-3, 72869-93-3, 75768-93-3, 83221-53-8, 83221-54-9, 83221-56-1, 83221-73-2, 83221-74-3, 83232-28-4, 83232-29-5, 83232-30-8, 83232-31-9, 83232-32-0, 83783-94-2, 83783-95-3, 83783-96-4, 83783-99-7, 85269-31-4, 110152-63-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>EPI Suite (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Model does not provide an estimate for this type of structure.

dOutput is a numerical score from 0 to 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup>Output is a probability score.

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
		(qualitative results)		
Water	Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup> Sub-model 5:	-3.171 to -0.712 <sup>e</sup> (biodegrades slowly)	≥ 182
		MITI linear probability	(crodogrados siomy)	
Water	Ultimate biodegradation	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	0 <sup>e</sup>	≥ 182
	(aerobic)	Sub-model 6:	(biodegrades very slowly)	
		MITI non-linear probability		
Water	Ultimate biodegradation (aerobic)	DS TOPKAT ©2005– 2009	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>
		Probability		
Water	Ultimate biodegradation	CATALOGIC 2012	% BOD = 0-20	≥ 182
	(aerobic)	% BOD	(biodegrades slowly)	

Abbreviations: BOD, biological oxygen demand; MITI, Ministry of International Trade and Industry (Japan); N/A, not

Table A-10. Summary of modelled data relevant to the persistence of Azo **Reactive Dyes** 

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
Air	Atmospheric oxidation	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	t <sub>½</sub> = 0.029–4.540 d	≥ 2
Air	Ozone reaction	AOPWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A
Water	Hydrolysis	HYDROWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	Not in training set	N/A
Water	Primary	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	2.067–2.770 <sup>d</sup>	≥ 182
	biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 4: Expert survey	(biodegrades slowly)	
		(qualitative results)		
Water	Ultimate	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	-0.390 to 1.097 <sup>d</sup>	≥ 182
	biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 3: Expert survey	(biodegrades slowly)	
		(qualitative results)		

applicable; t<sub>½</sub>, half-life <sup>a</sup>Substances used in this summary include the following CAS RNs: 1325-54-8, 4399-55-7, 6406-87-7, 6476-10-4, 10134-33-5, 10482-42-5, 32829-81-5, 71767-19-6, 71873-49-9, 72245-56-8, 75150-14-0, 83221-68-5, 83221-69-6, 83221-72-1, 84878-16-0, 84878-17-1, 85169-18-2, 93803-37-3, 102082-94-0.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>EPI Suite (2012).

cModel does not provide an estimate for this type of structure. dOutput is a numerical score from 0 to 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup>Output is a probability score.

Environmental compartment	Fate process	Model and model basis	Model result and prediction	Extrapolated half-life (d)
Water	Ultimate	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	-2.288 to -1.305 <sup>e</sup>	≥ 182
	biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 5:	(biodegrades slowly)	
		MITI linear probability		
Water	Ultimate	BIOWIN 2010 <sup>b</sup>	0 <sup>e</sup>	≥ 182
	biodegradation (aerobic)	Sub-model 6:	(biodegrades very slowly)	
		MITI non-linear probability		
Water	Ultimate	DS TOPKAT ©2005- 2009	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A <sup>c</sup>
	biodegradation			
	(aerobic)	Probability		
Water	Ultimate	CATALOGIC 2012	% BOD = 0-20	≥ 182
	biodegradation (aerobic)	% BOD	(biodegrades slowly)	

Abbreviations: BOD, biological oxygen demand; MITI, Ministry of International Trade and Industry (Japan); N/A, not applicable;  $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ , half-life a Substances used in this summary include the following CAS RNs: 17095-24-8, 59641-46-2, 83399-85-3, 83400-10-

Table A-11. Available experimental data for aquatic toxicity of Azo Direct Dyes

C.I. name (CAS RN)	Test organism <sup>a</sup>	Type of test (duration)	Endpoint	Value (mg/L)	Reference
Direct Yellow 11	Pimephales promelas	Acute (96 h)	NOEC	> 180	Little et al. 1974
(1325-37-7)					
Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt	Daphnia magna	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	100	BASF 2004
(65150-80- 3)					
Direct Yellow 12	Pimephales promelas	Acute (24 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	180	Little and Lamb 1973
(2870-32-8)	D'	A (40 L)	1.0	400	1.201 1.1 1
Direct Yellow 12	Pimephales promelas	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	130	Little and Lamb 1973
(2870-32-8)	5	0, , , , , , ,		40-	
Direct	Pimephales	Chronic (4 d)	LC <sub>50</sub>	125	Little and Lamb

<sup>6, 83400-11-7, 83400-12-8, 85586-78-3, 108624-00-6.</sup> <sup>b</sup>EPI Suite (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Model does not provide an estimate for this type of structure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>Output is a numerical score from 0 to 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup>Output is a probability score.

C.I. name (CAS RN)	Test organism <sup>a</sup>	Type of test (duration)	Endpoint	Value (mg/L)	Reference
Yellow 12	promelas				1973
(2870-32-8)					
Direct Yellow 50	Oryzias latipes	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	600	CHRIP ©2008
(3214-47-9)					
Direct Yellow 50	Leuciscus idus	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>100</sub>	140–200	Hamburger et al. 1977
(3214-47-9) Direct	Leuciscus idus	A quita (40 h)	LC <sub>100</sub>	> 500	Homburger et el
Yellow 50 (3214-47-9)	Leuciscus Idus	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>100</sub>	> 500	Hamburger et al. 1977
Direct Yellow 50	Oncorhynchus mykiss	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>100</sub>	> 500	Hamburger et al. 1977
(3214-47-9) Direct Yellow 50	Oncorhynchus mykiss	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>100</sub>	> 1000	Hamburger et al. 1977
(3214-47-9) Direct Yellow 50 (3214-47-9)	Leuciscus idus	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	140–200	Hamburger et al. 1977
Direct Yellow 50	Phoxinus phoxinus	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 1000	Hamburger et al. 1977
(3214-47-9) Direct Yellow 50 (3214-47-9)	Phoxinus phoxinus	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 1700	Hamburger et al. 1977
Direct Yellow 50	Pimephales promelas	Acute (24 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 180	Little et al. 1974
(3214-47-9) Direct	Pimephales	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 180	Little et al. 1974
Yellow 50	promelas	Acute (40 II)	LO <sub>50</sub>	7 100	Little Gt al. 1914
(3214-47-9) Direct Yellow 50 (3214-47-9)	Pimephales promelas	Chronic (4 d)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 180	Little and Lamb 1973

Abbreviations: CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number; C.I., Colour Index;  $LC_{50}$ , the concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 50% of the test organisms;  $LC_{100}$ , the concentration of a substance that is

estimated to be lethal to 100% of the test organisms; NOEC, no-observed-effect concentration (the highest concentration in a toxicity test not causing a statistically significant effect in comparison with the controls) <sup>a</sup> Common names for the species listed are as follows: fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*); freshwater water flea (*Daphnia magna*): Japanese killifish (*Oryzias latipes*); ide (*Leuciscus idus*); rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*); and common minnow (*Phoxinus phoxinus*).

Table A-12. Empirical data for aquatic toxicity for Azo Reactive Dyes

Table A-12. Empirical data for addatic toxicity for A20 Reactive Dyes					
C.I. name (CAS RN)	Test organism <sup>a</sup>	Type of test (duration)	Endpoint	Value (mg/L) <sup>b</sup>	Reference
Reactive Black 5	Oryzias latipes	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	1000	MITI 1992
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Oryzias latipes	Acute (48 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	100–500	Øllgaard et al. 1998
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Danio rerio	Chronic (4 d)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 500	ETAD 2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub>	> 128	ETAD 2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Daphnia magna	Acute (48 h)	EC <sub>50</sub>	> 1000	CHRIP ©2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)	5 , ,	<b>2</b> 1 1 (2.1 1)			211717 00000
Reactive Black 5	Daphnia magna	Chronic (21 d)	EC <sub>50</sub>	> 20	CHRIP ©2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Daphnia magna	Chronic (21 d)	NOEC	1.3	CHRIP ©2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Oryzias latipes	Acute (96 h)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100	CHRIP ©2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Oryzias latipes	Chronic (14 d)	LC <sub>50</sub>	> 100	CHRIP ©2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)					
Reactive Black 5	Oryzias latipes	Chronic (14 d)	NOEC	> 100	CHRIP ©2008
(CAS 17095-24-8)					

Abbreviations: CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number; C.I., Colour Index;  $EC_{50}$ , the concentration of a substance that is estimated to cause some effect on 50% of the test organisms;  $LC_{50}$ , the concentration of a substance that is estimated to be lethal to 50% of the test organisms; NOEC, no-observed-effect concentration (the highest concentration in a toxicity test not causing a statistically significant effect in comparison with the controls) a Common names for the species listed are as follows: fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*); freshwater water flea (*Daphnia magna*); Japanese killifish (*Oryzias latipes*); and zebrafish (*Danio rerio*).

# **Appendix B. Exposure Assessment**

## Appendix B1. Dermal and Oral Exposure via Contact with Textile Materials

Table B1-1: Estimated exposures to 14 Azo Direct Dyes via contact with textile materials

Product scenario	Daily exposure (mg/kg-bw per day)	
Textiles; personal apparel (adult; dermal)	0.0026	
Textiles; baby sleeper (infant; dermal)	0.004	
Textiles (infant; oral)	2.7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	

# Summary B1: Exposure factors and algorithms for estimating exposure from textile materials

### Dermal exposure from textile materials

Exposure estimate 
$$\frac{SA \times AW \times SCF \times C \times M \times F}{BW} = \frac{SA \times AW \times SCF \times C \times M \times UF \times F \times P}{BW}$$

Dermal exposure was estimated assuming full (100%) body coverage from wearing clothing to account for exposures from multiple pieces of apparel that cover the entire surface area of the body.

### Oral exposure from textile materials

Exposure estimate = 
$$= \frac{SA \times AW \times C \times M \times F \times P}{BW} \frac{SA \times AW \times C \times M \times F}{BW}$$

Oral exposure was estimated for an infant mouthing a textile object (e.g., blanket, textile toy) on a daily basis.

### SA: Total surface area

For dermal exposure (Health Canada 1998) = 18 200 cm<sup>2</sup> (adult; personal apparel); = 3020 cm<sup>2</sup> (infant; baby sleeper)

For oral exposure = 20 cm<sup>2</sup> (Zeilmaker et al. 2000)

AW: Area weight of textile = 20 mg/cm<sup>2</sup> (US EPA 2012)

SCF: Skin contact factor = 1

C: Concentration = 0.01 (unitless) (BfR 2007)

Based on the default model developed by the "Textiles" Working Group established at the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR 2007), assuming that a standard textile garment of 100 g/m² is dyed with 1% active dye ingredient.

### **M:** Migration fraction = 0.0005 (BfR 2007)

The migration of azo dyes from textiles varies considerably depending on the type of fibre, the type of dye used, the dye load, dyeing technology and colour intensity and after treatment. The exposure from textiles is partly dictated by the amount of dye that migrates from textile material onto human skin (ETAD 1983) or via mouthing. The "Textiles" Working Group (BfR 2007) uses a peak initial migration of 0.5% to estimate exposure to dyes from newly bought unwashed garments, and the chronic migration rate is assumed to be one tenth of the value measured for the first migration to reflect exposure after initial washes. It is assumed that the sweat migration rate is similar to the salivary migration rate; this is consistent with observations of leaching behaviours of dyes from textiles reported by Zeilmaker et al. (1999). Accordingly, the fraction of dye that migrates from a textile material per wear is assumed to be 0.0005 for both dermal and oral exposure.

### **UF**: Uptake Fraction = 1

In the absence of dermal absorption data, the dermal uptake fraction of these substances was conservatively assumed to be 1. Although the dermal uptake of these substances is likely less than 1, potentially there could be substantial absorption if skin bacteria cleaved azo bonds, thereby releasing aromatic amines, which could then be more readily absorbed

F: Frequency = 1x/day

**BW:** Body weight = 7.5 kg for infant, 70.9 kg for adult (Health Canada 1998)

### P: Probability that a given Azo Direct Dye is present in textile = 10%

In the RIVM risk assessment of azo dyes and aromatic amines from garments and footwear (Zeilmaker et al. 1999), the authors derived a chance of 8% for the appearance of carcinogenic azo dyes and aromatic amines in garments based on four European studies. Presumably, there would be a higher prevalence in the use of non-EU22 amines and their dyes, compared to EU22 amines and related dyes, since the former are not prohibited. None of the Azo Direct Dyes used to dye textiles in Canada (i.e., Direct Green 28, Direct Orange 26, Direct Orange 39, Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt, Direct Red 31, Direct Violet 51, Direct Yellow 12, Direct Yellow 28, Direct Yellow 50, Direct Black 56, CAS RN 28706-21-0, CAS RN 71033-21-1, CAS RN 83221-56-1 and CAS RN 84878-17-1) derive from EU22 amines; the prevalence of these dye is not clear because there is relatively limited product testing and monitoring on non-EU22 amines and associated dyes. Based on data available (Danish EPA 1998; Kawakami 2012; Health Canada 2013), the prevalence of certain non-EU22 amines was found to range from 0% to 23.7% (aniline). Since several dyes can derive from a given aromatic amine, the prevalence of an associated dye would be lower. Given the conservatism used in other parameters in this exposure scenario (e.g. full body coverage), the probability that a given Azo Direct Dye is present in a textile is assumed to be 10% in this Screening Assessment based on professional judgement. This is considered reasonable since the chances of an individual's outfit containing a given Azo Direct Dye every day are low.

### **Appendix B2: Dermal Exposure via Contact with Leather Products**

Table B2-1: Estimated exposures to nine Azo Direct Dyes from dermal contact with leather products

Product scenario	Per event exposure (mg/kg-bw)
Shoes	5.8 × 10 <sup></sup>
Boots	1.9 × 10 <sup></sup>
Gloves	2.1 × 10 <sup></sup>
Jackets and coats	7.7 × 10 <sup></sup>
Trousers	5.0 × 10 <sup></sup>
Furniture	2.3 × 10 <sup></sup>
Toys	4.0 × 10 <sup>-1</sup>

### Summary B2: Exposure factors and algorithms for estimating exposure from leather products

### Dermal exposure from leather products

Exposure estimate = 
$$\frac{SA \times AW \times SCF \times C \times M}{BW}$$

Prolonged skin contact with articles of leather can result in dermal exposure to dyes used in leather dyeing. Of all the leather products considered, the potential drivers for exposure are presented below: furniture, apparel (e.g., jackets, trousers and gloves), footwear (e.g., shoes and boots) and toys, where it is assumed that prolonged contact with the infant's palms can occur when playing with the toy. As a conservative approach, exposure is assumed for all products. The exposure estimates presented below are based on conservative assumptions, as well as not taking into account a final application of a polyurethane sealant coating, which would further reduce the consumer's dermal exposure to the leather dye.

### SA: Surface area of skin contact (Health Canada 1998; Therapeutic Guidelines Ltd. 2008)

Shoes: 1275 cm<sup>2</sup> (adult feet)

Boots: 4185 cm<sup>2</sup> (adult legs and feet)

Gloves: 455 cm<sup>2</sup> (adult hands)

Jackets and coats: 8920 cm<sup>2</sup> (adult trunk and arms)

Trousers: 5820 cm<sup>2</sup> (adult lower body)
Furniture: 5005 cm<sup>2</sup> (adult back, buttocks and back of thighs)

Toys: 92.5 cm<sup>2</sup> (infant palms)

**AW:** Area weight of leather = 0.15 g/cm<sup>2</sup> (Danish EPA 2012)

### SCF: Skin contact factor

Shoes: 1 Boots: 0.1 Gloves: 0.1

Jackets and coats: 0.19

Trousers: 0.19 Furniture: 0.1

### Toys: 1

When the entire leather article is in direct contact with the skin, SCF is assumed to be 1. When the leather article is in indirect contact with the skin (e.g., shielding due to interior lining), SCF is assumed to be 0.1, which is a default value used to account for exposure due to diffusion of sweat-extracted dye from the leather material through the shielding fabric onto the skin (Zeilmaker et al. 1999). When a portion of the leather article is in direct contact and the remaining portion is in indirect contact, a weighted SCF is calculated:  $[(SA_{direct} \times 1) + (SA_{indirect} \times 0.1)]/(SA_{total})$ .

**C:** Concentration = 0.02 (unitless weight fraction) (Øllgaard et al. 1998)

### **M:** Migration fraction = 0.39 over 365 days

The dermal exposure to dyes from leather is partly dictated by the amount of dye that migrates from leather material onto human skin. Zeilmaker et al. (1999) measured the experimental leaching of azo dyes from leather footwear material to be 15% and 39%. The leaching was determined by extracting from 1 g of unwashed material from the upper side of a newly bought leather shoe with 100 mL sweat stimulant (extraction conditions: 16 hours at 37°C while shaking). These extraction conditions are expected to overestimate the migration of dyes from sweat. In estimating exposure to dyes from leather articles, it is assumed that 39% of the dye content leaches over 1 year and is available for dermal exposure.

**BW:** Body weight = 7.5 kg for infant, 70.9 kg for adult (Health Canada 1998)

# **Appendix C. Health Effects Assessment Information**

Table C-1: Overview of empirical health effects data availability for the 61 Azo

**Direct Dyes** 

C.I. name <sup>a</sup> CAS RN	Cancer bioassay	Genetic toxicity	Repeated-dose toxicity	Acute toxicity	Azo bond reduction
Direct Yellow 11 1325-37-7 <sup>b</sup>	-	In vitro	-	-	In vitro
Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt 65150-80-3 <sup>b</sup>	-	See data for Direct Yellow 11	-	-	See data for Direct Yellow 11
Direct Yellow 28 10114-47-3 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	-	-	_
71033-21-1 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	_	_	_
Direct Green 28 6471-09-6 <sup>b</sup>	-	In vitro	-	-	In vitro
Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt 75768-93-3 <sup>b</sup>	-	In vivo; in vitro	-	1	-
Direct Violet 51 5489-77-0 <sup>b</sup>	-	_	-	-	In vitro
Direct Yellow 50 3214-47-9 <sup>b</sup>	_	In vitro	_	_	In vitro
Direct Orange 26 3626-36-6 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	-	-	In vitro
Direct Red 31 5001-72-9 <sup>b</sup>	_	In vitro	_	_	In vitro
Direct Yellow 34 6420-33-3 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	-	_	_
Direct Red 62 6420-43-5	-	_	-	-	_
Direct Orange 72 12217-64-0	-	_	-	-	_
28706-21-0 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	_	_	_
38801-08-0	_	_	_	_	_
72152-50-2	_	_	_	_	_
72245-49-9	_	_	_	_	_
72749-87-2	ı	_	_	-	_

C.I. name <sup>a</sup> CAS RN	Cancer bioassay	Genetic toxicity	Repeated-dose toxicity	Acute toxicity	Azo bond reduction
72749-88-3	_	_	_	_	_
83221-56-1 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	-	_	See data for Direct Orange 26
83221-73-2	_	_	_	_	_
83221-74-3	_	_	_	-	_
83232-28-4	_	_	_	_	_
83232-29-5	_	_	_	_	_
83232-30-8	_	_	_	_	_
83232-31-9	_	_	_	_	_
83232-32-0	_	-	_	1	_
83783-94-2	_	1	_	ı	_
83783-95-3	_	_	_	_	_
83783-96-4	_	_	_	_	_
83221-53-8	_	_	_	_	_
83221-54-9	_	_	_	_	_
Direct Red 26	_	_	_	_	_
3687-80-7					
Direct Red 4	_	-	_	1	_
6420-41-3					
Direct Yellow 26 2829-42-7	_	_	-	-	_
Direct Yellow 12 2870-32-8b	-	In vivo; in vitro	-	-	In vitro
53523-90-3	_	_	_		_
72139-21-0	_	_	_	_	_
83783-99-7	_	_	_		_
85269-31-4	_	_	_		_
110152-63-1	_	_	_		_
72869-93-3	_	_	_		_
84878-17-1 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	_	_	_
84878-16-0	_	_	_	_	_
102082-94-0					
72245-56-8					
Direct Black 56	_				
10134-33-5 <sup>b</sup>	_	_	_	_	_
6476-10-4	_	_	_	_	_
10482-42-5	_	_	_	_	_
6406-87-7	_	_	_	_	_
75150-14-0	_	_	_	_	_
71873-49-9					
32829-81-5					
71767-19-6					
1 1 1 0 1 - 1 3 <b>-</b> 0		_	_	_	_

C.I. name <sup>a</sup> CAS RN	Cancer bioassay	Genetic toxicity	Repeated-dose toxicity	Acute toxicity	Azo bond reduction
83221-69-6	_	_	_	_	_
Direct Blue 71 4399-55-7b	1	In vitro	_	_	In vitro
Direct Orange 39 1325-54-8b	_	In vitro	Oral one- generation study	Oral and dermal acute toxicity studies	In vitro
93803-37-3	_	ı	_	_	1
85169-18-2	_		_	_	
83221-72-1	_	_	_	_	_

Abbreviations: –, no data; CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number; C.I., Colour Index a C.I. names were provided where they are available.

Table C-2: Overview of empirical health effects data available for eight Azo **Reactive Dves** 

Reactive Dyes					
C.I. name <sup>a</sup> CAS RN	Cancer bioassay	Genetic toxicity	Repeated-dose toxicity	Acute toxicity	Azo bond reduction
59641-46-2	_	_	_	_	_
83400-10-6	_	_	_	_	_
Reactive Black 158 83400-11-7 <sup>b</sup>	-	_	-	_	_
83400-12-8	_	_	_	_	_
Reactive Black 5 17095-24-8 <sup>b</sup>	Inadequate	In vivo; in vitro	Oral short-term and developmental toxicity studies	Oral acute toxicity studies	In vivo; in vitro
Reactive Blue 225 108624-00-6 <sup>b</sup>	-	_	_	_	_
83399-85-3	_	_	_	_	_
85586-78-3	_	_	_	_	_

Abbreviations: –, no data; CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number; C.I., Colour Index <sup>a</sup> C.I. names were provided where they are available. <sup>b</sup> Substances with exposure of the general population of Canada.

Table C-3: Structurally similar substances for the 18 Azo Direct Dyes

Substance name CAS RN	Structure
Direct Black 19 6428-31-5	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Substances with exposure of the general population of Canada.

Substance name CAS RN	Structure
Acid Black 210 85223-29-6	
An azo direct dye in internal database of Health Canada	Information cannot be disclosed
Amaranth 915-67-3	
New Coccine 2611-82-7	Har Na*
Acid Red 1 3734-67-6	H,c I III III III III III III III III III

Abbreviation: CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number

Table C-4: Postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products for the 18 Azo Direct Dyes<sup>b</sup>

Parent C.I. name CAS RN <sup>a</sup>	Postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products Name and CAS RN where available or SMILES	Presence of sulfonic acid substituent(s)
Direct Yellow 11 1325-37-7	4-Amino,4'-nitro -2,2'-stilbenedisulfonic acid 119-72-2	Yes
Direct Yellow 11 lithium salt 65150-80-3	4-Amino, 4'-nitro -2,2'-stilbenedisulfonic acid 119-72-2	Yes
Direct Yellow 28 10114-47-3	2-(4-aminophenyl)-6-methylbenzo[a]thiazole-7-sulfonic acid C1(c2ccc(N)cc2)=Nc2c(c(S(=O)(=O)O)c(C)cc2)S1	Yes
71033-21-1	2-(4-Aminophenyl)-6-methylbenzothiazole-7-sulfonic acid 130-17-6	Yes
71033-21-1	2-(4-aminophenyl)-6-methylbenzo[a]thiazole-5-sulfonic acid Nc1ccc(C2=Nc3c(S2)cc(C)c(S(=O)(O)=O)c3)cc1	Yes
Direct Green 28 6471-09-6	Mesalamine 89-57-6	No
Direct Green 28 6471-09-6	1-amino-4-((4-((4-((4-aminophenyl)amino)-6-(phenylamino)-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)amino)-3-sulfonatophenyl)amino)-9,10-dioxo-9,10-dihydroanthracene-2-sulfonate, sodium salt (1:2) c12C(=O)c3c(C(=O)c1c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)[O-])cc2Nc1cc(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(Nc2nc(Nc4cccc4)nc(Nc4ccc(N)cc4)n2)cc1)ccc3.[Na+].[Na+]	Yes
Direct Red 81	p-Phenylenediamine	No

Parent C.I. name CAS RN <sup>a</sup>	Postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products Name and CAS RN where available or SMILES	Presence of sulfonic acid substituent(s)
triethanolamine salt 75768-93-3	106-50-3	
Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt 75768-93-3	Sulfanilic acid 121-57-3	Yes
Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt 75768-93-3	3-amino-7-benzamido-4-hydroxynaphthalene-2-sulfonic acid C(=O)(c1ccccc1)Nc1cc2c(c(O)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)O)c2)cc1	Yes
Direct Violet 51 5489-77-0	4-Amino-2-methoxy-5-methylaniline 5307-00-6	No
Direct Violet 51 5489-77-0	2-Amino-3,5-xylenesulfonic acid 88-22-2	Yes
Direct Violet 51 5489-77-0	3-amino-4-hydroxy-7-(phenylamino)naphthalene-2-sulfonate, sodium salt (1:1) c1(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(N)c(O)c2c(cc(Nc3ccccc3)cc2)c1.[Na+]	Yes
Direct Yellow 50 3214-47-9	3-Aminonaphthalene-1,5-disulfonic acid 131-27-1	Yes
Direct Yellow 50 3214-47-9	1,3-bis(4-amino-3-methylphenyl)urea c1(N)c(C)cc(NC(=0)Nc2cc(C)c(N)cc2)cc1	No
Direct Orange 26 3626-36-6	Aniline 62-53-3	No
Direct Orange 26 3626-36-6	7,7'-(carbonylbis(azanediyl))bis(3-amino-4-hydroxynaphthalene-2-sulfonic acid) c1(S(=O)(=O)O)c(N)c(O)c2c(cc(NC(=O)Nc3cc4c(c(O)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)O)c4)cc3)cc2)c1	Yes
Direct Red 31 5001-72-9	Aniline 62-53-3	No
Direct Red 31 5001-72-9	7,7'-azanediylbis(3-amino-4-hydroxynaphthalene-2-sulfonate), sodium salt (1:2) c1(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(N)c(O)c2c(cc(Nc3cc4c(c(O)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c4)cc3)cc2)c1.[Na+].[Na+]	Yes
Direct Yellow 34 6420-33-3	3-Aminonaphthalene-1,5-disulfonic acid 131-27-1	Yes
Direct Yellow 34 6420-33-3	1,3-bis(4-amino-2-methoxy-5-methylphenyl)urea c1(NC(=O)Nc2c(OC)cc(N)c(C)c2)c(OC)cc(N)c(C)c1	No
28706-21-0	Amido-G-Acid 86-65-7	Yes
28706-21-0	1,3-bis(4-amino-3-methylphenyl)urea c1(N)c(C)cc(NC(=O)Nc2cc(C)c(N)cc2)cc1	No
83221-56-1	Aniline 62-53-3	No
83221-56-1	7,7'-(carbonylbis(azanediyl))bis(3-amino-4-hydroxynaphthalene-2-sulfonic acid) c1(S(=O)(=O)O)c(N)c(O)c2c(cc(NC(=O)Nc3cc4c(c(O)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)O)c4)cc3)cc2)c1	Yes
Direct Yellow 12 2870-32-8	p-Phenetidine 156-43-4	No
Direct Yellow 12 2870-32-8	Amsonic acid sodium salt 25394-13-2	Yes

Parent C.I. name CAS RN <sup>a</sup>	Postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products Name and CAS RN where available or SMILES	Presence of sulfonic acid substituent(s)
84878-17-1	4-Nitroaniline	No
	100-01-6	
84878-17-1	4-amino-1,3-Benzenediol 13066-95-0	No
84878-17-1	3,4,6-triamino-5-hydroxynaphthalene-2,7-disulfonate, potasium salt (1:2) c1(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(N)c(O)c2c(N)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)[O-])cc2c1.[K+].[K+]	Yes
84878-17-1	4-amino- <i>N</i> -(4-aminophenyl)benzenesulfonamide c1(N)ccc(NS(=O)(=O)c2ccc(N)cc2)cc1	No
Direct Black 56 10134-33-5	Aniline 62-53-3	No
Direct Black 56 10134-33-5	5,8-diaminonaphthalene-2-sulfonate, sodium salt (1:1) c1(N)c2c(c(N)cc1)cc(S(=O)(=O)[O-])cc2.[Na+]	Yes
Direct Black 56 10134-33-5	3,6-diamino-4-hydroxynaphthalene-2-sulfonate, sodium salt (1:1) c1(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(N)c(O)c2c(ccc(N)c2)c1.[Na+]	Yes
Direct Blue 71 4399-55-7	3-Aminonaphthalene-1,5-disulfonic acid 131-27-1	Yes
Direct Blue 71 4399-55-7	1,4-Naphthalenediamine 2243-61-0	No
Direct Blue 71 4399-55-7	3,7-diamino-4-hydroxynaphthalene-2-sulfonate, sodium salt (1:1) c1(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(N)c(O)c2c(cc(N)cc2)c1.[Na+]	Yes
Direct Blue 71 4399-55-7	5,8-diaminonaphthalene-2-sulfonate, sodium salt (1:1) c1(N)c2c(c(N)cc1)cc(S(=O)(=O)[O-])cc2.[Na+]	Yes
Direct Orange 39 1325-54-8	p-Phenylenediamine 106-50-3	No
Direct Orange 39 1325-54-8	Sodium sulfanilate 515-74-2	Yes
Direct Orange 39 1325-54-8	4,4'-Diamino-2,2'-stilbenedisulfonic acid 81-11-8	Yes

Abbreviations: CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number; C.I., Colour Index; SMILES, simplified molecular input line entry system

<sup>a</sup> C.I. names were provided where they are available.

<sup>b</sup> Monoazo, Disazo and Polyazo Direct Dyes were separated by double lines.

Table C-5: Overview of carcinogenicity and genotoxicity data for the postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products of the 18 Azo Direct Dyes<sup>a</sup>

Aromatic amine name CAS RN	Parent Azo Direct Dye C.I. name CAS RN	Carcinogenicity	Genotoxicity
4-Nitroaniline 100-01-6	84878-17-1	Negative in rats and female mice; equivocal in male mice	In vivo, negative In vitro, some positive
p-Phenylenediamine (PPD) 106-50-3	Direct Orange 39 1325-54-8 Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt 75768-93-3	Negative in rats and mice	In vivo, negative In vitro, some positive

Aromatic amine name CAS RN	Parent Azo Direct Dye C.I. name CAS RN	Carcinogenicity	Genotoxicity
Sulfanilic acid 121-57-3	Direct Red 81 triethanolamine salt 75768-93-3	_	In vivo, – In vitro, negative
Sodium sulfanilate 515-74-2	Direct Orange 39 1325-54-8	_	In vivo, – In vitro, negative
2-(4-Aminophenyl)-6- methylbenzothiazole-7- sulfonic acid 130-17-6	71033-21-1	_	In vitro, negative In vitro, mixed
<i>p</i> -Phenetidine 156-43-4	Direct Yellow 12 2870-32-8	_	In vivo, some positive In vitro, some positive
1,4- Naphthylenediamine 2243-61-0	Direct Blue 71 4399-55-7	_	In vivo, – In vitro, mixed
4-Amino-2-methoxy-5- methylaniline 5307-00-6	Direct Violet 51 5489-77-0	_	In vivo, – In vitro, negative
Aniline 62-53-3	Direct Orange 26 3626-36-6 Direct Red 31 5001-72-9 Direct Black 56 10134-33-5 83221-56-1	Positive in male rats; negative in female rats and mice	In vivo, some positive In vitro, some positive
4,4'-Diamino-2,2'- stilbenedisulfonic acid 81-11-8	Direct Orange 39 1325-54-8	Negative in rats and mice	In vivo, – In vitro, negative
Amido-G-Acid 86-65-7	28706-21-0	Inadequate evidence	In vivo, – In vitro, negative
Mesalamine 89-57-6	Direct Green 28 6471-09-6	Negative in rats and mice	In vivo, negative In vitro, negative

Abbreviations: –, no data; CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number; C.I., Colour Index <sup>a</sup>Only the aromatic amines that have empirical data identified are presented.

Table C-6: Postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products for the three Azo Reactive Dyes

Parent substance Name CAS RN <sup>a</sup>	Postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products Name and CAS RN where available or SMILES	Presence of sulfonic acid substituent(s)
Reactive Black 158 83400-11-7	2-amino-5-(((5-chloro-2,6-difluoropyrimidin-4-yl)amino)methyl)naphthalene-1-sulfonate, sodium salt (1:1)	Yes
	c1(N)c(S(=O)(=O)[O-	
	])c2c(c(CNc3c(Cl)c(F)nc(F)n3)ccc2)cc1.[Na+]	
Reactive Black 158	6-amino-4-benzamido-5-hydroxynaphthalene-1,7-disulfonate,	Yes
83400-11-7	lithium-sodium salt (1:1:1)	
	[Li+].C(=O)(c1ccccc1)Nc1c2c(O)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)[O-	
	])cc2c(S(=O)(=O)[O-])cc1.[Na+]	
Reactive Black 5	4-((2-Sulfatoethyl)sulfonyl)aniline	Yes
17095-24-8	2494-89-5	
Reactive Black 5	3,4,6-triamino-5-hydroxynaphthalene-2,7-disulfonate, sodium	Yes

Parent substance Name CAS RN <sup>a</sup>	Postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products Name and CAS RN where available or SMILES	Presence of sulfonic acid substituent(s)
17095-24-8	salt (1:2) c1(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(N)c(O)c2c(N)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)[O-])cc2c1.[Na+].[Na+]	
Reactive Blue 225 108624-00-6	4-((2-Sulfatoethyl)sulfonyl)aniline 2494-89-5	Yes
Reactive Blue 225 108624-00-6	-Amino-4-((5-chloro-2,6-difluoro-4- pyrimidinyl)amino)benzenesulphonic acid 26592-28-9	Yes
Reactive Blue 225 108624-00-6	3,4,6-triamino-5-hydroxynaphthalene-2,7-disulfonate, lithium-sodium salt (1:1:1) [Li+].c1(S(=O)(=O)[O-])c(N)c(O)c2c(N)c(N)c(S(=O)(=O)[O-])cc2c1.[Na+]	Yes

Abbreviations: CAS RN, Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number; C.I., Colour Index; SMILES, simplified molecular input line entry system

# Summary C-1: Summary of available data on carcinogenicity and genotoxicity for the postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products of the 18 Azo Direct Dyes

### 4-Nitroaniline (CAS RN 100-01-6)

The health effects of 4-Nitroaniline were assessed along with Cartain Aromatic Amines in a separate Screening Assessment (Environment Canda and Health Canada 2014b). 4-Nitroaniline did not exhibit carcinogenicity in male and female rats and female mice via 2-year oral (gavage) exposure. It exhibited equivocal evidence of carcinogenicity in male mice (2-year gavage). The incidence of liver hemangiosarcoma and the combined incidence of hemangioma and hemangiosarcoma at all sites were marginally increased at the high dose in male mice. In both cases, a trend test showed significance, but no pairwise comparisons were significant. All *in vivo* genotoxicity assays were negative, including the sexlinked recessive lethal test in *Drosophila*, unscheduled DNA synthesis in rat hepatocytes (gavage) and micronucleus induction in bone marrow of male and female mice (intraperitoneal injection). *In vitro*, 4-nitroaniline was positive for chromosomal aberration in mammalian cells with metabolic activation (S9). Mixed results were observed for chromosomal aberration without S9 and for sister chromatid exchange with and without S9. A forward mutation assay in mouse lymphoma cells was positive without S9 and negative with S9. The results were negative for unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocytes. The majority of Ames assays were negative with and without S9.

### p-Phenylenediamine (CAS RN 106-50-3)

*p*-Phenylenediamine (PPD) was classified by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC 1987) as a Group 3 substance—"Not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans."

The toxicity of PPD has been reviewed by the Scientific Committee on Consumer Products (SCCP 2006). PPD did not exhibit evidence of carcinogenicity in mice, rats or rabbits following chronic oral or dermal exposure (SCCP 2006). *In vivo*, PPD was negative in various genotoxicity tests, including micronucleus induction in rats and mice via oral gavage or intraperitoneal injection and unscheduled DNA synthesis and the DNA damage assay (comet assay) in rats via oral gavage (SCCP 2006). *In vitro* genotoxicity test results for PPD were mixed. Overall, SCCP (2006) considered that PPD alone is not genotoxic, whereas positive findings were reported from genotoxicity studies when PPD was tested in combination with couplers and/or hydrogen peroxide.

### Sulfanilic acid (CAS RN 121-57-3) and sodium sulfanilate (CAS RN 515-74-2)

Sulfanilic acid and its sodium salt are considered toxicologically equivalent. No empirical cancer bioassay or *in vivo* genotoxicity testing data have been identified for these substances. Sulfanilic acid was negative in all available *in vitro* genotoxicity testing, including gene mutation (Ames tests) in various *Salmonella* strains with and without metabolic activation and DNA damage/repair assays (SOS response and DNA strand breaks) in *Escherichia coli* (European Commission ©2000; Ben Mansour et al. 2009).

### 2-(4-Aminophenyl)-6-methylbenzothiazole-7-sulfonic acid (CAS RN 130-17-6)

No empirical cancer bioassay data for 2-(4-aminophenyl)-6-methylbenzothiazole-7-sulfonic acid have been identified. The REACH dossier for this substance (REACH 2013e) reported some *in vivo* and *in vitro* genotoxicity testing data. This substance did not induce micronucleus formation in mice in a 90-day dietary study. It induced gene mutation in bacteria in one Ames test in *Salmonella* strains TA98 and TA100 with metabolic activation at high dose levels (> 1000 µg/plate), but it was negative in another Ames test in *Salmonella* strains TA98, TA100, TA1535 and TA1537 with and without metabolic activation. The purity of the test material in these studies was not reported.

### p-Phenetidine (CAS RN 156-43-4)

The health effects of *p*-Phenetidine were assessed along with Cartain Aromatic Amines in a separate Screening Assessment (Environment Canda and Health Canada 2014a). No empirical cancer bioassay data for *p*-Phenetidine have been identified. *p*-Phenetidine was classified by the European Commission as a Category 2 mutagen—"Suspected of causing genetic defects" (European Commission 2008). *p*-Phenetidine induced micronucleus formation in mice following intraperitoneal injection and *in vitro* gene mutation in *Salmonella* strains TA98 and TA100 with metabolic activation and in mammalian cells with and without metabolic activation (OECD 2002). *p*-Phenetidine also induced chromosomal aberration and DNA strand breaks in mammalian cells *in vitro* (Japan MHLW; Nordernskjöld and Moldéus 1983; Andersson et al. 1982). However, it did not induce mammalian cell transformation (Patierno et al. 1989).

### 1,4-Naphthalenediamine (CAS RN 2243-61-0)

No empirical cancer bioassay data for 1,4-naphthalenediamine have been identified. For the genetic effects, only two Ames studies were identified for 1,4-naphthalenediamine, and positive results were observed in *Salmonella* strains TA98 and TA100 only in one study with metabolic activation (Mortelmans et al. 1986; Zeiger et al. 1992).

### 4-Amino-2-methoxy-5-methylaniline (CAS RN 5307-00-6)

No empirical cancer bioassay data for 4-amino-2-methoxy-5-methylaniline have been identified. For the genetic effects, in the only available Ames study, 4-amino-2-methoxy-5-methylaniline was negative in all *Salmonella* strains tested, with and without metabolic activation (Shahin 1994).

### **Aniline (CAS RN 62-53-3)**

The human health risk assessment for aniline was conducted previously by Health Canada (Canada 1994; Health Canada 2011a), and it summarized that "Acute or short-term exposure to aniline has been reported to cause reversible methaemoglobin formation in experimental animals and humans. There is limited evidence of carcinogenicity of aniline in laboratory animals exposed to high doses. The *in vitro* or *in vivo* genotoxicity data were mixed; however, there is no evidence to support the direct genotoxicity potential of aniline" (Health Canada 2011a).

Based on the toxicological data reviewed by Health Canada (Canada 1994; Health Canada 2011a), chronic dietary exposure to aniline has significantly induced splenic tumours in male rats, but not in female rats or mice. *In vivo*, aniline induced DNA damage and micronuclei via oral exposure, but not chromosomal aberration via intraperitoneal injection. *In vitro*, aniline induced chromosomal aberration, but not gene mutation in bacteria (Ames test). Aniline did not induce mammalian cell transformation, and the tests results for micronucleus induction were mixed.

### 4,4'-Diamino-2,2'-stilbenedisulfonic acid (CAS RN 81-11-8)

4,4'-Diamino-2,2'-stilbenedisulfonic acid did not exhibit evidence of carcinogenicity in rats or mice in 2-year dietary studies (NTP 1992). This substance did not induce gene mutation in bacteria (Ames test) or chromosomal aberration or sister chromatid exchanges in mammalian cells, with and without metabolic activation (Zeiger et al. 1987; Loveday et al. 1990; OECD 2004).

### Amido-G-Acid (CAS RN 86-65-7)

The carcinogenic potential of Amido-G-Acid has not been investigated via conventional routes of exposure (oral, dermal or inhalation). In a short-term study, this substance was given to A/St mice via intraperitoneal injection at 325, 625 or 1250 mg/kg-bw per injection, 3 times per week for 5 (high-dose group) to 8 (two lower-dose groups) weeks, and the surviving animals were observed for 24 weeks. Significantly increased incidences of pulmonary adenoma were observed in the lowest dose group only (Theiss et al. 1981). No dose—response relationship was observed. No other health effects were examined. The findings of this study are considered to be inadequate evidence for the potential carcinogenic effects of Amido-G-Acid. Amido-G-Acid was negative in the Ames test (Jung et al. 1992).

### Mesalamine (CAS RN 89-57-6)

The health effects of mesalamine were critically reviewed by the US Food and Drug Administration (US FDA 2008). Mesalamine did not exhibit evidence of carcinogenicity in rats or mice in 2-year dietary studies. It did not induce micronucleus formation in mice via oral administration or sister chromatid exchanges in hamsters via intraperitoneal injection. It did not induce gene mutation in bacteria (Ames test), with and without metabolic activation (US FDA 2008).

#### The remaining postulated azo bond reductive cleavage products

Empirical carcinogenicity and genotoxicity data for 4-amino-1,3-Benzenediol (CAS RN 13066-95-0), 1,3-bis(4-amino-2-methoxy-5-methylphenyl)urea, 1,3-bis(4-amino-3-methylphenyl)urea and 4-amino-*N*-(4-aminophenyl)benzenesulfonamide have not been identified. These substances are not sulfonated, and their carcinogenic and genotoxic potential remains unknown.

4-Amino-4'-nitro-2,2'-stibenedisulfonic acid (CAS RN 119-72-2), 3-aminonaphthalene-1,5-disulfonic acid (CAS RN 131-27-1), Amsonic acid sodium salt (CAS RN 25394-13-2), 2-amino-3,5-xylenesulfonic acid (CAS RN 88-22-2) and the remaining reductive cleavage products are sulfonated aromatic amines. These substances are considered to have low potential to be carcinogenic and genotoxic.

# **Appendix D. Azo Direct Dyes with Effects of Concern**

Some of the Azo Direct Dyes in this assessment have effects of concern based on potential carcinogenicity. The details for supporting the potential carcinogenicity for these substances are outlined in section 7.2 Health Effects Assessment (see specific sub-sections), and generally based on one or more of the following lines of evidence:

- Classifications by national or international agencies for carcinogenicity (may be a group classification).
- Evidence of carcinogenicity in animal studies and/or human epidemiology based on the specific substance.
- Potential to release one or more of the EU22 aromatic amines by azo bond cleavage.
- Read-across to related substances for which one or more of the above lines of evidence apply.

Table D-1. Substances with effects of concern based on potential carcinogenicity

Substance Names and/or CAS RN	Classification for carcinogenicity <sup>a</sup>	Evidence of carcinogenicity from animal studies and/or human epidemiology	Release of EU22 aromatic amine by azo bond cleavage	Read- across
Direct Red 26 3687-80-7			o-Anisidine	
Direct Red 62 6420-43-5			o-Toluidine	
72749-87-2			o-Toluidine	
72749-88-3			o-Anisidine	
83232-30-8			o-Toluidine	•
83232-32-0			o-Toluidine	•
84878-16-0			4,4'-thiobisbenzenamine	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Classifications used for carcinogenicity are described in Environment Canada, Health Canada 2014c.